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QNAEH

PRINCIPAL BANKER

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
HSBC Main Building

1 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

AUDITOR
KPMG

(Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance)

COMPANY'S WEBSITE
www.ytoglobal.com
STOCK CODE

6123

FEAEREIT

ERLBESRITERAT

EB

2R KRB

EERITRE

% BAm

25 H SR EB A

(R B 75 L2 37 J3 15 01 T 19 51 1
RR 2 BB EAD)

NE AU

www.ytoglobal.com

R 13 18 55%

6123

4 YTO Express (International] Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETE®|E

OPPORTUNITIES AMIDST CRISES

Looking back to 2020, the global outbreak of COVID-19
has had a great impact on the economic development and
personal lives around the world. According to the forecast of
the International Monetary Fund, the global economy may be
subject to a contraction of 4.4% in 2020. In response to the
epidemic, countries and regions around the world have adopted
various restrictions and measures to reduce the negative effects
of the epidemic in their own countries and regions. As a result,
global manufacturing, commerce, logistics and consumption
have all experienced decline of varying degrees. The Company
was also affected by the decline in market demand in the early
stage of the epidemic.

However, fortunately, there are opportunities amidst any crisis.
Benefiting from the Company’s deep cooperation with business
partners for many years and the unremitting efforts of all
employees of the Company, the Company still provided high-
quality international logistic services to customers around the
world despite the influence of the epidemic. Air freight, as the
Company’s largest business segment, has grown against the
trend in 2020, and achieved substantial increases in terms of
both cargo volume and revenue. Due to the outstanding market
performance, the Company’s results also performed well, and
many financial indicators achieved historic breakthroughs.

Meanwhile, as a part of global trade, the Company also made
outstanding contributions to the fight against the epidemic
in countries around the world. Since the beginning of the
epidemic, the Company has cooperated with partners and YTO
Airlines in assisting governments, institutions, and enterprises
in various countries to complete global procurement of medical
and personal protective materials, and delivered the same in a
timely and safe manner, which won high recognition and praise
from the market and customers for the Company and was also
an important manifestation of the Company’s courage to fulfill
corporate social responsibility.

LOOKING TO THE FUTURE

The year 2021 is the beginning of the Company's new five-
year strategic plan. The new journey is under our feet and full
of opportunities and challenges. Although the epidemic has
made the future full of uncertainties, the Company still firmly
believes that the forthcoming future is bright. With the large-
scale vaccination of the COVID-19 vaccine around the world, the
global economy will recover to a certain extent in 2021, and
the Company will also face more challenges and opportunities.
Therefore, the Company will continue to increase efforts for
international development, implement the globalization strategy
of “going global with the “Belt and Road” initiative”, “going
global with the cross-border e-commerce business” and “going
global with the Chinese enterprises”, and increase investment
in terms of global network construction, logistic infrastructure,
information system, and talent reserve.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EIEHE

The Company will also always pay attention to the development
of the current international trade pattern, to seize opportunities
and move forward. The Company is of the view that the
signing of important agreements including the China-EU
Comprehensive Agreement on Investment and the Regional
Comprehensive Economic Partnership (RCEP) will also further
stimulate the development of international trade in China,
Europe and Asia. Therefore, the Company will also increase
investment in key countries and regions to improve logistic
service capabilities and quality, thus to provide global partners
with customized supply chain solutions of better quality.

THANK YOU

| hereby would like to express my gratitude and appreciation
to our Shareholders for their confidence and supports, each
member of the Board for their valuable opinions as well as our
management team and fellow employees for their efforts and
contributions. | am looking forward to the full commitment of
all staff members in 2021, striving for achieving the vision of
“The World is Within Your Reach”.

Yu Huijiao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEERBNWED

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Board announces the audited annual results of the Group
for the FY2020. During the FY2020, global economy and
consumption suffered unprecedented hit due to the outbreak of
COVID-19, resulting in a decrease in overall demand for logistics
and freight forwarding services. Nonetheless, the increase in
demand for health care and medical supplies contributed to a
large portion of the Group's revenue and led to a substantial
increase in the net profit during the FY2020.

With the positive advancement of vaccination plans in various
countries and regions, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
may gradually weaken in 2021, thus the Company keeps a
prudent and optimistic attitude regarding the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic for the year ending 31 December 2021.
According to the statistics from the World Health Organization,
as of January 2021, the vaccination of the COVID-19 vaccines
around the world has surpassed the total number of COVID-19
infected cases, meaning the COVID-19 pandemic may be well
under control within this year. Accordingly, the Group considers
the following key factors require our particular attention for
the year ending 31 December 2021.

The impact of the pandemic remains in the short
run with the demand for the pandemic prevention
supplies continues

Though the progress of the vaccination plans is beyond
expectations, the emerging virus variants still bring uncertainties
over the current pandemic prevention policies. According to
the weekly epidemiological update recently published by the
World Health Organization, the virus variant VOC 202012/01
founded in the UK spreads more rapidly, and it may cause an
adverse impact on the current pandemic prevention. Therefore,
it is expected that the demand for the pandemic prevention
supplies from 2020 will continue in 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBAWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Global vaccination will drive the needs for new
logistics

According to a market research conducted by a market research
institution, the vaccination needs around the world will exceed
10 billion doses, which requires approximately 200,000 pallet
shipments, 15 million cold container shipments, and 15,000
full flights of Boeing 747 freighter aircraft to deliver. The
demand will urge stricter requirements on international logistic
companies to satisfy the progress of global vaccination plans,
and may promote a new international logistics industry.

Consumer behavior affected by the pandemic and
the e-commerce penetration rate may be further
strengthened

According to the global research report released by a world’s
leading payment and technology company, an increasing
number of consumers globally choose online shopping to meet
their daily purchasing needs for safety concerns and due to
the closure of physical shops. The trend that the consumers
embrace e-commerce and digital payment will continue to surge
after the pandemic, so the Group believes that this trend will
further promote its business expansion in international express
and parcel services.

The post-pandemic effect will further strengthen
the central role of “Made in China”

Benefiting from the control over the pandemic, China took the
lead to leave the shadows of the pandemic behind. According
to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the total trading
import and export value of goods in China amounted to
US$4,646.26 billion in 2020, which increased by 1.5% year-
on-year. Of which, the export value amounted to US$2,590.65
billion, increased by 3.6% year-on-year. With the recovering
situation of the pandemic, Chinese manufacturing may secure
more global market share and increase its proportion in the
global manufacturing industry, thereby further improve the
growth for the international export logistics needs in China.

EAEN-AE )
EPREHEEREFYRER

BRI — K5 3 17 0 T 35 5 A AR
7\ : EIHL%B.ng++$:ﬁﬂ—rtiﬂ1oo1§mu :
TA0E N LB EE - 41,5008 )8 % 4l
LLM&mw% &ﬁﬁm&aMV“b
%ﬁﬂ@%°L%ﬁ. R R ERELE
Jﬂ—rmxztxlﬁiifﬂ?z”?%mz& C B
BB RESE -

./,
ERE

H S 2R

%17 BIEBEEE
%% R e

REEHALHINHEZAREMNEIR
HAPREBRT N LTE2EERIHER
XFE ZREBANAURBZHNBEES
BRBREIRDERERT HEEMERER
ERMBFINNE—BE  BUEERE
RRZEFEME - Fit - AEERBE—
BEK - THDRRBERRERERRS
MEBHR -

BRBETVELE—SEEPHEREE]|F
Aﬂﬁ

SEREBES PEREELHEENE
3% o $$$Il%%ﬁ%ﬁ¢':$f F
FEEYESE T D% (E46,462 683 T -
[ b 38 K1.5% ° E &+ {1} 025,906.5(8 &
T R E3.6% - EEISEEHETF A
ST PR ENEEREL2HRMEHH
B 2B EENLEBEREA KMmE
— S EHPEBEEEOYRERKEER -

8 YTO Express (International] Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBAWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Financial Results

The Group recorded revenue of about HK$5,048.1 million
during the FY2020 (FY2019: about HK$3,897.9 million),
representing an increase of about 29.5%. Gross profit
amounted to about HK$772.6 million during the FY2020
(FY2019: about HK$550.9 million), representing an increase
of about 40.2%. Gross profit margin during the FY2020 was
about 15.3% (FY2019: about 14.1%). Net profit was about
HK$255.9 million during the FY2020 (FY2019: about HK$28.6
million), representing an increase of about 794.8% while the
net profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
increased by about 866.3% to about HK$252.2 million during
the FY2020 (FY2019: about HK$26.1 million). As disclosed in
the interim report of the Company, the net profit attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company for the first half of
2020 increased significantly to about HK$95.5 million compared
to HK$5.1 million for the first half of 2019, representing a
period-on-period increase of about 1,772.5%. The increased
in profit for the first half of 2020 was mainly due to (a) the
demand for health care and medical supplies have increased
substantially due to the COVID-19 pandemic in Europe and the
United States. Benefiting from the business transaction of its
overseas subsidiaries and the business network of its overseas
freight forwarder business partners, the Group has secured
plenty of business of providing air freight chartering service;
(b) although the number of flights has decreased significantly
under the COVID-19 pandemic, benefiting from the established
and sound business relationship with airlines, the Group was
able to secure cargo space to satisfy its customers demand. In
the second half of 2020, the outbreak of COVID-19 continued.
While the net profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company continued to increase in the second half of 2020 due
to the reasons set out above. In addition, the increase of the
net profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
in FY2020 was also due to the fact that for the year ended 31
December 2019, the Group recognised an impairment loss on
goodwill and intangible asset of about HK$20.0 million arising
from the acquisition of EERKEEENE (LB FRA
(Best Loader Logistics (Shanghai) Company Limited*) (“ Best
Loader Shanghai”), which has ceased its business in 2020. As
a result, the net profit attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company for the second half of 2020 was about HK$156.7
million compared to HK$21.0 million for the second half
of 2019, representing a period-on-period increase of about
646.2%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBAWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Segmental Analysis

The Group’s core businesses are air and ocean freight
forwarding, complemented by the ancillary and contract
logistics services (including warehousing, distribution and
customs clearance), international express and parcel services
and other businesses (comprising combine shipments,
trucking, general sales agency and hand-carry services). The
comprehensive range of services offered by the Group enables
the Group to meet diverse customers’ needs and provide cross-
selling opportunities.

Air Freight

The air freight forwarding business continued to constitute the
largest business segment of the Group, representing about
60.7% of the Group’s total revenue during the FY2020 (FY2019:
about 56.5%). It principally involves arranging shipment upon
receipt of booking instructions from customers, obtaining cargo
space from airlines, preparing the relevant documentation, and
upon delivery to the destination, arranging customs clearance
and cargo handling. The Group is well recognised in the logistics
industry, having received numerous accolades from international
organisations and major airlines since 2000, including “Top
Agent Award” from Cathay Pacific Cargo each year since 2006.
Consequently, the Group has become the preferred business
partner of renowned companies from around the world, hailing
from the garment, footwear and electronic industries, delivery
of small parcels for e-commerce business and among others.

During the FY2020, the air freight forwarding business
recorded revenue of about HK$3,062.5 million (FY2019:
about HK$2,201.9 million), representing an increase of about
39.1%. Gross profit of the segment also increased from about
HK$238.6 million during the FY2019 to about HK$455.2 million
during the FY2020, representing an increase of about 90.8%.
In respect of air import and export tonnage, the Group noted
a total increase of tonnage of about 9.0% for the FY2020
when compared to the FY2019. During the FY2020, the Group
opened 1 office in Hong Kong and 2 offices in Vietnam, and
closed 3 offices in Hong Kong, 3 offices in China, 4 offices
in other Asia countries and one office in Hungary. The Group
also disposed a subsidiary in Canada in June 2020. As such, 44
offices around the world remained as at 31 December 2020,
out of which 40 offices are located in 11 Asian countries and
territories, comprising Hong Kong, the PRC, Cambodia, India,
Indonesia, Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, Thailand, the United
Arab Emirates and Vietnam, one office in Europe and three
offices in America.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBAWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Segmental Analysis (continued)
Ocean Freight

Contributing about 16.2% of the Group’s total revenue during
the FY2020 (FY2019: about 21.9%), the ocean freight forwarding
business principally involves organising shipments, arranging
customs clearance and haulage services. The established
relationships with trade partners and shipping lines, together
with the in-house tailored freight operations system, have
enabled the Group to capture the ocean freight market growth.
During the FY2020, revenue of ocean freight segment slightly
decreased by about 4.4% year-on-year to about HK$817.4
million (FY2019: about HK$855.3 million). Gross profit decreased
to about HK$138.5 million during the FY2020 (FY2019: about
HK$170.6 million), representing a decrease of about 18.8%.
During the FY2020, the Group noted a decrease of tonnage
of about 21.2% in respect of ocean freight shipping volume
handled by the Group, which is due to the decrease in the
demand in ocean freight services during COVID-19 pandemic.

Ancillary and Contract Logistics Services

Accounting for about 1.6% of the Group's total revenue during
the FY2020 (FY2019: about 2.1%), the ancillary and contract
logistics services segment includes warehousing, distribution
and customs clearance. Warehousing includes pick and pack,
labelling, quality inspection, sorting, pick-up and delivery
services for export shipments from the shipper’s location to the
outgoing port and delivery of import shipments from arrival at
the incoming port to the consignee’s location. It is supported
by the Group’s information technology platform, which allows
customers to conveniently trace inventory levels, incoming and
outgoing shipments and other information online. During the
FY2020, the Group sought to further adjust its warehouse
operation and enhance its transshipment capacities to cope
with the market conditions. This segment result was reflected
with revenue of about HK$82.8 million during the FY2020
(FY2019: about HK$81.6 million), representing an increase of
about 1.5%.

International Express and Parcel Services

International express and parcel services which mainly consist
of cross-border small parcels business is one of the Company's
emerging businesses in recent years and also one of the
Company’s important strategic segments to respond to the
booming of global cross-border e-commerce. It represents
about 18.9% of the revenue of the Group for the FY2020
(FY2019: about 16.5%). The Company pays continuous
attention to the cross-border e-commerce market and consumer
needs, and provides high-quality cross-border parcel logistic
services for e-commerce platforms, merchants, and consumers.

EAEN-AE )

XKD D@

BE
BEEERBERIESNLTHEE - &L
%3#1%%xaf%&i%¢@“*ﬁﬂ R-ZZE_ZTFHH
FERNAAEBBWEZTEERN62% (=ZF
—NEFBBEE:4219%) c NEFEE 5

BHEMBARNEBEELBAR  MEAX
MENEFITHNEEEERG  YEPAR
%E%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁﬁm%L i =
FEHBRFENRN @ 88D U IR F /R D
H44%ZEH81TAEE B L (ZE—NFHMH
FE:H8B3EER L) EMR_E=_F
FHHEE R 418.8%E 49138.5H & i 7T

T-NEFRFEE: £1706888T) °
m_Y_yimﬁir $%l£ Bl B

AEBEENESEESEEM ﬁ%ﬁm
%921.2% - Iﬂﬂmcovm19fw Bi R 8 48 AR
HEKB D -

BEREHNYRRE

EEREYNDTRRESBRIERR  BKEK

B M E_EEREEAARAEBR R
HH16% (ZE—NFHRFE %M%>
Fﬁ@% SEREE - BHZE  HEEKEB -

CRBHAE %mﬁﬁA%Euﬁkiﬁ
R%ﬁfﬁ“ KB IR K E AR B
MEABYMRINEREAMEMLE - XK
SHEAEBNEANRTAZIE  BEF
AERERTFERYE HABEY R EME
BHoR_Z_ZTFUBRFEA - $$I 5 3K
E—TRHBEAERERREITHEHER
NS MIHIER - Bt - $“%Z%F%ﬁ
RR-ZF_TFPRFEHFKEL8287F
BET(CT-NFHHREFE H8168EE
7)) EAAIN.5% °

B R RE R B R IR
ERREMERRE (EZEREBERNER

EBRARAOFHFEER 2 — BRA
NREEHEHBEREFABEDRRNER
BERRL—  AEAKER - T FH
BFEREAKERLD18.9% (ZTE—LFHKF
1 #916.5%) - KRR FHEBIBERETH
BHSEURHBERLR  RETFTEBFE

AR URHEERHEBENERERDR
RS -

E(BEBR)IZERERA 11



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBAWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Segmental Analysis (continued)

International Express and Parcel Services (continued)

The Group responded actively to changes in markets and
competitive landscapes and proactively developed the
international express and parcel services market during the
FY2020. Benefiting from the rapid development of e-commerce
in Southeast Asia, the continuous deepening of the cooperation
with Hangzhou Cainiao Supply Chain Management Co.,
Limited and the development of new customers, revenue from
international express and parcel services increased from about
HK$642.3 million during the FY2019 to about HK$952.9 million
during the FY2020, representing a significant increase of about
48.4%. During the FY2020, the Group has completed the
delivery of about 77.5 million units in international express and
parcel business (FY2019: about 74.7 million).

During the FY2020, the gross profit of international express and
parcel services increased to about HK$114.4 million (FY2019:
about HK$68.4 million) representing a significant growth of
about 67.3%.

Others

The other businesses include combined shipments, trucking,
e-commerce business and hand-carry services, the latter of
which involves time sensitive shipments that allow the Group
to charge higher fees and consequently benefit from higher
profits. During the FY2020, the other businesses recorded
revenue of about HK$132.6 million (FY2019: about HK$116.8
million), representing an increase of about 13.5%, and gross
profit of about HK$36.4 million (FY2019: about HK$20.4
million), representing an increase of about 78.4%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBAWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group has centralised financing policies and control over all
its operations which enables the Group to have a tight control
of treasury operations and lower average cost of funds.

The Group's working capital as at 31 December 2020 was
about HK$750.5 million, representing a significant increase of
about 58.7% from about HK$473.0 million as at 31 December
2019. The current ratio of the Group increased from about
1.90 times as at 31 December 2019 to about 2.10 times as
at 31 December 2020. As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s
bank balances and cash amounted to about HK$491.9 million,
representing an increase of about 82.9% from about HK$269.0
million as at 31 December 2019. For the FY2020, the Group
had operating cash inflow of about HK$322.9 million (FY2019:
operating cash inflow of about HK$239.5 million). As at 31
December 2020, the Group’s outstanding bank borrowings
amounted to about HK$1.1 million (as at 31 December 2019:
about HK$30.6 million). The gearing ratio of the Group was
about 0.1% as at 31 December 2020 (as at 31 December
2019: 5.1%). The gearing ratio was calculated as total bank
borrowings divided by total equity of the Group. As at 31
December 2020 and 2019, the Group maintained a net cash
position. The Group will continue to secure financing as and
when the need arises.

Foreign Exchange Risk

In light of the nature of the Group’s business, the Group is
exposed to various foreign currency risks including RMB, USD,
RM, SGD, THB, INR, EUR, GBP, CAD, JPY, VND, IDR, HUF, AED
and TWD among which, RMB, EUR and USD are mostly used in
the Group’s business apart from HK$. Nevertheless, the Group’s
operations are predominately subject to the fluctuations of
RMB since HK$ is pegged to USD. The Group did not use any
derivative contracts to hedge against its exposure to currency
risk during the FY2019 and the FY2020. The Group continued
to exercise a strict control policy and did not engage in any
speculative trading in debt securities or financial derivatives
during the FY2020.

Significant investments

During the FY2020, the Group did not hold any material
investments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBAWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Capital Expenditure Commitments

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has the following capital
expenditure commitments:

The contingent consideration of HK$250,000 (as at 31
December 2019: HK$250,000) to be determined based on
the future financial performance and settlement of certain
outstanding account receivables of Best Loader Logistics
Company Limited (“Best Loader HK").

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 5
May 2017, 3 August 2018, 15 March 2019, 30 March 2020
and 4 August 2020 for further details.

Performance Guarantees

(A)

14

In Relation to the Acquisition of the Entire Issued
Shares of Best Loader HK

On Time Worldwide Logistics Limited (“On Time BVI"),
a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as
purchaser, entered into a sale and purchase agreement on
5 May 2017 (the “First Sale and Purchase Agreement”)
with Air Partner Logistics Company Limited, as vendor
(the "First Vendor”) and Ms. Chan Yi Lam, as guarantor
for the First Vendor (the “Guarantor”), in relation to the
acquisition of the entire issued shares of Best Loader HK.
Pursuant to the First Sale and Purchase Agreement, the
First Vendor undertakes and guarantees to On Time BVI
that (i) the net assets value of Best Loader HK for the year
ended 31 December 2017 in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"), which shall be
verified by the Company’s auditor (the “2017 Accounts”),
will be no less than HK$3.0 million (the “2017 NAV
Guarantee”); (ii) the net assets value of Best Loader HK
for the year ended 31 December 2018 in accordance with
HKFRS, which shall be verified by the Company’s auditor
(the “2018 Accounts”), will be no less than HK$4.7 million
(the “2018 NAV Guarantee”); and (iii) the net assets value
of Best Loader HK for the year ended 31 December 2019
in accordance with HKFRS, which shall be verified by the
Company’s auditor (the “2019 Accounts”), will be no less
than HK$7.1 million (the “2019 NAV Guarantee”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBAWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Performance Guarantees (continued)

(A)

In Relation to the Acquisition of the Entire Issued
Shares of Best Loader HK (continued)

After the determination of the 2017 Accounts, the
2018 Accounts and the 2019 Accounts, respectively, On
Time BVI shall pay to the First Vendor the remaining
balance of the purchase price in the following manner:
(i) HK$300,000 to the First Vendor if the 2017 NAV
Guarantee is fulfilled; (i) HK$250,000 to the First
Vendor if the 2018 NAV Guarantee is fulfilled; and
(i) HK$250,000 to the First Vendor if the 2019 NAV
Guarantee is fulfilled.

The 2017 NAV Guarantee and the 2018 NAV Guarantee
had been fulfilled. Given the fulfillment of the 2017
NAV Guarantee and the 2018 NAV Guarantee, On
Time BVI had paid to the First Vendor in aggregate of
HK$550,000 in cash for the payment of part of the
consideration for the First Sale and Purchase Agreement.
On 4 August 2020, On Time BVI and, among other, the
Guarantor entered into a supplemental agreement to the
First Sale and Purchase Agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”) in relation to the payment of the final
part of the consideration for the First Sale and Purchase
Agreement of HK$250,000 (the “Final Instalment”)
and the settlement of certain outstanding accounts
receivables of Best Loader HK which amounted to
approximately HK$2.0 million (the “Outstanding Accounts
Receivables”). Under the Supplemental Agreement, it was
agreed that the payment date of the Final Instalment
shall be extended to 4 August 2021 (the “Deadline”)
and such payment is conditional upon Best Loader HK
having received the Outstanding Accounts Receivables
of aggregate amounts exceeding HK$300,000 as of the
Deadline.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
5 May 2017, 3 August 2018, 15 March 2019, 30 March
2020 and 4 August 2020 for further details in respect of
the acquisition, update on the fulfillment of performance
guarantees and the Supplemental Agreement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBAWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Performance Guarantees (continued)

(B)

16

In Relation to the Acquisition of the Entire Issued
Shares of Best Loader Shanghai

On Line Service Limited (“On Line HK"), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as purchaser,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement on 5 May
2017 (the “Second Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with
the First Vendor and the Guarantor, in relation to the
acquisition of the entire issued shares of Best Loader
Shanghai. Pursuant to the Second Sale and Purchase
Agreement, the First Vendor undertakes and guarantees
to On Line HK that (i) the net assets value of Best
Loader Shanghai for the year ended 31 December 2017
in accordance with HKFRS, which shall be verified by the
Company'’s auditor (the “2017 SH Accounts”), will be no
less than HK$3.5 million (the “2017 SH NAV Guarantee”);
(i) the net assets value of Best Loader Shanghai for
the year ended 31 December 2018 in accordance with
HKFRS, which shall be verified by the Company’s auditor
(the “2018 SH Accounts”), will be no less than HK$5.3
million (the “2018 SH NAV Guarantee”); and (iii) the net
assets value of Best Loader Shanghai for the year ended
31 December 2019 in accordance with HKFRS, which
shall be verified by the Company’s auditor (the “2019
SH Accounts”), will be no less than HK$7.9 million (the
“2019 SH NAV Guarantee”).

After the determination of the 2017 SH Accounts,
the 2018 SH Accounts and the 2019 SH Accounts,
respectively, On Line HK shall pay to the First Vendor the
remaining balance of the purchase price in the following
manner: (i) HK$2.7 million to the First Vendor if the 2017
SH NAV Guarantee is fulfilled; (i) HK$2.25 million to the
First Vendor if the 2018 SH NAV Guarantee is fulfilled;
and (iii) HK$2.25 million to the First Vendor if the 2019
SH NAV Guarantee is fulfilled.

The 2017 SH NAV Guarantee, the 2018 SH NAV
Guarantee and the 2019 SH NAV Guarantee had been
fulfilled. Given the fulfillment of the 2017 SH NAV
Guarantee, 2018 SH NAV Guarantee and 2019 SH NAV
Guarantee, On Line HK has paid to the First Vendor in
aggregate of HK$7.2 million in cash for the payment
of the consideration for the Second Sale and Purchase
Agreement (out of which the final payment of HK$2.25
million was settled in August 2020).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBAWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Performance Guarantees (continued)

(B)

©

In Relation to the Acquisition of the Entire Issued
Shares of Best Loader Shanghai (continued)

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 5 May 2017, 3 August 2018, 15 March 2019
and 30 March 2020 for further details in respect of
the acquisition and the fulfillment of performance
guarantees.

In Relation to the Acquisition of the Remaining 25%
Equity Interest in the Issued Share Capital of OTX
Logistics Holland

Jumbo Channel Limited (“Jumbo Channel”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as purchaser,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement on 9
March 2018 (the “Third Sale and Purchase Agreement”)
with, among others, T.Y.D. Holding B.V. (the “Second
Vendor”), in relation to the acquisition of the remaining
25% equity interest in the issued share capital of OTX
Logistics B.V. (“OTX Logistics Holland"”). Pursuant to the
Third Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Second Vendor
undertakes to Jumbo Channel that: (i) in the event that
the sum of the audited consolidated net profits after
tax of OTX Logistics Holland as stated in the audited
accounts of the Company for each of the financial years
ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively,
adjusted by any revaluation surplus or deficit of tangible
or intangible assets (the “Accumulated Consolidated Net
Profit”), shall be less than HK$18.0 million, the Second
Vendor shall in aggregate compensate Jumbo Channel
HK$3,330,000 after completion of the audited accounts
of OTX Logistics Holland for the financial year ended 31
December 2019 (the “2019 Holland Accounts”); (ii) in the
event that the Accumulated Consolidated Net Profit shall
be less than HK$12.0 million, the Second Vendor shall
in aggregate compensate Jumbo Channel HK$6,660,000
after completion of the 2019 Holland Accounts; and
(iii) in the event that the Accumulated Consolidated
Net Profit shall be less than HK$6.0 million, the Second
Vendor shall in aggregate compensate Jumbo Channel
HK$10.0 million after completion of the 2019 Holland
Accounts. Based on the 2019 Holland Accounts, the
Accumulated Consolidated Net Profit was not less than
HK$18.0 and the profit guarantee has been fulfilled. As
such the Second Vendor does not need to compensate
Jumbo Channel pursuant to the Third Sale and Purchase
Agreement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBAWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Performance Guarantees (continued)

(C) In Relation to the Acquisition of the Remaining 25%
Equity Interest in the Issued Share Capital of OTX
Logistics Holland (continued)

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
9 March 2018 and 30 March 2020 and the circular of the
Company dated 3 April 2018 for further details in respect
of the acquisition and the fulfillment of performance
guarantees.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had pledged the
following assets to secure certain banking facilities representing
guarantees on payment to certain airline suppliers of the Group
for the Group’s cargo space purchase and bank borrowings
granted to the Group:

Trade receivables B 5 E W IE

Financial asset at fair value though
profit or loss

Debt investment at amortised cost

Pledged bank deposits

BHEARITER

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

On 30 March 2020, YTO Express Worldwide Limited (“YTO
BVI”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the sale and purchase agreement with YTO Global
Holdings Limited, pursuant to which the YTO Global Holdings
Limited has agreed to sell, and YTO BVI has agreed to purchase,
the 45,010,000 ordinary shares in YTO Courier (Hong Kong)
Company Limited (“YTO Courier (HK)”), representing the
entire issued shares in YTO Courier (HK), at the consideration
of HK$6,940,086, subject to and in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the sale and purchase agreement.
Upon completion, YTO Courier (HK) became an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 30 March 2020 for
details.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

(continued)

On 1 June 2020, OTX Logistics Canada Limited (“OTX
Canada”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Harbour Zone Limited as the selling shareholder,
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a share redemption agreement (“SRA"), pursuant to which
Harbour Zone Limited has agreed to sell, and, OTX Canada
has agreed to redeem, the 51 common shares in OTX Canada
owned by Harbour Zone Limited, representing 51% of the
entire issued shares in OTX Canada, at the consideration of
CAD513,846 (equivalent to approximately HK$2.9 million),
subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the SRA. Upon completion, OTX Canada ceased to be a
subsidiary of the Company, and accordingly, the financial results
of OTX Canada would no longer be consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. Please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 1 June 2020 for
details.

Saved as disclosed, there was no material acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures of the Company
during the FY2020.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2021, the Company believes that this year
is still full of challenges and opportunities. In the latest issue of
the Global Economic Prospects, the World Bank predicts that
global output will recover in 2021 and is expected to increase
by 4%, but it is much lower than the forecast before the
pandemic. The impact of COVID-19 remains strong. With the
gradual advancement of vaccination plans in various countries,
the Group keeps a prudent and optimistic attitude towards the
global economy in 2021, which is mainly based on the following
key factors:

The recovery of China’s manufacturing and
consumption promotes the recovery of international
trade supply and demand

According to the GDP figure for 2020 announced by the
Chinese government, China achieved an annual growth of
2.3% and may become the only major economy with positive
growth in the world. The total value of China’s imports and
exports of trade in goods was RMB32.16 trillion, representing
an increase of 1.9% as compared to that in 2019, and the
scale of imports and exports hit a record high. The supply and
demand of the global supply chain rely more on “Made in
China” and the Chinese consumer market. For the Group, this
will stimulate more market demand for the cross-border supply
chains between China and other parts of the world.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBAWR DM

PROSPECTS (continued)

Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership
drives the development of intra-Asia trade

The Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership (“RCEP")
is one of the most important regional trade agreements in
recent years. Among the current 15 member countries, the
GDP is US$26 trillion, the total population is 2.27 billion, and
the total export value is US$5.2 trillion. The signing of the
RCEP free trade agreement will form a free trade zone with
the largest population, the largest economic and trade scale,
and the most development potential in the world today. The
Company considers that the signing of RCEP will further reduce
the operating costs of enterprises in the region, expand the
market, and enhance the vitality of the regional economy.
Secondly, RCEP will further strengthen cooperation between
regional industrial chain supply chains and achieve mutual
complementarity among regions and countries. Therefore, the
cross-border supply chain demand in regions will be further
released.

The changes in global consumption habits as
a result of the pandemic may promote the
development of cross-border e-commerce

The retail industry experienced severe challenges from the
pandemic in 2020. According to the forecast by a world-
renowned market research company, global retail sales
would drop by about 3% in 2020, but the performance
of e-commerce was still better than expected. Global retail
e-commerce sales were expected to increase by 27.6%,
showing that consumers shifted to e-commerce significantly
last year. Affected by the changes in consumers’ consumption
habits, the development of cross-border e-commerce was also
strongly promoted. The global cross-border B2C e-commerce
trend report jointly released by AliResearch and Accenture
predicted that the global cross-border B2C e-commerce
transaction volume would reach US$994 billion in 2020,
benefiting 943 million global consumers. In particular, the Asia-
Pacific region with China as the core ranked the first with a
contribution of 53.6% in respect of increase in transaction
amount. Benefiting from the rapid growth in demand from
upstream industries, the international express and parcel market
will see significant development in 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBAWR DM

PROSPECTS (continued)

Aviation resources are still in short supply
in the short term and may become the core
competitiveness of international cross-border
logistics

According to the observations of the International Air Transport
Association, the performance indicators of the global air
transport industry in 2021 will be improved as compared to
2020. The performance will experience a difficult situation
in the first half of 2021, and will rebound in the second
half. The association expects that the number of tourists will
increase to 2.8 billion in 2021, representing an increase of 1
billion from the previous year, but is still 1.7 billion less than
that in 2019, which means that the recovery of the transport
capacity of passenger airplane bellyhold, which is one of the
important supply sources of air freight, is still slow and the
transport capacity will continue to be tight in the short term.
In view of the increased business confidence and the important
role air freight plays in vaccine distribution, it is expected
that freight performance will have a strong performance and
freight revenue will increase to a record level of US$139.8
billion. Therefore, strong air freight cooperation and proprietary
resources will become the core competitiveness in the
international supply chain market.

To sum up, although the negative impact of COVID-19 is still
strong, the Company is still of the view that, leveraging on
its own advantages, resources of the parent company and
cooperation with partners, it will seize the abovementioned
opportunities, face the challenges, and achieve sustainable
business growth. To cope with the needs and changes of the
international supply chain, the Group will focus on the following
aspects in 2021 to challenge higher goals in the face of the
historical opportunities.

Continue to strengthen agency network
construction and enhance strategic partnerships

In the context of the global economic recession in 2020, the
impressive results achieved by the Group were due to the deep
cooperation with business partners for many years. Therefore,
the Group will continue to promote and deepen existing
partnerships under the existing strategic guidance, and develop
more potential partners to enhance the Group’s network and
service coverage.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBAWR DM

PROSPECTS (continued)

Continue to strengthen agency network
construction and enhance strategic partnerships
(continued)

For the existing agents in the current freight forwarding
segment, the Group will further expand the scope of
cooperation and share resources to enhance the strategic
partnership. In particular, the Group will use its existing service
capabilities, e.g. international express and parcel business, air
chartering, warehousing, etc., to empower partners, enrich
the product matrix of current agents, and work with them to
enhance customer service capabilities to strive for more business
and revenue. In addition, the Group also hopes to deepen
the cooperation with current agents through resource sharing.
The Group is willing to share the corporate brand influence in
China and among overseas Chinese, the customer resources
and aviation resources of the parent company [B i i& iE i% 15
BRAF (YTO Express Group Co., Ltd*, “YTO Express”) with
partners, and achieve the goal of new business growth together
through joint sales, etc.

At the same time, the Group also wants to continue to
expand the agency cooperation network in order to achieve
broader business service capabilities. The Group will achieve
complementarity with new partners in terms of capabilities and
resources through various forms including strategic cooperation
and authorized franchise, so as to achieve stronger business
development capabilities and service coverage.

Focus on the East Asian market and improve service
capabilities in the region

The Group will take advantage of the RCEP to deepen its
development in the East Asian market. Relying on many years
of investment and development in East Asia, the Company
operates a number of subsidiaries in the region and has
strong brand influence and service capabilities. In 2021, the
Group is willing to continue to increase investment in the
region, to improve the full-chain service capabilities and
logistic infrastructure construction in the region and expand
the existing product matrix. The Group plans to enter more
market segments, in particular the local logistic service
market in Southeast Asia, through strategic cooperation,
franchise authorization and proprietary construction, and use
the advantages and capabilities of its parent company YTO
Express in the local express service industry to quickly enter
emerging markets in order to obtain higher business returns
and build strong competitive advantages. At the same time,
the Company will also utilise its investment in East Asia and
unite its partners in North America and Europe to explore more
potential cooperation opportunities, and take advantage of the
vigorous development of East Asia to increase the proportion of
business between East Asia and Europe and the United States
and create new growth drivers for the Group.
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PROSPECTS (continued)

Seize the opportunities of Chinese enterprises’
globalization to tap new overseas business

In the post-pandemic era, the Company believes that the
globalization of Chinese manufacturing and Chinese companies
will further accelerate, which will stimulate more needs for
Chinese export logistics, including needs for general trade
logistics and international express parcel businesses. Therefore,
the Company will further tap the cross-border logistics needs
of Chinese enterprises and build corresponding customized
logistic services in line with the needs of customers, relying on
the excellent brand and customer relationships with Chinese
enterprises of the parent company YTO Express. At the same
time, the Group also uses YTO Airlines’ air freight resources
to enhance the Group’s core competitiveness in respect of
international logistics. The Company expects that in 2021, it will
launch more proprietary aviation dedicated line products for
customers to choose from and rely on the parent company’s
global logistic hub built in Jiaxing, China, to enhance the
Group’s competitive advantages in the international air freight
logistic market.

Continue to advance digital transformation

Continuous advancement of digital transformation is a key move
for the Group to improve internal management efficiency and
service quality. In 2021, the Group will continue to increase
investment in information technology and system construction,
and plans to launch a new generation of business management
system and a variety of digital management tools within the
year to improve the Group's operating efficiency. Specifically,
the Group will use the new generation of business management
system to integrate various pre-sales, in-sales, and after-sales
business information of the Company’s subsidiaries around
the world, to enhance the linkage of subsidiaries in the world
and further improve the Group’s operating efficiency through
intelligent analysis of operating data. Meanwhile, the Group
will also make use of the advantages of information system to
strengthen the construction of global operation standardization,
improve service consistency and promote service refinement,
and create an efficient and safe global supply chain service
system.

It is expected that the Group will implement the above plans
by its internal resources and/or external financing.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEEZHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS
Executive Director

Mr. Huang Yifeng ("Mr. Huang”), aged 38, was appointed
as the vice president of the Company on 3 December 2018
and was promoted as the president of the Company since 28
March 2019. With effect from 21 January 2020, Mr. Huang
was appointed as an executive Director and a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. With effect
from 1 December 2020, Mr. Huang was appointed as the
Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee. He is now
responsible for the overall strategy planning and international
express business development. Mr. Huang graduated from
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics with a master
degree in statistics. He joined YTO Express Group in January
2016, and held various managerial positions in strategy and
merger and acquisition. Prior to joining YTO Express Group,
he had been a senior consultant of consulting department
in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from March 2007 to December
2010, as a senior investment manager of a private equity
fund, Shanghai Yonghua Capital Management Co., Ltd. from
December 2010 to November 2013, and as a senior investment
director of Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group) Co., Ltd.
from November 2013 to January 2016. He is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Sun Jian ("Mr. Sun”), aged 45, was appointed as an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company on 31 March 2021. Mr. Sun obtained an Executive
Master of Business Administration from Renmin University of
China in June 2015. He served as a salesman from July 1996
to October 1999, and the manager of the market development
department from October 1999 to July 2004 in Sinotrans
Eastern Co., Ltd. Logistics Branch (previously known as Sinotrans
Shanghai Company). He served as the deputy general manager
in Sinotrans Global E-commerce Logistics Co., Ltd. Shanghai
Branch (previously known as Sinotrans Air Transportation
Development Corporation Limited Eastern China Region Branch
(Eastern China Region) (FR4MEZ= BB EBM M AR A RIER
AR (FEFE[R 1)), and the general manager in Sinotrans
Global E-commerce Logistics Co., Ltd. Jiangsu Company from
July 2004 to May 2020. Since June 2020, he has been a vice
president of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGREEECHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Executive Director (continued)

Mr. Lam Chun Chin, Spencer (“Mr. Lam”), aged 62, was an
executive Director, the chief executive officer and the chairman
of the Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.
He was appointed as a Director on 6 March 2013 and re-
designated as an executive Director on 20 December 2013.
Mr. Lam is the founder of the Group and he is responsible
for overall strategic development, and leading the business
development of the Group. Prior to the establishment of the
Group in 1995, Mr. Lam had been an assistant route manager
from May 1984 to December 1986 and was then promoted as
route manager from January 1987 to June 1988, as assistant
sales manager from July 1988 to December 1989, as sales
manager from January 1990 to December 1990 and as an
assistant general manager from January 1991 to December
1997 of Freight Express International Ltd., which was then
principally engaged in freight forwarding service. He was
mainly responsible for the overall sales strategy as well as sales
activities of Freight Express International Ltd. on the east and
westbound sector for air freight, sea freight and sea-air traffic
worldwide. He has over 36 years of experience in operation
and management of freight forwarding and logistics industry.
Mr. Lam obtained his diploma in management studies which
was jointly awarded by Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known
as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and The Hong Kong
Management Association in September 1991. Mr. Lam resigned
as executive Director, chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company and authorised representative of
the Company on 1 December 2020.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Huijiao (“Mr. Yu"), aged 54, was appointed as a non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Board, the chairman of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee on 1 December 2017. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in information systems application and management
from fEMEES LE K2 (PLA Information Engineering
University*) in December 2013. Mr. Yu founded [E]#8 & i&
BPBRAA (Yuantong Express Delivery Co., Ltd.*) (previously
known as BB RIERRAF (Shanghai Yuantong Express
Delivery Co., Ltd.*)), a subsidiary of YTO Express, in May 2000
and currently serves as the chairman of the board of YTO
Express. Mr. Yu has served as the chairman of the board of
Yuantong Jiaolong since December 2010 and general manager
of Yuantong Jiaolong since June 2020.

As of 31 December 2020, Mr. Yu was interested in certain
Shares. Please refer to the section headed “Directors’ and
chief executive’s interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation” for further details.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGREEECHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Pan Shuimiao (“Mr. Pan”), aged 53, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 21 January 2020. Mr. Pan obtained
a master degree in engineering from Zhejiang University in
January 1991. From July 2006 to February 2012, Mr. Pan served
as president of L& B EEFRAAF] (Zhejiang Wanma Group
Company Limited*) and chairman of #1/IL & S B &K 5 H R
‘A7) (Zhejiang Wanma Cable Company Limited*). From March
2012 to March 2019, Mr. Pan had been acting as the director,
executive director and managing director of /83§ #7 Al pE
% & & 0 (Shanghai Yunfeng New Venture Capital Investment
Center*). Mr. Pan joined YTO Express as a director in October
2016 and was appointed as president of YTO Express since April
2019.

Mr. Li Xianjun (“Mr. Li"), aged 49, was appointed as an
executive Director, the president and a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company on 1
December 2017. With effect from 28 March 2019, Mr. Li
ceased to be the president of the Company. With effect
from 21 January 2020, Mr. Li was re-designated as a non-
executive Director and resigned as a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company. Mr. Li obtained a
bachelor’s degree in economy management from ZFE F 12 T 7
E &[T (East China Polytechnic Institute of Commerce*) in July
2007. Mr. Li joined YTO Express Group in March 2002 and held
various managerial positions in different branch offices. Mr. Li
currently also serves as the vice president of YTO Express.

Mr. Lin Kai (“Mr. Lin"), aged 45, was appointed as a non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee on
1 December 2017. He obtained a master’s degree in business
administration from De La Salle University in December 2003.
Mr. Lin joined YTO Express Group in August 2016 and currently
serves as the vice president and chief financial officer of YTO
Express. Prior to joining YTO Express, Mr. Lin was a partner of
ERMERESRPE(BRE%) (Ningbo Hangjie Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership)*) from January 2016 to
August 2016. Between April 2014 and January 2016, Mr. Lin
served as the vice president of finance of /8B ZEEEBR
‘A7) (Shanghai Yunda Freight Co., Ltd*). On 31 March 2021,
Mr. Lin resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGREEECHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Chen Dong (“Mr. Chen”), aged 42, was appointed as a
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee
of the Company on 31 March 2021. Mr. Chen obtained a
master degree from Liverpool John Moores University in
July 2005. He is a fellow member of Institute of Financial
Accountants. Mr. Chen joined YTO Express Group in March
2018 and served as the group tax director of YTO Express.
From June 2020 onwards, he also assists in overseeing the
financial management of the Group on behalf of YTO Express.
From January 2021, he is promoted to be the senior director of
YTO Express. Mr. Chen has strong experience in multinational
companies. Prior to joining YTO Express, he was the Asia Pacific
tax manager of Essilor International Group from July 2015 to
March 2017. Between January 2011 and January 2014, Mr.
Chen served as the North Asia area tax manager of Panalpina
World Transport (PRC) Ltd. (“Panalpina”). Prior to joining
Panalpina, Mr. Chen served as Tax and Compliance Manager,
Johnson Electric Group, a company listed on Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (stock code number: 0179). Mr. Chen had acquired
senior tax consultant working experience in two accountancy
firms, namely Pricewaterhousecoopers (Macau) Ltd and Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd, Shenzhen Branch from May 2005
to May 2009.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGREEECHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Donghui (“Mr. Li"), aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Corporate
Governance Committee on 1 December 2017. He obtained
a bachelor’'s degree in philosophy from Renmin University
of China in July 1991, a master’s degree in management
engineering from Jb R# M T3 2T (Beijing Institute of
Machinery*) in June 1997, and a master’s degree in business
administration from Kelley School of Business of Indiana
University in March 2010. Since Mr. Li has joined the group
companies of Geely Automobile Holdings Limited ("Geely”),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0175), in July 2016, he has worked for various
positions and currently serves as an executive director and vice
chairman of Geely. Prior to joining Geely, Mr. Li served as the
vice president and chief financial officer of Guangxi Liugong
Machinery Co., Ltd, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 000528), between December 2009 and
March 2011. Between May 2014 and June 2016, Mr. Li served
various positions including as a director and the vice chairman
of L FEHEMIRERHB AR AR (Beijing Orient Landscape &
Environment Co., Ltd.*) (previously known as 1t 5 5 77 B # A%
A BRAT]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 002310). He served as a director of 3T #5T &
A% 7 B R 2 A (Zhejiang Qianjiang Motorcycle Co. Ltd.*), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000913), until April 2018. Mr. Li served as an independent
director of R EFRIZEMK KB BRG] (China CYTS Holding
Co., Ltd.*), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600138), until May 2020.

EEHE W

BIAFHITES

ZREEE(ELED 505 RZT—+
F+ - A HEZXABIYIFNTESHE
MEEE®  REZEGENCEERTESK

B-BR—NMN—"EFELtAETRARKER
BHEESL+ENg . R—AAEFENAELER
B THERMAEETRELTEAM R
T-ZE= FAHE TR A2 F g2 E
BIREBRELEM AT KL MABS
FrER EMARSEMAIEZERERAR(H
DR :0175) 2 EBRAAR B
T-XNFLtABEHTZEBAI N E R
BEIXEMZHTESREIERE - AT H
Al ZER4AEE_EENF+_AE=-T——
FZARFRINELR G ETAREANT
4 B 9 B BR A B (A% 9 14X 9% : 000528) #&
TR FERVFE BT —NFHA
BT -RNENA FEERFIEERS
FrEmArdtm R ARMRERMDER QA
(AR B ITEMRBRSBR 2R MD R
5 002310) EEZ BB RREESEKE
TE BN )\FM AR AN TETLE
EBROERAR (RFEIELERSHTETH
N RS 000913) MEE - HE_E
TEFERR  FRAER—BRLEEELS
FrEmarldERERKGARQR (G5
K55 600138) EE B EE ©

28 YTO Express (International] Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGREEECHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Independent non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Xu Junmin ("Mr. Xu”), aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee
on 1 December 2017. He obtained a bachelor’'s degree
in electromagnetic engineering from /& & 2K ilf x &2
(Shanghai University of Science and Technology*) in July
1987 and a master’s degree in business administration from
Arizona State University in May 2009. Mr. Xu had served
as an independent director of FBFERIFZ BN BER QT
(Shanghai Richtech Engineering Co., Ltd.*), a company listed
on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock code:
832547), from July 2016 to December 2018. Mr. Xu held
various positions in the group companies of &% FEfRZE R 17
BR2AF] (Juneyao Airlines Co., Ltd.*) (previously known as _E
B EEEMZEAGRZAR]) (“Juneyao Airlines”), a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Emhange(ﬂockcode:603885Lindudmg a
director of JL7LAIZE B R AT (9 Air Company Limited*) and
an executive director and the general manager of E/&BHEX
{eEH AR AT (Jining Culture Media Co., Ltd*). He has been
serving as the board secretary and a d|rector of Juneyao Airlines
since November 2010 and July 2017 respectively. In November
2019, Mr. Xu ceased to be a director of Juneyao Airlines and
was appointed as the vice president of Juneyao Airlines. In July
2020, he has been appointed as a director of Juneyao Airlines.
He has also been serving as an independent director of £ &
T AR EBE R DB R AT (Shanghai 2345 Network
Holding Group Co. Ltd.*), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 002195) since May 2016. He has
also been serving as an independent director of & #l)5E
BEFRMHB AR AT (CWB Automotive Electronics Co. Ltd.*)
(stock code: 605005, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange since January 2021) since June 2018.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGREEECHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Independent non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (“Mr. Chung”), aged 52, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee on 1 December 2017. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in economics from Macquarie University in April 1992
and is a member of CPA Australia and Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, with over 20 years of experience
in auditing, financial management and corporate finance. Mr.
Chung was an auditor in Arthur Andersen (an international
accounting firm) from 1992 to 1999. From 2000, Mr. Chung
held several senior management positions, including chief
financial officer, executive director and independent non-
executive director, in a number of listed companies in Hong
Kong. Mr. Chung is presently a vice president of Yongsheng
Advanced Materials Company Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 3608). Mr. Chung is also currently
an independent non-executive director of the following
companies listed on the Stock Exchange: (i) BYD Electronic
(International) Company Limited (stock code: 285) since June
2013; (i) Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 3363) since March 2011; (iii) B & S International
Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1705) since February 2018; and (iv)
Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (stock code: 1939) since
September 2018.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGREEECHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wong Pui Wah (“Ms. Wong"), aged 46, is the chief
financial officer of the Company and the Company Secretary.
She is responsible for overall financial and banking management
and overall human resources and administrative management
of the Group. Ms. Wong joined the Group in March 2006 and
worked as an accounting manager. She became the financial
controller of the Group since August 2006. She was an
executive Director on 20 December 2013 to 1 December 2017.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Wong had acquired auditing
and accounting experiences by working in various accountancy
firms which include Frank Ho & Co., Y.L. Ngan & Company,
CW. Leung & Co. and RSM Nelson Wheeler (currently known as
RSM Hong Kong) from June 1998 to March 2006. She has over
20 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial
management. Ms. Wong graduated from Lingnan College
(currently known as Lingnan University) with a bachelor’s
degree in business administration in November 1998. She also
obtained a master’s degree in professional accounting from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2010. She is a
non-practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Ms. Wong is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Robertino Norbert Carenza (“Mr. Carenza”), aged 34,
is the trade lane director of the Group. He is responsible
for the overseas network of the Group and overseeing the
development, sales and profitability of the commercial activities
with the international partners of the Group. He joined the
Group in 2011 as an intern and shortly afterwards he was
employed as a Trade Lane Manager and was based in Hong
Kong. He was appointed as the trade lane director of the Group
in February 2021. Mr. Carenza has been working in the logistics
industry for 17 years. After obtaining his logistics diploma in
2004, he joined ITG GmbH as an assistant export manager.
From 2007 to 2011, he worked in Group7 AG International
Logistics in various positions and departments to enlarge the
growth of the company and was located in Nuremberg and
Munich during the employment.
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(continued)

Mr. Hartmut Ludwig Haenisch (“Mr. Haenisch”), aged
56, was appointed as the managing director, USA and
Southeast Asia, freight forwarding industry and trade lane
of the Company. Mr. Haenisch is responsible for overall sales
and leading the business development of the Group and
communication with key customers and suppliers. He joined
the Group in January 1998 and worked as a director of
international sales from January 1998 to February 1998. Mr.
Haenisch has been the managing director of the Group since
March 1998 and was an executive Director on 20 December
2013 to 1 December 2017. Prior to joining the Group, he had
been a marketing executive from May 1994 to July 1995 and
was later promoted as sales manager in charge of European
traffic from August 1995 to December 1997 of Freight Express
International Ltd., which was then principally engaged in freight
forwarding service. Mr. Haenisch was mainly responsible for
the sales activities of Freight Express International Ltd. He has
over 25 years of experience in sales and management of freight
forwarding and logistics industry. Mr. Haenisch obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from University of
Osnabriick of Germany in March 1992. Mr. Haenisch resigned
as the managing director, USA and Southeast Asia, freight
forwarding industry and trade lane of the Company in April
2020.

Mr. Dennis Ronald de Wit (“Mr. D.R. de Wit"), aged 62,
the managing director, the Netherlands. He is responsible for
overall sales, leading the business development of the Group
and communication with key customers and suppliers in the
Netherlands, central Europe and the USA. Mr. D.R. de Wit
joined the Group in December 2011 as a result of the Group's
acquisition of OTX Logistics B.V. and was an executive Director
on 20 December 2013 to 1 December 2017. Prior to joining
the Group, he had been a director from March 1984 to
October 1986 of Allfreight International B.V., which was then
principally engaged in freight forwarding services, and was
mainly responsible for the overall management. Mr. D.R. de Wit
managed Internationaal Expeditiebedrijf Ebrex Air B.V., which
was then principally engaged in freight forwarding services,
through his management company D.R. de Wit Beheer B.V.
from December 1987 to June 1993. He has been a director of
OTX Logistics B.V., an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, since May 1999. Mr. D.R. de Wit resigned as the
managing director, the Netherlands in September 2020.
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(continued)

Mr. Lau Wai Man (“Mr. Lau”), aged 49, is the air freight
director of the Group. He has been with the Group since June
1998. Mr. Lau has been the Group’s operations manager from
June 1998 to December 2011, where he was responsible for
operational matters, and he was promoted to the air freight
director of the Group at the end of 2011. He obtained a
certificate in air freight forwarding from the Vocational Training
Council of Hong Kong in July 1992. He then completed a
traineeship as an airfreight operations clerk in September 1993.
Mr. Lau also obtained a professional diploma in inventory
and logistics management from The Hong Kong Management
Association in September 2002, a continuing education diploma
in management studies from City University of Hong Kong in
July 2010 and a bachelor’s degree in logistics from University of
Huddersfield of the United Kingdom in November 2012. He is
a chartered member of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and
Transport since June 2013. Mr. Lau resigned as the air freight
director of the Group in November 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESHE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the FY2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 6 March 2013. The Shares
were listed on 11 July 2014 on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. The Company acts as an investment holding
company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries are provision
of freight forwarding services. The principal activities of the
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 49 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year, other than the Share Option Scheme and the
Share Award Plan, as set out in the sections headed “Share
Option Scheme” and “Share Award Plan” of this Directors’
Report, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked
agreement.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the FY2020 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 93.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK6.1 cents (2019: HK1.0 cents) per ordinary share, absorbing
a total amount of about HK$25,422,000 (2019: HK$4,168,000),
in respect of the FY2020, which is subject to the approval of
the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) at the AGM
to be held on Thursday, 10 June 2021. The proposed final
dividend is expected to be paid on Friday, 9 July 2021 to all
Shareholders whose names to be appeared on the register of
members of the Company on Wednesday, 23 June 2021.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which sets out the principles and guidelines in relation
to the declaration, payment or distribution of the Company’s
net profits as dividends to the Shareholders. In recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate
cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements and
future growth as well as its shareholder value. The Company
does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Subject to the Articles and all applicable laws and regulations,
the Board has discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the Shareholders taking into account the following:

financial results;

cash flow situation;

business conditions and strategies;

future operations and earnings;

capital requirements and expenditure plans; and
interests of Shareholders.

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for
a financial year or period. The Company may declare and pay
dividends by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the
Board considers appropriate. Any dividend unclaimed shall
be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in accordance
with the Articles. The Board will review the Dividend Policy as
appropriate from time to time.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial statements, is
set out on page 241. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which
includes particulars of important events affecting the Group
during the year and an indication of likely future developments
in the Group's business, could be found in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement” and “"MD&A” in this annual report. In
addition, an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial
key performance indicators is included in the section headed
“MD&A" in this annual report and a discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing by the Group is included in the
section headed “MD&A” and notes 4, 6, 41 and 42 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. The
review forms part of this Directors’ Report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Environment protection

The Group complies with environmental legislation, encourages
environmental protection and promotes its awareness to all
employees of the Group. The Group commits to the principle
and practice of recycling and reducing. To help conserve the
environment, it implements green office practices such as re-
deployment of office furniture as far as possible, encouraging
use of recycled paper for printing and copying, double-sided
printing and copying, setting up recycling bins, reducing energy
consumption by switching off idle lightings, air conditioning and
electrical appliances. The Group will review its environmental
practices from time to time and consider implementing further
eco-friendly measures, sustainability targets and practices in the
operation of the Group’s businesses to embrace the principles
of reducing, recycling and reuse, and further minimize the
impact on the natural environment.

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group’s success also depends on the support from our key
stakeholders which comprise employees, customers, vendors
and Shareholders.

Employees

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable
assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise high-
performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration
package and implementing a sound performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by offering appropriate training
and providing opportunities within the Group for career
advancement.

Customers

The Group’s principal customers are engaged in garment,
footwear and electronic industries and delivery of small
parcels for e-commerce business. The Group has the mission
to provide excellent customer service in air freight and sea
freight and all range of logistic services whilst maintaining long
term profitability, business and asset growth. Various means
have been taken to strengthen the communications between
customers and the Group in the provision of excellent customer
service towards market penetration and expansion.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Relationships with key stakeholders (continued)
Vendors

Sound relationships with key service vendors of the Group
are important in supply chain, airline company, shipping line
company and business agents and when meeting business
challenges and regulatory requirements, which can derive cost
effectiveness and long term business benefits.

Shareholders

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance
corporate value to Shareholders. The Group is committed to
fostering business developments for achieving the sustainability
of earnings growth and rewarding Shareholders by stable
dividend payouts, taking into account of capital adequacy levels,
liquidity positions and business expansion needs of the Group.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has compliance and risk management policies
and procedures, and members of the senior management
are delegated with the continuing responsibility to monitor
adherence and compliance with all significant legal and
regulatory requirements. These policies and procedures are
reviewed regularly. As far as the Board is aware, the Group
has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group for the FY2020.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Company does not hold any properties for development
and/or sale or investment purposes which exceeds 5% of the
percentage ratios under rule 14.04(9) of the Listing Rules.

The decrease in the fair value of the investment properties
which has been charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the FY2020
amounted to HK$297,000.

The increase in the fair value of the property, plant and
equipment which has been charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the FY2020 amounted to HK$527,000.

Details of these and other movements in the investment
properties and property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES IN ISSUE

The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the
FY2020.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed about 893
employees (as at 31 December 2019: about 1,070 employees).
Remuneration packages are generally structured to market
terms, individual qualifications and experience. The Company
has also adopted a share option scheme and a share award
plan for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants, including the employees of the Group, who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Training
activities have also been conducted to improve the performance
of sales and marketing activities and customer services.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the FY2020.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the FY2020 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 48 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s distributable reserve as at 31 December 2020
is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the FY2020 and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Chun Chin, Spencer (Resigned on 1 December 2020)
Mr. Huang Yifeng
Mr. Sun Jian (Appointed on 31 March 2021)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Yu Huijiao, Chairman

Mr. Pan Shuimiao

Mr. Li Xianjun (Re-designated from an executive Director to
a non-executive Director on 21 January 2020)

Mr. Lin Kai (Resigned on 31 March 2021)

Mr. Chen Dong (Appointed on 31 March 2021)

Mr. Su Xiufeng (Resigned on 21 January 2020)
Mr. Zhu Rui (Resigned on 21 January 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui
Mr. Xu Junmin
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Yu Huijiao, Mr. Sun Jian,
Mr. Li Xianjun, Mr. Chen Dong and Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John
will retire at the forthcoming AGM and all of them, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(A) Long position in ordinary Shares

EERHEETHRAERAQATRE
AABEE KRG  HERORE
BREPzEGSRKA
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(A) REBRZHR

Approximate

Number of percentage* of

Shares involved shareholding
Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest PR 2 B R
EEnE B REEME R#% &8 Aotk
Mr. Yu Huijiao Interest of controlled corporations 268,229,408 64.36%

(Note 1)
M & 85T R LB RS (B at1)

Mr. Huang Yifeng Beneficial owner (Note 2) 700,000 0.17%
iR A Enma AN T2)
Notes: Mt -
1. These Shares are held by YTO Global Holdings Limited, a 1. ZEROGBEHUEZEHRAZARER

company wholly owned by Yuan Jun. Yuan Jun is a company
wholly owned by YTO Express, which is in turn owned as
to 34.26% by Yuantong Jiaolong. Yuantong lJiaolong is a
company owned as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao and 49% by
his spouse, Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yu
Huijiao and Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan are deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by YTO Global Holdings Limited.

2. 700,000 Shares represented the interests in share awards
granted by the Company and remained unvested. Details
on such share awards are set out in the paragraph headed
“Share Award Plan”.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION (continued)

(B) Long position in the shares of associated
corporations of the Company
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Number of shares Approximate
involved/amount of percentage*
Name of registered capital of shareholding
Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/nature of interest Y RzBRAEE BHAER
EENA HEZEEH 5B/ EEktE AR A Ao+
Mr. Yu Huijiao YTO Express Interest of controlled corporations 1,082,712,613 34.26%
Rl e Bl i R REZBENESR
BenechiaI owner 100,673,929 3.19%
ERERA
Interest of spouse 74,027,054 2.34%
@S
Yuan Jun Interest of controlled corporations RMB1,800,000,000 100.00%
B $9 REZBENESR AR 1,800,000,0007T
YTO Global Holdings Interest of controlled corporations 1,600,000,000 100.00%
Limited REAEN RS

EBBEREZERERAR

Note: The relations between Mr. Yu Huijiao and the above
associated corporations are set out in note 2 of part (A)
of the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive's
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation”. YTO Global Holdings Limited, YTO Express and
Yuan Jun are the direct/indirect holding companies of the
Company. In this connection, YTO Express, Yuan Jun and
YTO Global Holdings Limited are associated corporations of
the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

* The percentage represents the number of shares involved
divided by the number of the Company's/the Company’s
associated corporations’ issued shares or registered capital as
at 31 December 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests
and/or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Share Award Plan” below, at no time during
the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate and none of the
Directors, their spouses or children under the age of 18, had
any rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the FY2020.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Connected
Transaction” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” below
and in note 47 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/
her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the FY2020 or at any time
during the FY2020.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles, the Company had a permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance) in force for the benefit of the Directors throughout
the FY2020 and as at the date of approval of this Directors’
Report, pursuant to which the Company shall indemnify any
Director against any liability, loss suffered and expenses incurred
by the Director in connection with any legal proceedings in
which he/she is involved by reason of being a Director, except in
any case where the matter in respect of which indemnification
is sought was caused by the fraud or dishonesty of the
Directors. The Company has maintained insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against the Directors arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis. During the
FY2020, no claims were made against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Huang Yifeng has been appointed as an executive Director
for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 21
January 2020 renewable automatically for successive terms of
one year each commencing from the day immediately after the
expiry of the then current term of appointment, until terminated
as contemplated pursuant to the termination provisions therein,
or by not less than three months’ written notice served by either
party expiring at the end of the initial term of his appointment
or any time thereafter.

Mr. Sun Jian has been appointed as an executive Director and
Mr. Chen Dong has been appointed as a non-executive Director
for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 31 March
2021, renewable automatically for successive terms of one year
each commencing from the day immediately after the expiry
of the then current term of appointment, until terminated as
contemplated pursuant to the termination provisions therein, or
by not less than three months’ written notice served by either
party expiring at the end of the initial term of his appointment
or any time thereafter.

Mr. Yu Huijiao and Mr. Lin Kai (each a non-executive Director)
and Mr. Li Donghui, Mr. Xu Junmin and Mr. Chung Kwok Mo
John (each an independent non-executive Director), have been
appointed for a term of one year with effect from 1 December
2017, which shall be automatically renewable for successive
terms of one year each commencing from the next day after
the expiry of the current term of appointment unless terminated
by giving not less than three months’ written notice by either

party.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (continued)

Mr. Pan Shuimiao and Mr. Li Xianjun have been appointed as
non-executive Directors by the Company for an initial term
of one year commencing from 21 January 2020, which shall
be renewed and extended automatically for successive terms
of one year each upon expiry of the then current term, until
terminated by not less than three month’s written notice
served by either party expiring at the end of the initial term or
thereafter.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Shareholders on
21 June 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme Adoption Date”). The
purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to selected participants as incentives or rewards
for their contributions to the Group. All directors, employees,
suppliers of goods or services, customers, persons or entities
that provide research, development or other technological
support to the Group, shareholders of any member of the
Group, advisers or consultants of the Group and any other
group or classes of participants who have contributed or may
contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business arrangement and growth of the Group are eligible to
participate in the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years after the Share Option Scheme Adoption Date.

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by
the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue on the Listing Date (the “General Scheme Limit”). As at
the date of this report, the total number of Shares available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme was 38,534,000 Shares,
representing about 9.25% of the issued share capital of the
Company. The Company may renew the General Scheme Limit
with Shareholders’ approval provided that each such renewal
may not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
the Shareholders” approval.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme adopted by the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company for the time being.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant
of an option.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee, which
period may commence on a day after the date upon which
the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in any
event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option, subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.
Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the
offer of the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum
period required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding
of an option before it can be exercised.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of the offer of grant, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of a Share.

During the FY2020, no share options have been outstanding,
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled by the Company under
the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Board adopted the Share Award Plan on 17 August 2018
(the “Share Award Plan Adoption Date”). The purposes of the
Share Award Plan are to recognise and reward the contribution
of the eligible participants to the growth and development of
the Group, to give incentives to the eligible participants in order
to retain them for the continual operation and development
of the Group and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

Subject to any earlier termination as may be determined by the
Board, the Share Award Plan will remain in force for a period
of 10 years from the Share Award Plan Adoption Date.

The Share Award Plan shall be subject to the administration
of the Board (by itself or through the plan administrator) and
the trustee in accordance with the terms of the Share Award
Plan and the terms of the trust deed. The trustee shall hold
the trust fund in accordance with the terms of the trust deed.

In any given financial year of the Company, the maximum
number of Shares to be subscribed for and/or purchased by the
trustee by utilising the funds to be allocated by the Board out
of the Company’s resources for the purpose of the Share Award
Plan shall not exceed 5% of the total number of issued Shares
as at the beginning of such financial year. None of the Board
or the plan administrator shall instruct the trustee to subscribe
for and/or purchase any Shares for the purpose of the Share
Award Plan when such purchase and/or subscription will result
in such threshold being exceeded.

Details of the Share Award Plan were disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 17 August 2018 and 24
August 2018.

During the FY2020, no shares of the Company were purchased
by the trustee of the Share Award Plan pursuant to the terms
of the trust deed of the Share Award Plan (2019: no shares
of the Company were purchased by the trustee of the Share
Award Plan).
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SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued) Bz 17 22 B =T & ()
Details of movements of the share awards granted under the R-ZE_TFHKEE  BIEKRH EEE
Share Award Plan for the FY2020 are as follows: REMKROHBERZESHFBOT
Number of share awards
RGEBYA
Outstanding
Outstanding as at
as at 31 December
1 January 2020  Awarded Vested Lapsed  Cancelled 2020
Name or category of BR-B-%F during during during during HR=-B-%&
selected participants Date of award Vesting dates -A-B  theyear theyear theyear theyear +-A=t+-H
EESRELZAER ®BED FEAH KT FRERE FACEE FACAN FREHEH RRUGTE
Connected Selected Participants
BESRERE
Ms. Wong Pui Wah 31 August 2018 30% on 2 September 2019; 30% on 1 September 560,000 - - - - 560,000
BRELT ZEN\E 2020; and 40% on 1 September 2021
NAZ+—H  30%RZZ-NEAAZH30%R-T=F
NA—B i R40%R=F=—FNA—R
Mr. Chen Jinbo 31 August 2018 30% on 2 September 2019; 30% on 1 September 350,000 - - (350,000) - -
Chen Jinbo %t 4 “E-0\F 2020; and 40% on 1 September 2021
NEZ+-B  30%RZZ-AFAAZA30%R-T=TF
NA—B: R40BA=Z=-FNA—-H
Sub-total 910,000 - - (350,000 - 560,000
it
Name of Director
Espg
Mr. Huang Yifeng (Note (1)) 31 August 2018 30% on 2 September 2019; 30% on 1 September 700,000 - - - - 700,000
BRBEEM () —I-N\% 2020; and 40% on 1 September 2021
NAZ+-8  30%RZZ-NEAAZA30%R=T=F
NA—RB: R40BR=Z=-ENnA—-H
Independent Selected Participants 31 August 2018 30% on 2 September 2019; 30% on 1 September 3,710,000 - - (560,000) - 3,150,000
BUET26aE —2-0\F 2020; and 40% on 1 September 2021
NAZ+-B  30%R-F-AFAAZR30%HR-F-%
NA—B:R40%R=F=—FNA—H
Sub-total 4,410,000 - - (560,000 - 3,850,000
it
Total 5,320,000 - - (910,000) - 4,410,000
@
Notes: B2

(1 Mr. Huang Yifeng was appointed as Director on 21 January 2020, (1) HREXERZZ-TF—F-+—HEZT

other than that, none of the above selected participants are BEE F?—\ﬁtZﬁVl\ it EEM PR EL A
Directors. ERESE -

(2) Details of the above share awards were disclosed in the Company's  (2) Lt EBOFEBENARFTBEHEE TN
announcement dated 31 August 2018 and circular dated 1 February FENA=ZT—HBORAEREBR AT —NFZ
2019. A—B&BHIKE -
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes organized by the PRC municipal and provincial
government authorities for the Group’s eligible employees in
the PRC, and operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for
the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of these retirement
plans are set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2020 so far as is known to the Directors,
the following corporations or persons (other than a Director or
the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or a short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO:

Long position in ordinary Shares

Name of shareholder

BREREE BB B EEtE
YTO Global Holdings Limited (Note) Beneficial owner
B3 B B BB R AR (4 77 ) EEEAA

YTO Express (Note)
[B] i iR (A 27) TEEENES
Yuantong Jiaolong (Note)
8] 38 B BE (AW 72) T E RS
Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan (Note)

RANBR L (B R AR

Capacity/nature of interest

Interest of controlled corporations

Interest of controlled corporations

Interest of controlled corporations

R KETE

AEERABERNTRESSBHPEE N
T BT % B 4B A 1 E BRI SUR IR AR M T 81
VT RELERELZHSEBHIEREDE -
ZERARABNHBERNEAV B RERW

REBELZ R BERIIE336EARRAETIF
EzERMARE  TIEEKXAL(ES
EARBRBITHABRIN K I &R
Bz SRR

\EBRZEFR

Percentage*
Number of the Company’s

of Shares issued share
involved capital
itk HAEQATESBTR
BB E RKzBDH*
268,229,408 64.36%
268,229,408 64.36%
268,229,408 64.36%
268,229,408 64.36%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Long position in ordinary Shares (continued)
Note:

These interests are also disclosed as the interest of Mr. Yu Huijiao in the
paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation”.

* The percentage represents the number of Shares involved divided
by the number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, other than
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company whose
interests are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and
chief executive’s interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation” above, no person had interest or
short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which were
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the Group
are set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial statements.
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, none of the related party transactions constitutes
a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
subject to Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the FY2020, the Group has conducted the following
connected transaction.

Acquisition of the Entire Issued Shares in YTO
Courier (HK)

On 30 March 2020, YTO Express Worldwide Limited (“YTO
BVI”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the sale and purchase agreement with YTO Global
Holdings Limited (“YTO Global”), pursuant to which the YTO
Global has agreed to sell, and YTO BVI has agreed to purchase,
the 45,010,000 ordinary shares in YTO Courier (Hong Kong)
Company Limited ("YTO Courier (HK)"), representing the entire
issued shares in YTO Courier (HK), at the consideration of
HK$6,940,086, subject to and in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the sale and purchase agreement. Upon
completion, YTO Courier (HK) became an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (continued)

Acquisition of the Entire Issued Shares in YTO
Courier (HK) (continued)

As at the date of the transaction, YTO Global is a controlling
Shareholder and therefore a connected person of the Company
pursuant to Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30
March 2020 for details.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the FY2020, the Group has conducted the following
continuing connected transactions which were required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules:

Master Service Agreement with YTO Express

On 24 April 2019, the Company entered into an agreement
(the “Master Service Agreement”) with YTO Express, pursuant
to which (i) the Company have appointed YTO Express
Members as the Group’s agents for the rest of the world; and
(i) YTO Express have appointed the Group as YTO Express
Members’ agents for the rest of the world, for the provision of
international express and parcel services and/or air and ocean
freight services for the term commencing as of 1 January 2019
to 31 December 2021 unless terminated earlier by 30 days’
written notice by either party.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, YTO Express is
a company owned as to over 30% by Yuantong Jiaolong, which
in turn is a company owned as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao (a
non-executive Director and a controlling Shareholder) and 49%
by his spouse. Accordingly, YTO Express is a connected person
of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Master Service Agreement with YTO Express
(continued)

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 24 April
2019, the original annual caps under the Master Service
Agreement of (i) international express and parcel services and
air and ocean freight services fees to be paid by the Group
to YTO Express Members for each of the three years ending
31 December 2021 are HK$42.0 million, HK$49.6 million and
HK$58.5 million, respectively; and (i) international express and
parcel services and air and ocean freight services income to be
received by the Group from YTO Express Members for each of
the three years ending 31 December 2021 are HK$8.7 million,
HK$10.3 million and HK$12.1 million, respectively. As disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 23 August 2019 and
circular dated 29 October 2019, the Company revised the
annual caps of (i) international express and parcel services and
air and ocean freight services fees to be paid by the Group to
YTO Express Members to HK$88.8 million, HK$257.5 million
and HK$386.3 million, for each of the three years ending 31
December 2021, respectively; and (ii) international express and
parcel services and air and ocean freight services income to be
received by the Group from YTO Express Members to HK$114.3
million, HK$342.9 million and HK$481.0 million, for each of
the three years ending 31 December 2021, respectively.

For the FY2020, (i) international express and parcel services
and air and/or ocean freight services fees paid by the Group
to YTO Express Members was approximately HK$50.2 million;
and (ii) international express and parcel services and air and/or
ocean freight services income received by the Group from YTO
Express Members was approximately HK$11.3 million.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 24 April
2019 and 23 August 2019 and the circular dated 29 October
2019 for further details of the Master Service Agreement.

Master Charter Agreement with YTO Cargo

On 23 August 2019, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) entered into an agreement (the
“"Master Charter Agreement”) with YTO Cargo, pursuant to
which YTO Cargo will provide air freight chartering services to
the Group to and from countries and regions around the world
for the transportation of air cargoes for a term commencing
from the 27 November 2019 (i.e. the date of approval by the
independent Shareholders of, among others, the transactions
contemplated under the Master Charter Agreement at an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 27
November 2019) to 31 December 2021 unless terminated
earlier by 60 days’ written notice by either party.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Master
(continued)

Charter Agreement with YTO Cargo

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, YTO Express
is a company owned as to over 30% by Yuantong lJiaolong,
which in turn is a company owned as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao
(a non-executive Director and a substantial Shareholder) and
49% by his spouse. Accordingly, YTO Express is a connected
person of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.
YTO Cargo is a wholly owned subsidiary of YTO Express, it
is therefore a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

The annual caps under the Master Charter Agreement of (i)
the charter fee and other charter related fees (including but
not limited to fuel surcharge and deicing fee) for each of the
countries and regions around the world (the “Charter and
Related Fees”); and (ii) all expenses related to cargo terminal
operations (the “Cargo Terminal Expenses”) at departure and
destination airport (which may be payable by YTO Cargo to the
relevant cargo terminal on behalf of the Group) and handling
fees in respect of the Cargo Terminal Expenses to be paid and/
or reimbursed by the Group to YTO Cargo are HK$15.0 million,
HK$428.9 million and HK$643.4 million for each of the three
years ending 31 December 2021, respectively.

For the FY2020, Charter and Related Fees, Cargo Terminal
Expenses and handling fees in respect of the Cargo Terminal
Expenses paid and/or reimbursed by the Group to YTO Cargo
was approximately HK$26.9 million.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 23 August
2019 and circular dated 29 October 2019 for further details of
the Master Charter Agreement.

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements

During the FY2020, the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements
and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (as defined
below) constitute non-exempted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements

For reasons as disclosed in the section headed “History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — OT Thailand
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus, OT BVI
entered into the following agreements (the “OT Thailand
Contractual Arrangements”) with Miss Ruchirek Pipatsriswat
("Miss Ruchirek”) on 25 October 2013, who is a substantial
shareholder holding 33.5% of shareholding interest in On-Time
Worldwide Logistics Limited (“OT Thailand”):
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements (continued)

M

Loan assignment entered into between OT HK as assignor,
OT BVI as assignee and Miss Ruchirek as borrower,
whereby, the non-interest bearing loan for an aggregate
principal amount of THB3,350,000 then owed by Miss
Ruchirek to OT HK, was assigned to OT BVI and the loan
shall be repayable on demand by OT BVI. The loan is
conditional and secured by the pledge of shares in OT
Thailand from time to time held by Miss Ruchirek under
the share pledge agreement, and the arrangements under
the proxy and the letter of undertakings.

Share pledge agreement entered into between OT BVI
as lender and Miss Ruchirek as borrower, whereby,
Miss Ruchirek has pledged in favour of OT BVI, among
others, her 33.5% of the total shareholding interest of
OT Thailand, and all further shares and securities deriving
from such pledged shares, or otherwise acquired and held
by Miss Ruchirek from time to time.

Letter of undertaking by Miss Ruchirek to OT BVI and
OT Thailand, whereby, among others, she has irrevocably
assigned and directed all dividends and distributions
declared, paid and payable by OT Thailand and all
distributions of assets and capital made and to be made
by OT Thailand in relation to the shares of OT Thailand
from time to time held by her to OT BVI (or such person
as from time to time designated by it).

Proxy by Miss Ruchirek to OT Thailand, whereby, Miss
Ruchirek has irrevocably appointed OT BVI or any person
nominated by it to act as Miss Ruchirek’s proxy to attend,
act and vote in respect of the shares in OT Thailand in
her name and on her behalf at any general meeting of
shareholders of OT Thailand.

OT Thailand contributed to about 4.6% of the Group’s total
revenue for the FY2020 (FY2019: 1.5%). Through the OT
Thailand Contractual Arrangements, the financial results of
OT Thailand were consolidated into the Group’s financial
statements as if it was the Company’s subsidiary and, as a
result, the Group bears 82.5% of the economic risks and losses
of OT Thailand.

No dividend nor distribution was made by OT Thailand to its
shareholders for the FY2020.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements

For reasons as disclosed in the section headed “History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — OT Vietnam
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus, OT HK entered
into the following agreements (the “OT Vietnam Contractual
Arrangements”) with Dynamic Freight Co., Ltd. (“Vietnam
Owner”) on 6 November 2013, which is a substantial
shareholder holding 49% of the total charter capital of On Time
Worldwide Logistics (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. (“OT Vietnam”):

(1)  Loan agreement entered into between OT HK as the
lender and Vietnam Owner as the borrower, whereby,
OT HK advanced to Vietnam Owner the interest bearing
loan for a principal amount of US$4,900 and the loan
shall be repayable on 22 December 2025 (or such later
date as mutually agreed between the parties). The loan
is conditional and secured by the mortgage of the
charter capital in OT Vietnam from time to time owned
by Vietnam Owner under the charter capital mortgage
agreement, and the arrangements under the proxy and
the letter of undertaking.

(2)  Charter capital mortgage agreement entered into
between OT HK as lender and Vietnam Owner as
borrower, whereby, the Vietnam Owner has mortgaged
in favour of OT HK, among others, all its 49% in the
total charter capital of OT Vietnam, and all further charter
capital and securities deriving from such mortgaged
capital, or otherwise acquired and held by Vietnam Owner
from time to time (whether by way of acquisition from
the other shareholder(s) of OT Vietnam or by further
contribution to the charter capital of OT Vietnam).

(3) Letter of undertaking by Vietnam Owner to OT HK,
whereby, among others, it has irrevocably assigned and
directed all dividends and distributions declared, paid and
payable by OT Vietnam and all distributions of assets and
capital made and to be made by OT Vietnam in relation
to the shares of OT Vietnam from time to time held by it
to OT HK (or such person as from time to time designated
by it).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

(4)  Proxy dated 6 November 2013 by Vietnam Owner to
OT Vietnam, whereby, Vietnam Owner has irrevocably
appointed OT HK to nominate any person(s) designated
by OT HK to act as the authorised representative(s) to
participate in the board of directors of OT Vietnam and
to act and exercise, on behalf of Vietnam Owner, all its
power in respect of all the charter capital of OT Vietnam
registered in its name.

OT Vietnam contributed to about 2.3% of the Group’s total
revenue for the FY2020 (FY2019: 2.7%). Through the operation
of the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangement, the financial
results of OT Vietnam were consolidated into the Group's
financial statements as if it was the Company’s indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary and, as a result, the Group bears 100% of
the economic risks and losses of OT Vietnam.

A dividend in an amount of VND28,191,115,970, (“OT Vietnam
Dividend”) was made by OT Vietnam to its shareholders for the
FY2020, in which the entire OT Vietnam Dividend was paid to
OT HK.

For risks associated with the OT Thailand Contractual
Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements,
please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks relating
to OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT Vietnam
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus for details. To
mitigate such risks associated, the Group intends to unwind
the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT Vietnam
Contractual Arrangements as soon as possible if and when the
relevant laws in the respective jurisdictions allow the Group to
operate in such jurisdictions without such arrangements.

The purpose of the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and
the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements is to provide the
Group with effective control over the financial and operational
policies of OT Thailand and OT Vietnam, to obtain the economic
benefits from OT Thailand and OT Vietnam and acquire the
equity interests in OT Thailand and OT Vietnam as and when
permitted under the applicable laws in Thailand or Vietnam and
to allow the Company to consolidate the financial results of OT
Thailand and OT Vietnam into the Group’s financial statements
as if they were the Group’s subsidiaries, and the economic
benefit of their business flows to the Group.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
Confirmation of auditor of the Company

KPMG, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised), “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
KPMG has issued its unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the Master Service Agreement,
the Master Charter Agreement, the OT Thailand Contractual
Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements
in respect of the FY2020 in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules, with an emphasis of matter paragraph in relation
to the fact that the Company is not required to establish
nor announced an annual cap in respect of the OT Thailand
Contractual Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual
Arrangements for the FY2020. A copy of the auditor’s letter
has been provided by the Company to The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

Confirmation of
Directors

independent non-executive

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Master Service Agreement and the Master Charter Agreement
in respect of the FY2020 and confirmed that these transactions
have been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the relevant agreements governing such
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Furthermore, in relation to the OT Thailand Contractual
Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements
in respect of the FY2020, the independent non-executive
Directors have confirmed that the OT Thailand Contractual
Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements
have remained unchanged and consistent with the disclosure as
set out in the Prospectus; and both of the said arrangements
are fair and reasonable so far as the Group is concerned and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and the transactions as
disclosed in note 47 to the consolidated financial statements,
no controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries has any
contract of significance with the Company or its subsidiaries
during the FY2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and the sections headed
“Connected Transaction” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions’, no contracts of significance concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or
subsisted during the FY2020.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS

INTERESTS IN A COMPETING

During 1 January 2020 and up to the date of this report, the
following Director was considered to have an interest in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group (the “Competing
Business”), as defined in the Listing Rules, details of which are
set out below:
Name of Director Mr. Yu Huijiao, non-executive Director of
the Company, who is also a substantial
shareholder of YTO Express

Nature and YTO Express Group is principally engaged in
scope of the the warehousing and distribution of goods
Competing as a leader in the express and courier service
Business market in the PRC

Size of the YTO Express is a company listed on the
Competing Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
Business 600233), with market capitalization

amounted to RMB36.3 billion as at 31
December 2020

Management of
the Competing
Business

The positions held by the Directors in YTO
Express are as follows:

Mr. Yu Huijiao, chairman of the board of YTO
Express and chairman of the board and
general manager of Yuantong Jiaolong

Mr. Li Xianjun, vice president

Mr. Pan Shuimiao, director and president

Mr. Su Xiufeng, vice chairman of Yuantong
Jiaolong and chairman of YTO Cargo

Mr. Zhu Rui, special assistant to the chairman

Mr. Lin Kai, vice president and chief financial
officer

Mr. Chen Dong, senior director
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
BUSINESS (continued)

IN A COMPETING

For the FY2020, since YTO Express Group's main focus was
warehousing and distribution of goods through express and
courier service in the PRC and apart from intra-group freight
forwarding services among YTO Express Group members,
YTO Express Group did not carry out any freight forwarding
services to and/or business with external parties, the Directors
considered that the operations of YTO Express Group did not
affect the Group’s business.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Shares during the FY2020.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2020. As at the date of this annual report, the Group
was not involved in any current material legal proceeding, nor
was the Group aware of any pending or potential material legal
proceedings involving the Group. If the Group was involved in
such material legal proceedings, the Group would record any
loss contingencies when, based on information then available,
it is probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount of
the loss can be reasonably estimated.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the FY2020, less than 30% of the Group’s cost of
sales were attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers in
aggregate.

The percentage of revenue of the Group attributable to the
largest customer and the five largest customers in aggregate
are 11.8% and 31.6% respectively. Alibaba Group Holding
Limited is indirectly interested in more than 5% of the number
of Company’s issued shares, and Hangzhou Cainiao Supply
Chain Management Co., Limited, being one of the Group’s five
largest customers, is a subsidiary of Alibaba Group Holding
Limited. Save as disclosed, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the number of Company’s
issued shares) had an interest in the five major customers of
the Group. Close associate refers to the close associate of the
Director not the Shareholder.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration policy of the Group is reviewed regularly and
the remuneration policy and remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and members of the senior management of
the Group are recommended by the Remuneration Committee
to the Board.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the current information that is publicly available to
the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as
at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained
the prescribed minimum public float under the Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 7 June 2021 to Thursday, 10 June 2021 (both days
inclusive) for the purpose of determining the right to attend
and vote at the forthcoming AGM. In order to be qualified for
attending and voting at the forthcoming AGM, unregistered
holders of Shares should ensure that all share transfer
documents accompanied by the corresponding share certificates
are lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong
time) on Friday, 4 June 2021.

Conditional on the passing of the resolution approving the
declaration of the proposed final dividend at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will also be
closed from Monday, 21 June 2021 to Wednesday, 23 June
2021 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of determining the
entitlement to the proposed final dividend in respect of the
FY2020. In order to be qualified for the proposed final dividend
(subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming
AGM), unregistered holders of Shares should ensure that all
share transfer documents accompanied by the corresponding
share certificates are lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at the address stated above for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Friday, 18 June
2021.
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the FY2020, the Group made charitable contributions
in an aggregate amount of about HK$84,000 (FY2019: about
HK$118,000).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no events causing material impact on the Group
from the end of the Report Period to the date of this report.

AUDITOR

KPMG was appointed as the new auditor of the Company with
effect from 6 August 2020 to fill the casual vacancy following
the resignation of Deloitte as auditor of the Company, and to
hold office until the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-

appoint Messrs. KPMG as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Yu Huijiao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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TEERBRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance in maintaining its corporate transparency and
accountability. The Board sets appropriate policies and
implements corporate governance practices appropriate to the
conduct and growth of the Group’s business.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG
Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules on the
Stock Exchange during the FY2020. The Board considers that
during the FY2020, the Company has complied with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code. Key corporate governance
principles and practices of the Company are summarized below.

A. The Board
A1. Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is responsible for the leadership, control
and management of the Company and oversees
the Group’s business, strategic decision and
performances in the attainment of the objective of
ensuring effective functioning and growth of the
Group and enhancing value to investors. All the
Directors carry out their duties in good faith, take
decisions objectively and act in the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders at all times.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major
matters of the Company, including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those
that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters.

All Directors have timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of
the Company Secretary and senior management,
with a view to ensuring compliance with Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations.
Any Director may request for independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at
the Company’s expense, upon reasonable request
made to the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continued)

A.

The Board (continued)

A1.

A2.

Responsibilities and Delegation (continued)

The Executive Committee and senior management
of the Company are delegated the authority and
responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group. The
delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the
Board prior to any significant transactions entered
into by the above-mentioned officers. The Board
has the full support of the senior management to
discharge its responsibilities.

Board Composition

The composition of the Board for the FY2020 and
up to the date of this report is as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Chun (Former Chief Executive
Chin, Spencer Officer and Chairman of
(Note 1) the Corporate Governance

Committee)
Mr. Huang Yifeng (President and Chairman of

(Note 2) the Corporate Governance
Committee)
Mr. Sun Jian (Chief Executive Officer)
(Note 3)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Yu Huijiao (Chairman of the Board,
Chairman of the
Nomination Committee
and Member of the
Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Pan Shuimiao

Mr. Li Xianjun
Mr. Lin Kai (Former Member of the Audit
Committee)
Mr. Chen Dong (Member of the Audit
(Note 4) Committee)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continued)

A.

64

The Board (continued)

A2.

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4.

Board Composition (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui  (Member of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the
Corporate Governance
Committee)

(Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and Member of
the Nomination Committee
and the Corporate
Governance Committee)

Mr. Chung Kwok (Chairman of the Audit
Mo John Committee and Member

of the Remuneration
Committee and the
Corporate Governance
Committee)

Mr. Xu Junmin

With effect from 26 August 2020, Mr. Lam Chun
Chin, Spencer ceased to act as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. With effect from 1
December 2020, Mr Lam Chun Chin, Spencer
resigned as executive Director and Chairman of the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.

With effect from 1 December 2020, Mr. Huang
Yifeng was appointed as the Chairman of the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.

With effect from 31 March 2021, Mr. Sun Jian was
appointed as an executive Director and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.

With effect from 31 March 2021, Mr. Chen Dong
was appointed as a non-executive Director and
Member of the Audit Committee of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continued)

A.

The Board (continued)

A2.

Board Composition (continued)

Throughout the FY2020, the Board has met the
requirements of the Listing Rules 3.10 and 3.10A
of having a minimum of three independent non-
executive directors (representing at least one-
third of the Board) with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management
expertise.

The members of the Board have skills and
experience appropriate for the business
requirements and objectives of the Group. Each
executive Director is responsible for different
business and functional division of the Group in
accordance with his/her expertise. The independent
non-executive Directors bring different business and
financial expertise, experiences and independent
judgement to the Board and they are invited to
serve on the Board committees of the Company.
Through participation in Board meetings, taking the
lead in managing issues involving potential conflicts
of interests, the independent non-executive
Directors have made contributions to the effective
direction of the Company and provided adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
both the Group and the Shareholders.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Directors and senior management have no
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with one another.

The Company has received written annual
confirmation from each independent non-executive
Director of his independence pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non- executive Directors
to be independent in light of the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continued)

A.

66

The Board (continued)

A3.

A4.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The roles and duties of the chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer are held by separate
persons in order to ensure a balance of power and
authority and preserve a balanced judgement of
views. Currently, Mr. Yu Huijiao takes up the role of
chairman of the Board and is providing leadership
and being responsible for the effective functioning
and leadership of the Board, whereas Mr. Lam
Chun Chin, Spencer was the chief executive
officer of the Company until his resignation on
1 December 2020, focusing on the Company’'s
business development and daily management and
operations generally. Mr. Sun Jian was appointed
as the Chief Executive on 31 March 2021, focusing
on the Company’s business development and daily
management and operations generally.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All' Directors are appointed for a specific term.
Mr. Lam Chun Chin, Spencer (an executive Director)
was engaged under a service contract for a term
of three years, which will continue thereafter
unless terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either the Company
or himself. Mr. Lam resigned as an executive
Director on 1 December 2020. Mr. Huang Yifeng
has been appointed as an executive Director for
an initial fixed term of one year commencing
from 21 January 2020 renewable automatically for
successive terms of one year each commencing
from the day immediately after the expiry of the
then current term of appointment, until terminated
as contemplated pursuant to the termination
provisions therein, or by not less than three months’
written notice served by either party expiring at the
end of the initial term of his appointment or any
time thereafter.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continued) 13 B8 E & (@)
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A. The Board (continued)

(continued)

Mr. Sun lJian has been appointed as an executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 31 March 2021 renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year each
commencing from the day immediately after the
expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to the
termination provisions therein, or by not less than
three months’ written notice served by either
party expiring at the end of the initial term of his
appointment or any time thereafter.

Mr. Li Xianjun (a non-executive Director) was
engaged on a service contract for a term of one
year and shall be automatically renewable for
successive terms of one year each commencing from
the next day after the expiry of the current term
unless terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either the Company or
himself.

Mr. Pan Shuimiao has been appointed as a non-
executive Director by the Company for an initial
term of one year commencing from 21 January
2020, which shall be renewed and extended
automatically for successive terms of one year
each upon expiry of the then current term, until
terminated by not less than three month’s written
notice served by either the Company or Mr. Pan
Shuimiao expiring at the end of the initial term or
thereafter.

Mr. Yu Huijiao, Mr. Lin Kai, Mr. Chen Dong and
each of the independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for a term of one year and shall be
automatically renewable for successive terms of one
year each commencing from the next day after the
expiry of the current term unless terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either the Company or the Director.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continued)

A.

68

The Board (continued)

A4. Appointment and Re-election of Directors

(continued)

According to the Articles, one-third of the Directors
for the time being (if their number is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each
AGM provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. The retiring Directors should be eligible for
re-election at the relevant AGM. In addition, any
new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of Shareholders after his/her appointment,
whereas any Director appointed by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following AGM. The Director
appointed by the Board as aforesaid shall be eligible
for re-election at the relevant general meeting.

At the forthcoming AGM, Mr. Yu Huijiao, Mr. Sun
Jian, Mr. Li Xianjun, Mr. Chen Dong and Mr. Chung
Kwok Mo John shall retire by rotation pursuant
to the Articles. All of the above retiring Directors,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the AGM. The Board and the Nomination
Committee recommended their re-appointment.
The circular of the Company, sent together with
this report, contains detailed information of the said
Directors as required by the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continued)

A.

The Board (continued)

A5.

Training and Continuing Development for
Directors

Each newly appointed Director shall receive
formal induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

Under code provision A.6.5, Directors should
participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Directors are continually updated
with legal and regulatory developments, and the
business and market changes to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities. Trainings and
professional development for Directors are arranged
whenever necessary. In addition, reading material
on new or changes to salient laws and regulations
applicable to the Group are provided to Directors
from time to time for their studying and reference.

The Directors are required to submit to the
Company details of the training they received in
each financial year for the Company’s maintenance
of proper training records of the Directors. During
the FY2020, all the Directors were provided with
reading materials or regulatory update on corporate
governance matters and responsibilities of the
Directors for their reference and perusal. Besides,
Mr. Lam Chun Chin, Spencer, Mr. Huang Yifeng, Mr.
Li Xianjun, Mr. Yu Huijiao, Mr. Su Xiufeng, Mr. Zhu
Rui, Mr. Lin Kai, Mr. Li Donghui, Mr. Xu Junmin and
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John attended other seminars
and training sessions arranged by other professional
firms/institutions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continued)

A.

70

The Board (continued)

A6.

Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings

The attendance records of each Director at the
Board and Board committee meetings and the
general meetings of the Company held during the
FY2020 are set out below:

> B
M
i nuE

Board
Name of Director ESHfg 31
Executive Directors: HITEE:
Mr. Huang Yifeng (Note 1) BREEE(HH) 8/8
Mr. Lam Chun Chin, Spencer (Note 2) TR B %4 (fi22) 8/8
Non-executive Directors: # HITEE:
Mr. Yu Huijiao g W%E 8/8
Mr. Pan Shuimiao BKEE 8/8
Mr. Li Xianjun ?@'@'\T’i%i 8/8
Mr. Lin Kai el % & 8/8
Independent non-executive Directors: BUFHTEE:
Mr. Li Donghui FRBEE 6/8
Mr. Xu Junmin BERxE 8/8
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John EEREE 8/8

Note 1:

Note 2:

With effect from 1 December 2020, Mr. Huang
Yifeng was appointed as the Chairman of
the Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company.

With effect from 26 August 2020, Mr. Lam Chun
Chin, Spencer ceased to act as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. With effect from 1
December 2020, Mr. Lam Chun Chin, Spencer
resigned as an executive Director and Chairman
of the Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company.

In addition, the Chairman of the Board held one
meeting with the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of executive Directors during the FY2020.

Audit Remuneration

Committee
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continued)

A.

The Board (continued)
A7. Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has devised its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ and employees’ dealings in
the Company’s securities (the “Securities Dealing
Code”) on terms no less exacting than the required
standard as set out in the Model Code. Each
Director has been given a copy of the Securities
Dealing Code. Specific enquiry has been made of all
Directors and they have confirmed their compliance
with the Securities Dealing Code throughout the
FY2020. In addition, no incident of non-compliance
of the Securities Dealing Code by the employees
was noted by the Company.

In case when the Company is aware of any
restricted period for dealings in the Company’s
securities, the Company will notify its Directors and
relevant employees in advance.

Board Committees

The Board has established five Board committees, namely,
the Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee and
the Corporate Governance Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees have been established with defined written
terms of reference which are available on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website (except
for the terms of reference of the Executive Committee
which are available to Shareholders upon request). All the
Board committees should report to the Board on their
decisions or recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

B1. Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises all the
executive Directors and operates as a general
management committee under the direct authority
of the Board to increase the efficiency for the
business decisions. It monitors the execution of
the Company’s strategic plans and operations
of all business units of the Group and discusses
and makes decisions on matters relating to the
management and day-to-day operations of the
Company.
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72

Board Committees (continued)

B2.

Remuneration Committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee
during the FY2020 were as follows:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Yu Huijiao
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Junmin (Chairman)
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

Throughout the FY2020, the Company has met the
Listing Rule requirements of having the majority
of the Remuneration Committee members being
independent non-executive Directors as well as
having the Committee chaired by an independent
non-executive Director.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy
and structure and the remuneration packages of
Directors and members of senior management
(i.e. the model described in the code provision
B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code is adopted). The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for
establishing transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure
that no Director or any of his/her associates will
participate in deciding his/her own remuneration,
which remuneration will be determined by the
Board with reference to the performance of the
individual and the Company as well as market
practice and conditions.

During the FY2020, the Remuneration Committee
has held four meeting (the attendance records of
each Committee member are set out in section A6
above). The Remuneration Committee performed
the following major works during the year:

- General review and discussion of the
remuneration packages, policy and structure
of the directors and the senior staff of the
Group, and recommendation to the Board,;
and

- Consideration of and recommendation to
the Board on the remuneration packages for
the directors newly appointed/re-designated
during the year.

TEERER @
B. EEg€ZEg#)
B2. FMZES
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B. Board Committees (continued) B. EE®ZEgW)
B2. Remuneration Committee (continued) B2. ¥MZEE (&)
Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, B T)z?ﬁ;\%ﬁ/éjr J# BlE %
the annual remuneration of the members of the BASIE R-IZE_TFHHFE
senior management by band for the FY2020 is set NEREEAS E’] F % 0 B 40
out below: D
Number of
individuals
Remuneration band (HK$) FMEE (BT A
4,000,000-4,499,999 4,000,000% 4,499,999 2
1,000,000-1,499,999 1,000,000%1,499,999 1
Less than 1,000,000 X %1,000,000 1
Details of the remuneration of each Director for the Kﬁibﬂ_ T FHHRFERN
FY2020 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated S ﬁﬁ?ﬁi#ﬁiﬁﬁ%@% =¥
financial statements contained in this report. T M2
B3. Nomination Committee B3. REZEE
The members of the Nomination Committee during RIE_ZFRHFEREELE
the FY2020 were as follows: AZBZ,\ZZDT
Non-executive Director: FEHITEE:
Mr. Yu Huijiao (Chairman) W g’ A (£ E)
Independent non-executive Directors: BUHETESE:
Mr. Li Donghui THRBILE
Mr. Xu Junmin BrBERLE
Throughout the FY2020, the Company has met the ;_ E_EFPHFEESF K
code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code of having NEE BT XL SR SFRE
a majority of the Committee members being NEASNME  ZEGRKHHKE

independent non-executive Directors and having
the Committee chaired by the Chairman of the
Board.
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Board Committees (continued)

B3.

Nomination Committee (continued)

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity perspectives) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy; identify qualified
and suitable individuals to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships; assess the independence of
independent non- executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive of the Company.

In selecting candidates for directorship of the
Company, the Nomination Committee may make
reference to certain criteria such as the Company’s
needs, the diversity on the Board, the integrity,
experience, skills and professional knowledge of
the candidate and the amount of time and effort
that the candidate will devote to discharge his/
her duties and responsibilities. External recruitment
professionals might be engaged to carry out
selection process when necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continued)

B. Board Committees (continued)

B3.

Nomination Committee (continued)

For the nomination process of new Director, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of
new Director and the biographical information (or
relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above
to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship. If the process yields one or more
desirable candidates, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board should rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable). The Nomination Committee should then
recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship, as applicable. For any
person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board should evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.
Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board should make recommendation to
Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
Director at the general meeting.

The Company has adopted the director nomination
policy. Such policy, devising the criteria and
process of selection and performance evaluation,
provides guidance to the Board on nomination and
appointment of Directors. The Board believes that
the defined selection process is good for corporate
governance in ensuring the Board continuity
and appropriate leadership at Board level, and
enhancing better Board effectiveness and diversity
as well as in compliance with the applicable rules
and regulations.
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Board Committees (continued)

B3.

Nomination Committee (continued)

The Company also recognises and embraces the
benefit of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance. To comply with
Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules and the code
provision A.5.6 of the CG Code, a board diversity
policy was adopted by the Company, pursuant to
which the Nomination Committee is responsible
for monitoring the implementation of the board
diversity policy and assessing the Board composition
under diversified perspectives (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, or professional experience). The
Nomination Committee shall report its findings and
make recommendations to the Board, if any. Such
policy and objectives will be reviewed from time to
time to ensure their appropriateness in determining
the optimum composition of the Board.

During the FY2020, the Nomination Committee
has held three meeting (the attendance records of
each Committee member are set out in section A6
above). The Nomination Committee performed the
following major works during the year:

- Review of the existing structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has
a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements for the
business of the Group;

- Consideration of and recommendation to
the Board on the re-election of the retiring
Directors at the Company’'s AGM held on 10
June 2020; and

- Assessment of the independence of the three
independent non-executive Directors.

YTO Express (International] Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

KABINEAAY REEEEKE
ZIEHRARFTNREEEE
mR% o BB LEMRANZE3.92
BEREGEEATHTEIKRE
ASGIEMRTE ARRIHEMNES
EREZTILBE Bt RBE
ZECBEEBREFTEXESZ T
fEBRENER W ZTENA
EFEEEemEAKREEAET
AR - Fit XERHBEH
SHREELR) - REZETHE
MEFEREHERLERNIER
Em(nA) ZBRNMEZES
TR UBREATFESES
BEMAKNEEMN -

EeRTHA-ReR(REE
S8 B ERERE N XX A6—

MABEFEZRERE A
BRAEK  UWEREEGA
BAKREXBEERTDN
BEXAE - MR ER

— RCE-ETEARTARES
2ARTRFAFA S L
BEEROCES UME
EeELEERS R

- FIEZRABIUERTES
ZBINE o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBREBE
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B. Board Committees (continued)

B3.

B4.

Nomination Committee (continued)

The measurable objectives for implementing the
board diversity policy are as follows:

- At least 40% of the Board members to be
aged below 55;

- At least 50% of the Board members to hold
a master’s degree;

- At least 40% of the Board members to
possess professional qualifications in legal or
accounting field; and

- At least 20% of the Board members to have
business experience in aviation industry.

The Nomination Committee considered that an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of
the Board is maintained during the FY2020. Based
on the review by the Nomination Committee, the
Nomination Committee considers that the Company
has achieved the measurable objectives set for
implementing the board diversity policy for the
FY2020.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the
FY2020 were as follows:

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Lin Kai (Resigned as a member on 31 March
2021)

Mr. Chen Dong (Appointed as a member on 31
March 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (Chairman)
Mr. Li Donghui

The Company has met the Listing Rules
requirements regarding the composition of the
Audit Committee throughout the FY2020. The
majority of the Audit Committee members
are independent non-executive directors. Mr.
Chung Kwok Mo John possesses the appropriate
professional qualification, and accounting and
financial management expertise as required under
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. None of the
members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.
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Board Committees (continued)

B4. Audit Committee (continued)

The main duties of the Audit Committee are
reviewing the financial information and reports
of the Group and considering any significant or
unusual items raised by the financial officers of
the Group or external auditor before submission to
the Board; reviewing the relationship with and the
terms of appointment of the external auditor and
making the relevant recommendation to the Board;
and reviewing the Company’s financial reporting
system, internal control and risk management
systems and the effectiveness of the internal audit
function.

During the FY2020, the Audit Committee has
held four meetings (the attendance records of
each Committee member are set out in section
A6 above). The Audit Committee performed the
following major works during the year:

- Reviewed and discussed the annual financial
statements, results announcement and
annual report for the FY2019, the relevant
audit findings of the Company's external
auditor; and the recommendation of the re-
appointment of the external auditor;

- Reviewed and discussed the interim financial
statements, results announcement and
interim report for the six months ended 30
June 2020 and the relevant review findings
of the Company’s external auditor;

- Reviewed the reports prepared by an external
adviser on the Group’s internal control
matters, and reviewed the existing internal
audit function of the Company;

- Reviewed the Group’s continuing connected
transactions for the FY2019 as well as the
FY2020 and the revision of annual caps of
the continuing connected transactions;

- Reviewed certain material litigation and
possible related claims against the Group;

YTO Express (International] Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

ERZBR 7T ERAEAEMAL
%lZ%%éﬂ&ﬁi'Iﬁi
EFeREZAEEAKEMBEA
B AN 2 BB AT iR 2 (AR
EXSASEEE: maE2INE
B R R IMNE B 2 &
BHRLMNESSRLAEKER
BE MRAARR B RER
g NEEERRAREE RS
Ko R BB AZ B BE MO B ©

TEMHFRER %V

E/A@uﬁ:(

mo 18
FE48 |
Er

%ﬁ

H = o W ST
TS ml

B )

NG

i 3

il

I8 %

=

_FH

>

N

H

pai

Py
-
-

BRELANWH T -NFHY
WEE2FEMB@E
EBERNERFR - AAFIN
FEZEMmEREZER
5%%@%%&%%%%
il

- %ﬁ)ﬁ&uTnﬁE@i 7—7$
NA=ZTHIEAREAZHE
WgmEk  FEAERTH
]E LA RADE) SN AZ B AT
B EBI AR

— EFINEEMEAEER
HELEERIENBRER
ERARBIZEBRNIDE
%0 8

- BHAKRER-ZT-NEHM
BEER _-_Z_TFHPHF
B H) 55 B R E R 5 A R
aﬁ RPFERELERZE



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBREBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continued)

B. Board Committees (continued)

B4. Audit Committee (continued)

B5.

- Reviewed and approved the audit plan of
the Company’s external auditor, including the
nature and scope of audit, remuneration and
terms of engagement in respect of the audit
on the financial statements for the FY2020;
and

- Reviewed the arrangements for employees
of the Group to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in the Group’s financial
reporting, internal control or other matters
and the investigation process on the reported
cases.

The external auditor has attended the above four
meetings and discussed with the Audit Committee
members on issues arising from the audit and financial
reporting matters. Besides, there is no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the appointment of external auditor.

Corporate Governance Committee

The members of the Corporate Governance
Committee during the FY2020 and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Chun Chin, Spencer
(Resigned on 1 December 2020)

Mr. Huang Yifeng (Chairman)
(Appointed as @ member on 21 January 2020 and
the Chairman on 1 December 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui
Mr. Xu Junmin
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John
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Board Committees (continued)

B5.

Corporate Governance Committee (continued)

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible
for performing the corporate governance functions
set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code,
including developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance and
making recommendations to the Board; reviewing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; developing, reviewing and monitoring
the Securities Dealing Code; and reviewing the
Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report. The
Corporate Governance Committee is also responsible
for reviewing the Group’s process of disclosure,
including assessing and verifying the accuracy and
materiality of inside information and determining the
form and content of any required disclosure; and
reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy adopted by the
Company.

During the FY2020, the Corporate Governance
Committee has held one meeting (the attendance
records of each Committee member are set out
in section A6 above). The Corporate Governance
Committee performed the following major works
during the year:

- Reviewed the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Group;

- Reviewed the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and
senior management;

and
and

- Reviewed the Company’s policies
practices on compliance with legal
regulatory requirements;

- Reviewed the compliance of the Securities
Dealing Code;

- Reviewed the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report;
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B5. Corporate Governance Committee (continued) B5. Gt¥EREZEEE(H)

- Reviewed the Group’s process of disclosure,
including assessing and verifying the accuracy
and materiality of inside information and
determined the form and content of certain
required disclosures; and

- Reviewed the effectiveness of the

shareholders’ communication policy.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting
in Respect of the Financial Statements

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for
preparing the financial statements of the Company for
the FY2020.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of annual and interim
reports, inside information announcements and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
regulatory requirements. Management has provided such
explanation and information to the Board as necessary
to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of
the financial information and position of the Group put
forward to the Board for approval.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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82

Risk Management and Internal Controls

(continued)

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it
is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading
management and overseeing their design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems. The Board reviews the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems as well
as the internal audit function of the Company on an
annual basis through the Audit Committee.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions, including air freight, sea freight,
trade lane, corporate management, human resources,
finance and information technology. Self-evaluation has
been conducted annually to confirm that control policies
are properly complied with by each department.

All departments conducted internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the
business of the Group and various aspects including key
operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance
and information security. Management, in coordination
with department heads, assesses the likelihood of risk
occurrence, provides treatment plans, and monitors the
risk management progress. Management has reported to
the Board and the Audit Committee on the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems for
the FY2020.

The Company has engaged external professional firm
for providing the internal audit function and performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems. The
internal audit function examined key issues in relation
to the accounting practices and all material controls
and provided its findings and recommendations for
improvement to the Audit Committee.

During the FY2020, the Board, as supported by the Audit
Committee as well as the report from management and
the internal audit findings, reviewed the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and
compliance controls, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate.
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D. Risk Management and Internal Controls D. EBREBERANIEE (&
(continued)
The Company has developed a policy for handling and RAGBEHEBEBERRBEANREH
dissemination of inside information. The policy provides BEMEE ZBEREEREERR
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers and ERENBERNARRES BER
relevant employees in handling confidential information HEAREERME —MRIES -
and monitoring information disclosure.

E. Company Secretary E. ARAKRE
The Company Secretary is Ms. Wong Pui Wah, who fulfils NEIWMEREMNEL LT BFHFE L™
the qualification requirements laid down in the Listing RAMHECERRTE - EWMELLH
Rules. Biographical details of Ms. Wong Pui Wah are set J@JTEE?%%?%Z"#&if%%&*ﬁ&EE
out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and B2BE]—f  RIZ_ZFHBEF
Senior Management” of this report. During the FY2020, ER  BxLtB28TPR+HENE
Ms. Wong has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant AR Z X ET -
professional training.

F. External Auditor and Auditor's Remuneration F. JNEZEHRZ BT S

The statement of the external auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the Company’s
financial statements for the FY2020 is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this
report.

The fees paid/payable to KPMG, the Company’s auditor,

in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
FY2020 are analysed below:

Type of services provided by the

AR SNE LB E BB R AR =
B BRI AR B B E PR
2 5 0 A 35 25 8 7 4% BB 2 25
— 8 -

R T _TEHBREFEENRBRBE R
FERBRB M EAARFIZE
MESHEAMELMNERSTN
T

Fees paid/payable

external auditor MEZEMREHMREER e/ EBNEA
HK$
BT
Audit services — audit fee for the FY2020 ZHERE - —E_EFPRFE
ZZHER 2,177,000
Non-audit services I % BAR 75
— review of interim results for the six months — EHHZ_ZET_ZF X A
ended 30 June 2020 *+El¢/\1lﬂz¢ Hx4E 450,000
— review of continuing connected transactions — & -2 —% TEYHRFEZ
for the FY2020 wE FELX% 30,000
- review of annual results announcement for — EF - FHHFEE 2
the FY2020 FEEBNE 23,000
TOTAL: @at: 2,680,000

E (BB ZRERA
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continued)

G.

84

Communications with Shareholders and
Investors

The Company believes that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Group also recognizes
the importance of transparent and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which enables Shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decision.

The Company has in place a shareholders’” communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly
reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company maintains a website at www.ytoglobal.com
as a communication platform with its Shareholders
and investors, where information and updates on the
Company's business developments and operations
and other information are available for public access.
Shareholders and investors of the Company may send
written enquiries or requests to the Company via the
following contact details:

Attention: Company Secretary

Address: Suite 3610, 36th Floor, Office Tower, Skyline Tower,
39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong

Email: tiffany.wong@chg.ontime-express.com

Tel: (852) 2998 4626

Fax: (852) 3586 7681

Enquiries and requests will be dealt with by the Company
in an informative and timely manner.

Besides, Shareholders’ meetings provide an opportunity
for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. Board members and senior staff will be
available to answer questions raised by the Shareholders
at general meetings of the Company. In addition, the
Company will invite representatives of the auditor to
attend its AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions about
the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of
the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence, if any.
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ETFHA: tiffanywong@chg.ontime-express.com

EERIS: (852) 2998 4626

EESRE : (852) 3586 7681
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continued)

H.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a
separate resolution is proposed for each substantially
separate issue at general meetings, including the election
of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at
Shareholders’ meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company “www.ytoglobal.com” and the
Stock Exchange after each Shareholders’ meeting.

Pursuant to the Articles, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Law or the Articles. Shareholders who wish to
move a resolution may request the Company to convene
a general meeting following the procedures set out in
the preceding paragraph.

With respect to the Shareholders’ right in proposing
persons for election as Directors, please refer to the
procedures available on the website of the Company.

Constitutional Documents

During the FY2020, the Company has not made any
changes to the Articles. An up-to-date version of the
Articles is available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. Shareholders may refer to the
Articles for further details of the rights of Shareholders.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB ERE

KPMG

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YTO EXPRESS
(INTERNATIONAL) HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of YTO
Express (International) Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 93 to 240, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2020, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2020 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the "Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

BEBRE(EBR)ZRARATI KRR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHMEE

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional
judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. This
matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on this matter.

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables

EZRURENFEHCEBRER

Refer to note 42(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements and
FLHGATBRERMFL20)G) L FE12721NEN ST HE -

The Key Audit Matter
HRESEER

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s gross trade receivables
amounted to HK$789 million, against which an allowance for
expected credit losses of HK$16 million was recorded.
RZTEZZTF+-ZA=+—H X EBEBEEHNEZEKRKE
BERISBEST  REFEEHEEEEREEES
T e

The Group measures expected credit loss of trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss, by applying
estimated loss rates on trade receivables grouped according to
their shared credit risk characteristics. Management assesses
the expected credit loss allowance for credit-impaired trade
receivables and significant balances individually, and the
expected credit loss allowance for remaining balances is
assessed using the provision matrix collectively.

EEERBAEARBARGERRSBETHENESE
WHRIBENGBAEREE RETHEHEEFRBESNEHE
AAEESEREFIENTEREERE - BEEES RN ELREE
ERENESRURERERNEARNTEREEBHERE
M REEERES T ERTERNTEREEBEES -

FERENEH

FARBAFTESREBEAZBMITHNEEH
B RN AREFREPHBRRNEFSR
REEMEIR - ZFHENANZBENITRE
EREAVBHRRMBARAKEE - MA
CBMTITEHZEREHRBINER

the accounting policies on pages 127 to 132.

How the matter was addressed in our
audit
AEREHTHETNMEEREBEEE

Our audit procedures to assess the expected
credit loss allowance for trade receivables
included the following:

AZBMTHESRRRENTEREES
BREETHGEZETREFEEATAR

o obtaining an understanding of and
assessing the design, implementation
and operating effectiveness of key
internal controls relating to credit
control and estimation of expected
credit losses;

. TRIEFHEREERN RABEES
B HBENBREAMER RS
B MRIER L

o evaluating the Group’s policy for
estimating the credit loss allowance
with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standard;

e Z2RBTEFMENNELR FE &
SR AHEEBERENBE:

o evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the credit reporting
agencies which have issued credit
reports on which the management’s
estimated loss rates are based;

e HIEERBEEENMABEELA
EERENEERSHBOTE - &
hkEEE:

—EoTFR ABERE BB ERERAR 87



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHMEE

KEY AUDIT MATTER (CONTINUED)
The Key Audit Matter
REEITEE

Management identifies credit impaired trade receivables based
on observable data about occurrence of events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated cash flows from the trade
receivables. In respect of trade receivables with significant
balances, management determines the estimated loss rates
based on the scores and ratings in the credit reports issued
by credit reporting agencies, which are adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
EREERBEABAELEHESREREMELENMGETRSR
EEATNZENEHNAIBERBEAILREEREDN
BHORKAE HEEEREHRNESRKREMNS &
BERBEEREHBIEANGEEREANSBRER
BEEMAEEX IHAREBHAKLKLEREN ST AT
HEEHAE -

For the remaining balance of trade receivables, the estimated
loss rates in the provision matrix take into account the ageing
of trade receivable balances, the repayment history of the
Group's customers, current market conditions and forward-
looking information.
NEFERUWRIEBNRTERT S - BEERENMETHEIERE
RESEBRBLESOERR BE5BEXEPHERDH -
WITTH R R AT &R -

We identified the expected credit loss allowance for trade
receivables as a key audit matter because determining the
level of the loss allowance requires the exercise of significant
management judgement and estimation which are inherently
subjective.
AZEMTHESRWFENEREEFRREERN R
REFFE DARBTEEBRBKRKTIERLEERBFLE
RHAE R MABEAEREARE LBEH -

HREBITEE®

How the matter was addressed in our
audit
AZEMITHNETOINEEERETEE

o with the assistance of our internal
specialist, evaluating management'’s
determination of the estimated loss
rates applied against trade receivables
based on the credit reports issued by
credit reporting agencies;

o EZMAMERWNBET - FhEE
EBRECERSHBMEANEER
HFETHESEKRFIAEBNGEE

BE;

o assessing whether items in the trade
receivables ageing reports were
categorised in the appropriate ageing
brackets by testing the completeness
and accuracy of the ageing reports
generated by the financial reporting
system; and

o BBARMBERERGEKHIRE R
=) ST B R MR E B R UGR
HEREBREANEEESRBEE R
HATUSE R

o assessing the appropriateness of
management’s estimates of expected
credit loss by examining the
information used by management
to derive such estimates, including
identification of credit impaired
trade receivables, segmentation of
receivables, testing the accuracy of
the historical credit loss data, and
evaluating whether the historical loss
rates have reflected current economic
conditions and forward-looking
information.

s PAEETERERNEKABMGH
BR - BREBMNEREERENES
FEW FRIA - RWRIED B - AIRE &
EEFBEABENERUELTIEES
BIEEXELARMT BRI BERE LA
BEHER UTHEREENEER
BREEOESE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBMRE

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

%gﬁ%ﬁi&%&&ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%&%
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AZBMTHEEMBEHRERNE B AL TX
EHMEMN  ARBMOITIEREEME
MBEXREMPANRELR °

AAZBEMITHEAMBERROBT - &
ZEEMITHET DANEMER - HiBE
T EEEMENESS M RRIAZE
BITERTBRETAAZNERNEEFHE
EAEBREUFAEERERBKRAL -

ERAZBEITERITH TAE - i 2N 42 BAm
TRAEBERFEERERRL A&
BEMITHERREZFE - ARBEN TR
BEMEHRARS -

—EoTFR ARERE BB EBRERAF 89



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHMEE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHMEE

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Ka Nang.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

31 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

meE®ER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

BE-_Z-_ZF+-_A=1+—HILFE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Administrative expenses

Net impairment loss recognised
under expected credit loss model

Impairment loss on goodwill

Impairment loss on intangible assets

Other gains or losses

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Finance costs

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Profit for the year attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share (Hong Kong cents)
Basic

Diluted

The notes on pages 102 to 240 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders
of the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set

out in note 13.

Y 25
5 B B AN

EF

H Al Y A

TR X
BEHMEEBBRERT
HE 52 RO R (B &5 18 F RR
EEMERE

B EERERER
H A 1S a5 3 B 18
iR AN E $
EHEZEbEEE
[ELE= DN

B B A1 Ok A
FT 15 B B X

F A A
VAT & T8 JE A5 F Mg A :

7R ) HE 26 B R
FEIE B 2

FhEFGEW)
e N

#E

Notes

liogd

5 6

11
18
19

10

11

14

14

2020 2019
S-S — F — | F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FAEIT
5,048,113 3,897,903
(4,275,497) (3,346,982)
772,616 550,921
30,150 15,726
(484,628) (498,589)
(8,773) (5,858)
- (19,309)
- (787)
(19,732) (2,663)
82 694
1,268 1,250
(4,889) (7,602)
286,094 33,783
(30,221) (5,170)
255,873 28,613
252,231 26,101
3,642 2,512
255,873 28,613
60.84 6.32
60.48 6.32

F102E240E WM EB AL F I AR —
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mReEakEtEZEKER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BE-Z-_TF+-_A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
L T T
Notes HKS$'000 HK$°000

ot &t FET FET

Profit for the year 1A ) 255,873 28,613
Other comprehensive income FANEAMEER R

for the year (after tax and (BB HEREN

reclassification adjustments) DERAER)
Items that will not be reclassified to 777‘7 BE DB R A

profit or loss 15 H
Surplus on revaluation of HEITHREFEHRH

leasehold land and buildings 527 605
Deferred tax arising on revaluation HETHMREFEHES

of leasehold land and buildings Y 3 JE 7 18 37 14 (54)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently X 4 7] ¢ & & %7 7 48 2

to profit or loss A A IE A
Share of other comprehensive income FEAR ”A’“Tﬁﬁﬁ

of associates g #= 226 (224)
Share of other comprehensive income BiEEEtEREMEE

of joint ventures g 798 (190)
Exchange difference arising from foreign BN EKELWMEL =5

operations 7,707 (6,371)
Reclassification adjustment upon disposal 7 H & i B A 7 1% 59

of subsidiaries ENoBAE 87 -
Other comprehensive income for the year 4R H fbh & & U % 9,359 (6,234)
Total comprehensive income for the year F /&2 H U A 42%58 265,232 22,379
Attributable to: AT EIEEN:
Equity shareholders of the Company RARE=RE 261,134 20,600
Non-controlling interests IE 1= P = 4,098 1,779
Total comprehensive income for the year 4 A2 Uz 48 58 265,232 22,379

The notes on pages 102 to 240 form part of these financial Z5102E240B MM sE B Z SV EHREA —
statements. #Hm o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI &

AT 31 DECEMBER 2020
RZEZFTF+=-_A=1+—H

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets

Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
Finance lease receivables
Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Trade receivables

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Contract assets

Financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss

Debt investment at amortised cost

Finance lease receivables

Amount due from an intermediate holding

company
Amount due from immediate holding
company
Amount due from a joint venture
Amounts due from associates
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary

Loan to an associate
Prepaid tax

Pledged bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Loan from immediate holding company
Amounts due to associates

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
Tax liabilities

Lease liabilities

Bank borrowings

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

kRBEE
wmEYE

WE BEREE
FREEE

EES

B EE
ﬂ%éﬁnmﬁm
REeEErENER
BhE A & E U R |
EEBIBEE

!

RBEE
B 5 FE W KA
Hi R HIE e R
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BREE
f@?ﬁﬁAEmm
TREE
&%%W$JEMEW
X,\
B & T8 e R R
FEM — K P REE R A BRI

i GRS 2 /N

JEW—REEDERE
JFE Uy BEg 4% N B )8
%W—%H%W?
A

BT —RBERRIER
IEEN R

B IEITER
BITHEH LIRS

ElE 5

REEE
%%&ﬁmﬁﬁm

(=) QOE\{E
REEEERATIZER
ﬁHWM“ ﬂﬁ
FET R R MY &8 & R 3 IR
MIBAEE

HEBME

RITER

RBEEZRE
EERERARDAR

Notes
log3

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
37

23

23
24

25

26
22

27
29
28

27
28

30
31

32
33
27
28
27

34
35

2020 2019
—z-2 [EEESE
HK$’000 HK$°000
75 WSS
6,593 6,471
54,779 44,032
140,888 51,256
16,188 14,828
7,505 11,244
15,066 16,045
9,786 7,720
- 8,427
2,706 392
253,511 160,415
772,812 561,283
81,689 53,197
46,046 44,863
896 952
7,463 7,580
8,388 12,345
2 —
- 1,245
4,102 7,233
12,548 11,730
- 42
- 200
2,422 6,341
7,633 20,720
491,932 269,008
1,435,933 996,739
556,239 402,905
36,043 6,464
- 30,000
1,172 2,763
35,854 128
10,957 3,629
44,066 47,242
1,067 30,565
685,398 523,696
750,535 473,043
1,004,046 633,458
(AR ERERA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
GEMBRREK

AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

RZE-_ZTEF+_A=+—H

2020 2019
—z-zr [EEEE
Notes HK$°000 HK$000

H &t T TFET
Non-current liabilities (ERBEE
Other payables H b JE 5 5K B 32 3,889 3,855
Lease liabilities HEBE 34 121,371 23,557
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEEE 37 13,649 8,933
138,909 36,345
865,137 597,113
Capital and reserves BEARGEE
Share capital [N 38 41,676 41,676
Reserves & 8 815,727 548,929
Total equity attributable to ANl R g
equity shareholders of the Company “azE 857,403 590,605
Non-controlling interests FEE R 7.734 6,508
Total equity Mo R 865,137 597,113
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors BR-ZE-—F=ZA=+—HhH=EESitkE
on 31 March 2021: N ETIED
Mr. Huang Yifeng Mr. Li Xianjun
ERIE KL FEAERE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
£ EF

The notes on pages 102 to 240 form part of these financial S102E240EH MM T ER ZSH B HEN—
statements. o o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BE-Z-_TF+-_A=+—HIFE

At 1 January 2020

Profit for the year

Surplus on revaluation of leasehold
land and buildings

Deferred tax arising on revaluation
of leasehold land and buildings

Share of other comprehensive
income of associates

Share of other comprehensive
income of joint ventures

Exchange difference arising from
foreign operations

Reclassification adjustment upon R HEHB LAY
disposal of subsidiaries

ERRT
BRLHRETEEDE

BELHRETERELN

Total comprehensive (expense) — FAZE (%) RALE

income for the year

BRNBRERE B
ERMOH

Recognition of equity-settled iy}
share-based payment (note 46)

Disposal of subsidiaries

Dividends paid to shareholders
(note 13)

Transfer to statutory reserve

> 5B

HEHBAF
ABRR

fthe

At 31 December 2020 F+zZh=t+-H

HKS'000

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
FAARER

Share
awards
reserve

BB %®
B
HKS'000
iz

Share
capital

Share
premium
%)
HE
HK$'000
TEx

Treasury
stock
E#

K f
HKS'000
(2

Capital
reserve
Ex
1
HK$'000
FEx

Special
reserve
Bk
B
HKS'000
iz

e

(2

41,676 429,238 (6,563)  (22,681)  (295,411) o

A

REf

Translation
reserve
EX

#E
HKS'000
7z

Statutory
reserve

BE

1]

HKS'000
FEx

Property
revaluation
reserve
NEER
#E
HKS'000
7z

Retained
profits
RE
ot
HKS'000
7z

Sub-total

N
HKS'000
FEL

(44,285) 17401 11792 459,438 50,605
- - - B3 28,31

- - 527 - 527

- - 1 - 1

26 - - - 26
798 - - - 798
7,251 - - -
87 - - - 87
8,362 - s 25,31 261134
- - - - 98

- - - (4168 (4168)

- 302 - (0 -
(35923) 17703 1233 707199 857,403

Fik ERRE

(BER) = I AR

Non-
controlling
interests
2R
i
HKS'000
FEx

6,508
3,642

4,098

(2.872)

a

/D\

Total

ai
HKS'000
Fii

597113
255,873

527
14
226
798
1101

81

265,232

9,832
(2.872)

(4,168)

865,137
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEZBER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

BE-_E-_ZEE+_A=1t—HILEE

At 31 December 2018
HKFRS 16 adjustment

At 1 January 2019 (adjusted)

Profit for the year

Surplus on revaluation of
leasehold land and buildings

Deferred tax arising on revaluation of
leasehold land and buildings

Share of other comprehensive income
of associates

Share of other comprehensive income
of joint ventures

Exchange difference arising from
foreign operations

Total comprehensive (expense) income
for the year

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment (note 46)

Issue of shares upon exercise of
equity-settled share-based
payment (notes 38, 46)

Dividends paid to shareholders
(note 13)

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

Transfer to statutory reserve

At 31 December 2019

The notes on pages 102 to 240 form part of these financial

statements.
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RZE-NE+ZA=+-H
EANBRLLUS6RNAR

RZZ-N5-A-B(EHE)
ERET
RETHREFERDR

BRLHREFERELY
ERERE
EEBAATELZENE

ElERELEERIENE

BNEBELNELZE

ER2ARR)UALE

BANREEZZURAA
ERNE R 246)
RITENRBEEZHRG
RERHRRBEIRA
(W38 - 46)
AREENRE
(W13

AEERERENRE
BREARHE

RZE-NF+ZA=+-8

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Non-
controlling
interests
FER
[:$:1
HK$'000
FET

6,186

6,186
2,512

(1457)

Total
R

HK$000
TAT

582,307

ARARERREN
Share Property
Share Share  Treasury ~ Capital Special  awards Translation  Statutory revaluation  Retained
capital  premium stock  reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  Sub-total
&t ER BX BE RHED EX AR WEER RE
e HE & f #h EL EL #h R L] et it
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000
FEr  FErT  TEr  FEn FET  FET FET FET FEr  FET  TEn
(Note 38(b) (Note 38(c)
(H12238(b) (23810
41,427 420916 (6,563)  (22,681) (295,411) 738 (38,233) 15,419 11,241 449,268 576,121
- - - - - - - - - 1,793 1,793
41,47 420916 (6,563 (22,681) (295,411) 738 (38,233) 15419 1,241 451,061 577914
- - - - - - - - - 26,101 26,101
- - - - - - - - 605 - 605
- - - - - - - - (54) - (54)
- - - - - - (224) - - - (224)
- - - - - - (190) - - - (90
- - - - - - (6%) - - - 663
- - - - - - (6,052) - 551 26,101 20,600
- - - - - 538 - - - -8
249 8322 - - - (6,081) - - - - 2,490
- - - - - - - - - (574 (15742)
- - - - - - - 1982 - (198) -
41,676 429,238 (6,563 (22,681) (295,411) - (44,285) 17,401 1,792 459438 590,605

B o
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

BE_Z2-_ZF+-_A=+—HILFE

Operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Finance costs
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Loss (gain) on early termination of
lease contracts
Net impairment loss recognised under
expected credit loss model
Fair value changes of financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss
Fair value changes of financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss
Fair value remeasurement of associate upon
step acquisition
Gain on bargain purchase
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Impairment loss on goodwill
Impairment loss on intangible assets
Equity-settled share-based payment

Fair value changes of investment properties
Write down of long outstanding payables
COVID-19 related rent concessions received

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

(Increase) decrease in trade receivables

(Increase) decrease in contract assets

(Increase) decrease in other receivables,
deposits and prepayments

Decrease (increase) in amounts due from
a joint venture

(Increase) decrease in amounts due from
associates

Decrease in amount due from
a related company

Increase (decrease) in trade and
other payables

Increase in contract liabilities

Decrease in amounts due to associates

Increase (decrease) in amounts due to
fellow subsidiaries

Cash generated from operations
Income taxes paid

Net cash from operating activities

2020 2019
e RSl T —
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
it FE T FET
BESES
5 B 1 286,094 33,783
B Uz A 7 (1,489) (2,510)
L= 7N 9 4,889 7,602
JE(RES & N A (82) (694)
JEMhEEhEXEE (1,268) (1,250)
ME BMEMEREINE
11 10,905 9,187
FRHEEERE 11 46,938 36,972
EREE#H 11 4,164 5,422
HEME - BEMEKE
H s 18 8 137 355
RERHEEAHZ
&5 18 (W 2 ) 8 346 (202)
FEHEEBEEERDNTER
ROREE 1B )55 11 8,773 5,858
BATFEFARRN
CREEZAFEED 8 70 (51)
BAFEFABREN
cMEBEZRAVFEES 8 - 253
o R U BB R B 2 R Y
NFPEEHTE (79) -
mEEENK S 11 (752) -
HEH B AR AW =S 8 (60) -
AR E F 18 - 19,309
| EERERIE - 787
VA RS 4 4 & 7 LARR 15
BEH 11 9,832 5,343
REYWELNFEEZD 8 297 112
WOR R B R 2 S 0B 7 (1,861) (987)
2 Y B COVID-194H
He B (2,044) -
EEECEHHIMNLE
ReEn=s 364,810 119,289
& 5 e W SR TE (38 00) e A (205,090) 175,529
BHE E (8 R (1,183) 19,127
Hib el R E -« e RIE
FRIE (38 50 Rk A (24,221) 1,025
Bl —REE D ERIERD
(3 0) 3,762 (3,334)
JFE L B 4 N B 3R 78 (38 0)
Rk A (1,986) 674
U — X B Bt A /) 5B
R, - 243
E5 R EAMENKRE
38 hn Ok ) 157,151 (35,746)
EHBEE N 29,579 6,464
A< B 2 R B SR IE R (487) (3,800)
JFE AT [R) 2 Y /B A &) FR B
3 Cf ) 18,103 (23,144)
EEMEARS 340,438 256,327
BPTIEH (17,492) (16,826)
KRETEBE S FEE 322,946 239,501
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

BE_T-_TF+_A=+—"HLHFE

Investing activities
Interest received
Net cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiaries
Net cash outflow on disposals of subsidiaries
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment
(Penalty) proceeds from early termination
of lease contracts
Repayment from associates
(Advance to) repayment from
joint ventures
Repayment from immediate holding company
Advance to intermediate holding company
Additions of intangible assets
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits
Placement of pledged bank deposits
Repayment from (advance to)
a fellow subsidiary
Payments for contingent considerations
Proceeds from debt investment
at amortised cost
Investment in debt investment
at amortised cost
Repayment from finance lease receivables
Investment in associate
Dividend from an associate

Net cash generated from (used in)
investing activities

Financing activities
Increase (decrease) in bank overdrafts
(Repayment to) advance from
a joint venture
(Repayment to) advance from associates

Advance from a fellow subsidiary
(Repayment to) advance from
a related party
(Repayment of) advance from loan from
immediate holding company
Decrease in factoring loans
Interests paid
New bank loans obtained
Repayment of bank loans
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
Dividends paid to equity shareholders
of the company
Capital element of lease rentals paid
Proceeds from issuance of new shares

Net cash used in financing activities
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REMEHERWS
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ENEEZERRD
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2020 2019
—EEF —NF
HKS$ ’002 HKS$ fOOQ
F BT FET
1,381 2,336
15,006 -
(2,690) -
(17,589) (13,241)
130 327
(136) 130
797 536
(631) (357)
1,245 -
(2) -
- (1,435)
12,868 21
(127) (13,155)
42 (42)
= (2,500)
7,568 7,554
(7,384) (7,469)
12,295 11,685
(332) -
1,619 -
24,060 (15,610)
1,056 (1,829)
- (175)
(733) 733
110 -
- (31
(30,000) 30,000
(42) (75,476)
(4,889) (7,602)
70,529 196,533
(101,052) (277,704)
- (1,457)
(4,168) (15,742)
(39,718) (47,026)
- 2,490
(108,907) (197,286)




CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
GEHERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BE-_E-_ZEE+_A=1t—HILEE

2020 2019
N il = T
NOZ‘}?\S HK$'000 HK$'000
&t F BT FET
Net increase in cash and ReREcEEWEMFEE
cash equivalents 238,099 26,605
Cash and cash equivalents at FNHRERESEEY
the beginning of the year 269,008 240,733
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 4N [ & & 822 & (15,175) 1,670
Cash and cash equivalents at the end F AR EREEEEY
of the year 491,932 269,008
Analysis of the balances of cash and BE&RBESEBEYHEH I
cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash RIT&E MRS 491,932 269,008

The notes on pages 102 to 240 form part of these financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BE-Z-_TF+-_A=+—HIFE

1. GENERAL

YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated and registered as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law in the Cayman Islands on 6 March 2013
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
since 11 July 2014. The ultimate holding company of
the Company is Shanghai Yuantong Jiaolong Investment
Development (Group) Co., Ltd., a company incorporated
in the PRC. The intermediate holding company of the
Company is YTO Express Group Co., Ltd., a joint stock
limited liability company incorporated in the PRC with
its shares listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. The
immediate holding company of the Company is YTO
Global Holdings Limited, a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong. The addresses of the
registered office and the principal place of business of
the Company are Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and Suite
3610, 36th Floor, Office Tower, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang

Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of associates, joint ventures
and subsidiaries are set out in notes 20, 21 and 50

respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the

functional currency of the Company.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the applicable disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies

adopted by the Group are disclosed in note 3.

—REHR

ElRBEBEB)ERERAGTEAR
AR E—=F=ZABEHRSHS
BIBEAGEFMAIEELRERE
BRAR - HEHBE-_ZET—NFLA
+—BERB BB AERSMER AR ([
RETDEREM o RAF 2 &EITER D
AARFPEGEMALZAR L/GE B
RELEERERE(EE)BRATF - AQF]
ZHEERARARPRHFMAT 2
B ERARIEREERNDERAR
ERMREGELFRGH LT o AT
CHEERRARAREEEMNKILZ
BRAREBBEBRIERER AT o K
NEAMPEERETEE XM O
15> Bl & Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands & & 7 7182/ 72 % 8 39
7R KBS A KNE36HE3610F -

)

A

RABE—REEZERAR - BEQ
B AR ENMHBRAANEZEK
DRI E A KT EE20 ~ 21550 °

mAEMBRERIEET (BT 25
HEARRWNINGEERHER -

B EE
(@) EREH

HEMBRRCREMBERE
AMBREEN (R AT HRSE
A | ZREEREE GO
S((EEEAMIE])BM A
BERERNEEMBREEL
BERGTEN(E B LR
L) BEARGHRAR
FBRBGRE 2 8 R E R E
R REFWHBMRITE TR B
XX P RE 75 £ T AR Al 2 53 P BR 1%
Xo AEERBHNERGEE
WERMHES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

BH=E

2.

—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (cContinued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of
the Group. Note 2(c) provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period reflected in these financial
statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2020 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the
Group”) and the Group's interests in associates and
joint ventures.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties, certain property, plant and
equipment and certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values or revalued amounts as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in the consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

“ETFR ARRE(BF)ERBERAR
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cContinued)

104

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

statements (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (cContinued)

(b)

(9]

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

. Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a
Business

. Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions

Other than the amendment to HKFRS 16, the
Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period. Impact of the adoption
of the amended HKFRS 16 is discussed below:

The amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical
expedient that allows a lessee to by-pass the
need to evaluate whether certain qualifying rent
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of
the COVID-19 pandemic (“COVID-19-related rent
concessions”) are lease modifications and, instead,
account for those rent concessions as if they were
not lease modifications.
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THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

The Group has elected to early adopt the
amendments and applies the practical expedient
to all qualifying COVID-19-related rent
concessions granted to the Group during the year.
Consequently, rent concessions received have been
accounted for as negative variable lease payments
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers those payments
occurred. There is no impact on the opening
balance of equity at 1 January 2020. During the
year, the Group is entitled to COVID-19-related rent
concessions of HK$2,044,000.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Company
gains control until the date when the Company ceases to
control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interest. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group's relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business
combination under common control, are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair
value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee
Benefits” respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below),

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”
are measured in accordance with that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared
with market terms.
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THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at the acquisition date. If after re-
assessment, the net amount of the acquisition-date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may
be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement s
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.
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—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Business combinations (continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had disposed of directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less any accumulated impairment losses, if any,
and is presented separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position. For the purposes of impairment
testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated
to each of the relevant cash-generating units (or groups
of cash-generating units) that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the acquisition, which represent
the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Goodwill (continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the
cash-generating unit, the amount of goodwill disposed
of is measured on the basis of the relative values of
the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate and a joint venture is described below.

Interests in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate
or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate
or joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held
by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate or a joint venture exceeds its interest in that
associate or joint venture (which included any long-term
interest that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a joint
venture. On acquisition of the investment in associates or
a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group's share of the net fair value of identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after assessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allowed to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance HKAS 36 to
the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in
the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value
on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value
of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
or joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or
joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes
an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement
to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to
use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or
loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating
to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the Group’ consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that
are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

by
&
T
5
all
X
o
T
Fr>

ES:0E £-3C )

-

R RAZRAKRE E\%ﬁ%
B NAEDRE 2 REKS L
TZ&%HT $’il%‘z%ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁn
REEZSHREREZEDE
BRAFEETENRTE -

D

i NG

huf]

Nt

- D

2

Jillg
+
A

B AR B s N A A DR
CHEREEREBEBERERER
i DA 2 PO H At 2 T U A BE BB RE BIL AL
BEREEZ BES BN HERRA
BERABREMNOBERE  AAX
SEeSZABER N EERH -

EEBEEREBEARRAELER
S HBERTARAEEEEIFM
EEMGENNEBREEGRE L QR
HELEEENEaRAANEEERNIS
AT - TERAKENGE M HRE
FRER -

REEFEHH K

AEBERTK—ABAETE (BIRNE
#) B (£ 48 B & 7 dm 3K AR 7 B 42 I 4
EREEPE) RN -

JE # B (L 45 7 B B [ o0 &9 {8 7 7 dm 3K
MR (B — A R — K5I 7]
RS BEE MR MRS

E(BEBR)IZERERA 115



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R IR M EE

FOR
BE

116

THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’'s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue
in the amount of any fee or commission to which it
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by the other

party.

Except for management fee and information technology
("IT") service fee income, all revenue are derived from
the Group’s ordinary course of business. Management
fee and IT service fee income are recognised over time
by the Group's performance as the Group performs and
included in other income.
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THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“right-of-use assets” (upon application of HKFRS 16) or
“prepaid lease payments” (before application of HKFRS
16) in the consolidated statement of financial position
except for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in
the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Leasehold land and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated
financial statements at their fair value at the date of
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation
and any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such
that the carrying amount does not differ materially from
that which would be determined using fair value at the
end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building (continued)

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of
leasehold land and buildings is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the property
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously
recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is
credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease
previously charged. A decrease in net carrying amount
arising on revaluation of such leasehold land and buildings
is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds
the balance, if any, on the property revaluation reserve
relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. Depreciation
on revalued land and building is recognised in profit or
loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued
asset, the attributable revaluation surplus is transferred to
retained profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
or revalued amount of items of property, plant and
equipment less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Before application of HKFRS 16, assets held under finance
leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on
the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the
term of the relevant lease. However, when there is no
reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by
the end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over
the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.
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THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Investment properties

Investment property is property held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values using the fair value
model, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Internally-generated intangible assets

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase
of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of
the following have been demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and
to use or sell the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets
the recognition criteria listed above. Where no
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any),
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

In addition, corporates assets are allocated to individual
cash generating units when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The Group assesses whether
there is indication that corporate assets may be impaired.
If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to
the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal, its value in use and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated
to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generation units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash generating unit or a group of cash-generation
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss ("FVTPL") are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application of
HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESHBEm
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued) TMIAEum

Financial assets (continued) TR EE @

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial EHEESEREETEE)

assets (continued)
(i) Amortised cost and interest income (i)

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL (i)

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains
or losses” line item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables, rental
deposits, debt investment at amortised cost, amounts
due from immediate holding company, joint ventures,
associates, a related company and a fellow subsidiary,
loan to an associate, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances) and other items (contract assets and finance
lease receivables) which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for contract
assets, trade receivables, trade balances due from
associates and joint ventures and finance lease
receivables. To measure the ECL, contract assets and trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics respectively. In addition, trade receivables
and contract assets with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. The ECL for
trade balances due from associates and joint ventures and
finance lease receivables are assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12 month ECL, unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

YTO Express (International] Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default, (i) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a

(b)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a finance lease receivable, the cash
flows used for determining the ECL is consistent
with the cash flows used in measuring the finance
lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

YTO Express (International] Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group’s trade receivables and contract
assets are assessed as a separate group.
Other receivables, rental deposits, amounts
due from and loan to related parties, debt
investment at amortised cost, finance lease
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank
balance are assessed for ECL on an individual

basis);
. Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables, contract assets, amounts
due from related parties and debt investment at
amortised cost where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI upon application of HKFRS 9, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity instruments in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’'s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
loan from immediate holding company, amounts due
to fellow subsidiaries, associates and a related company
and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) held for trading; (ii) it is designated
as at FTVPL; or (iii) contingent consideration that may be
paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 applies.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial

liabilities and equity instruments

(continued)

Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts

(i)

(i)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has
a contract under which the unavoidable costs of
meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received from
the contract. Provisions for onerous contracts are
measured at the present value of the lower of the
expected cost of terminating the contract and the
net cost of continuing with the contract.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRSs require or permit the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

FESHHEXR@

CENDEN

A ZEREERBEREE (AN
ARA-BRERSRTAERTERSE
SEEZEE)MAE KBS ZEFTKA
BBEZFEE 2B AR - EtlfE
KA HEEENHREIIMER

BRABREEKRA— D SR K
AEBEELERAX  BEREEXNAR
FBEERARTEBEAHEEMBEAEN
EHTEETHETAERNE - £
BEREER AREREHIHEML
ANBARED D TR IE SR TR -
ERKAEGEFEHFLERE -

3R R 48 A AR A

) 5% 7€ 1 K AR IR A8 A & 81 B9 A DR
BERREHERGM A ZH&FHKE
ERBFEX

HHEEREA

MHEEBEMN N EERE RS EHA
AN RN RN SRR
ERHEBRANERBFAS  KIFR
—HEBUBREERBERKAFH
BRBMMAAEERAN - AER®

EHNBREKXNNEMNSER  HiE
BEGHNEMNPIMIERFS  FR
MR ERAE -

YTO Express (International] Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R IR M EE

FOR
BE

THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Equity-settled
arrangements

share-based payment

Share award plan

For grants of share awards that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
service received is determined by reference to the fair
value of shares awards granted at the date of grant and is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share awards
reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of share awards that are
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to
share awards reserve.

When share awards are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share awards reserve will be transferred
to share premium or treasury stock. When the share
awards are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share awards reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

Contract costs

Contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil
a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
property, plant and equipment or intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with
a customer that it would not have incurred if the
contract had not been obtained e.g. an incremental sales
commission. Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are
capitalised when incurred if the costs relate to revenue
which will be recognised in a future reporting period and
the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs of
obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
arrangements (continued)

Contract costs (continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct
labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that
are explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs
that are incurred only because the Group entered into
the contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors).
Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the
net of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the
Group expects to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (i) any costs that
relate directly to providing those goods or services that
have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to
profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates
is recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease component,
and instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of land and buildings, computer
equipment, furniture & fixture and motor vehicles
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

less any

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate;
o amounts expected to be payable by the Group

under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

FESHHEXR@

HE@
REEERAEA M)
AREMzEE

ENATREERSRESREEBYHR
SEAFRI BT A I(FEUBR

HERAIEIF AR - WHRIR R FE
qugo;T’fM’*ﬁE R PEEL R
ﬁ”%ﬂiﬁﬁ%ﬁi@l\fﬂfﬁ - BEFARE
FREEMRA -

HEERE

REEMKAE AEMEEA XS
NoBENRORARBRHBEE
B1E - B ENROBEE -
AERBEHFERFREE A
84 R YE A SR B4 B AR A 1R B S
R .

HEMNRBRE

o BEEMNR(BEELEENR) R
ERrEEKEEE=R:

. BUARIE S S MR #HE
b7

. T er B 15%%1%?8’9%§,ﬁﬁ$;€ﬁ§
3k 18

s AEBMENHBAKETENEE
BRITEE &

o RKRIEHEEM AR (H A
Hi IR BR AN SR (8 IR 7T R 4 A 4R LE TR

')

EAE%?“EHHT?: a“
NG RN o

BERMBEE

E(BEBR)IZERERA 141



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R IR M EE

FOR
BE

142

THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease modifications (continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date
at amounts equal to net investments in the leases,
measured using the interest rate implicit in the respective
leases. Initial direct costs (other than those incurred by
manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included in the initial
measurement of the net investments in the leases. Interest
income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect
a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

Lease modification to a finance lease

The Group accounts for a modification to a finance lease
as a separate lease if both:

(@)  the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

(b)  the consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Lease modification to a finance lease (continued)

For a modification to a finance lease that is not accounted
for as a separate lease, the Group accounts for the
modification as follows:

(@) if the lease would have been classified as an
operating lease had the modification been in effect
at the inception date, the Group shall:

(i) account for the lease modification as a
new lease from the effective date of the
modification; and

(i) measure the carrying amount of the
underlying asset as the net investment in the
lease immediately before the effective date of
the lease modification.

(b)  otherwise, the Group applies the requirements of
HKFRS 9.

Lease modification to an operating lease

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.
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THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation”
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiary
and interests in associates and joint ventures, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognised.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision
to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease modifications, are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax
treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual group
entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable, the
current and deferred taxes are determined consistently
with the tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not
probable that the relevant taxation authority will accept
an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each uncertainty
is reflected by using either the most likely amount or the
expected value.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not re-
translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the re-translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate), if any.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of
the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
significant influence over an associate or a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are reattributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates
or joint ventures that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
equity under the heading of translation reserve.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)  (continued)

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the

third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the

Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and

geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share

a majority of these criteria.

3.
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4.

152

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, management is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the directors
of the Company have made in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
arising from investment properties that are determining
using the fair value model, the directors of the Company
have reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios
and concluded that the Group’s investment properties
are held under a business model which objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather
than through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group's
deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors
of the Company have determined that the presumption
that carrying amounts of investment properties measured
using the fair value model are recovered entirely through
sale is rebutted. Deferred taxation on fair value gain
on investment properties is calculated at the Enterprise
Income Tax (“EIT") rate in the PRC of 25%.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Principal versus agent consideration

The Group engages in provision of freight forwarding
services. The Group concludes that the Group acts as
the principal for such transactions as it controls the
service before the service is transferred to a customer
taking into consideration indicator that the Group is
primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide
the services. When the Group satisfies the performance
obligation, the Group recognises revenue in the gross
amount of consideration to which the Group expects to
be entitled as specified in the contracts.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount which is the higher
of fair value less cost of disposal and value in use of the
group of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has
been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from each group of cash-generating units and a suitable
discount rate and growth rate in order to calculate the
present value. For goodwill arising on the acquisition of
OTX Logistics B.V. and its subsidiaries (“OTX Logistics
Holland Group”), the Group engaged a qualified external
valuer (the “Valuer”) to estimate the recoverable amount
in goodwill impairment assessment. Management of the
Group works closely with the Valuer to develop appropriate
inputs to the value in use calculation. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or change
in facts and circumstances which results in downward
revision of future cash flows, a material impairment
loss may arise. As at 31 December 2020, the carrying
amount of goodwill arising from OTX Logistics Holland
Group was HK$16,188,000 (2019: HK$14,828,000). Based
on management’s assessment, no impairment loss was
recognised in respect of goodwill arising on the acquisition
of OTX Logistics Holland Group during the year ended 31
December 2020. Details are disclosed in note 18.
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4.

154

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group's assets and liabilities are measured at
fair value for financial reporting purposes. The directors of
the Company have to determine the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform
the valuation. The directors of the Company work
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair values of certain properties and certain types of
financial instruments. Notes 15 and 16 provide detailed
information about the valuation techniques, inputs and
key assumptions used in the determination of the fair
value of various assets and liabilities.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's gross trade
receivables amounted to HK$789 million, against which
an allowance for expected credit losses of HK$16 million
was recorded.

The Group measures expected credit loss of trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit loss, by applying estimated loss rates on trade
receivables grouped according to their shared credit risk
characteristics. Management assesses the expected credit
loss allowance for credit-impaired trade receivables and
significant balances individually, and the expected credit
loss allowance for remaining balances is assessed using
the provision matrix collectively.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
(continued)

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
Information about ECL on the Group's trade receivables
is disclosed in note 42.

The Group’s lifetime ECL on trade receivables as at 31
December 2020 amounted to HK$16,124,000 (2019:
HK$10,206,000).

REVENUE

Revenue represents freight forwarding and related
services income which is recognised over time as customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’'s performance as the Group
performs. The Group’s revenue is recognised using output
method over the period of performance by delivering a
shipment from a place of origin to a place of destination.
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery at
destination. Details of disaggregation of revenue are set
out in note 6.

Payment of the transaction price is generally due within
30 days. All services are for periods of less than one
year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. THESR

The Group determines its operating segments based on REEBBREFEEEEERKSE (AIK

internal reports about components of the Group that are AAFHTER)THERNAEEIT DB

reqularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker AR EETCELED B - UM

(i.e. the executive directors of the Company) in order D EREFEERKE -

to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its

performance.

Information reported to the Group's chief operating HERSERERBRAEMARERF

decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation EEBERFEERNEHN SRR A

and assessment of performance is focused on five main FELEHE

operations.

Air freight: this segment is related to freight =8 o Ef L fin e BB IR
forwarding by air. 56 -

Ocean freight: this segment is related to freight g o EE g FEERER
forwarding by seas. 8 o

Logistics: this segment is related to Nk it 5> &R B4R B PR TS A
provision of warehousing 7 o
services.

International express  this segment is related to BIRRRIE b BB IR Mﬁ%ﬁeﬁifﬁ

and parcel: provision of time-define e B B R RO 2 B 2 IR TS

international express and 56 -

parcel services.

Others: this segment is related to freight HAth - I 50 B e 3 S S A T K
forwarding by land and BEEEBRKEAERE -

trucking services.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@) Segment revenue and results

6.

7 B E R @
(a) DHUBEREE

Segment revenue

Segment results

bl DEEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
—E-EF i — T T F —hE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Operating and reportable 4% & 2 %k 5 &6
segments
Air freight (note i) =B (N7 3,062,518 2,201,854 376,679 151,558
Ocean freight (note /) B IE (M iti) 817,371 855,276 97,668 119,175
Logistics (note i) R (BT 2t ii) 82,778 81,591 2,904 15,107
International express and BRIERE S
parcel (note Jij) (K4 &t iii) 952,870 642,349 111,553 65,457
Others (note iv) H At (f7 52 1v) 132,576 116,833 36,381 20,395
Total @t 5,048,113 3,897,903 625,185 371,692
Other income Hip g A 30,150 15,726
Other gains or losses HmSEsER (19,732) (2,663)
Unallocated corporate KAERRAIAX
expenses (345,970) (345,314)
Share of results of JEIGEE & AR EE
associates 82 694
Share of results of EEEEREFEE
joint ventures 1,268 1,250
Finance costs BE KA (4,889) (7,602)
Profit before taxation B % B & A 286,094 33,783
(i) Revenue from freight services, including air freight (i) BERB(BEEZERBE) K
and ocean freight, is recognised over time upon the HIRERNBHNEXRERA
performance obligation is satisfied. R o

(i) Revenue from logistic services is recognised over time
for warehousing services.

(iii) Revenue from international express and parcel services
is recognised over time for time-define international
express and parcel services.

(iv) Other services is recognised over time for land and

trucking services.

—E_TFHR EBE

Yo RS (5t & R 1) B Mk 21

7Y W& By P 7 23 o

B B R OIE % B 5 AR 75 (Bt DA RS

EENBEBRRENRS R

AR7%) &

W THEREER -

Hth AR 5 Ot e 1t % 55 838 %l R
) 7Y b B [ A 2R

IR (B BR) 12 BB R
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6.

158

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in note 3. Reportable segment results
represent the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of other income, other gains
or losses, share of results of associates, share of
results of joint ventures, unallocated corporate
expenses (including depreciation, amortisation and
impairment, etc.) and finance costs.

Segment assets and liabilities

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
operating and reportable segments is disclosed as
it is not regularly provided to the chief operating
decision maker for review.

Geographical information

The Group's revenue by geographical market based
on the location of operations:

RE (B Az
B (A At i)
18 =N (A7 a2 i)

The PRC (note i)

Europe (note i)

Northern America (note iii)
Other Asian regions (note iv)

6.

H Ath 55 M 3 [& (A7 2t iv)

7 B E R @

() 2BUBEBREE @
29 E0 A0 & IR B A3
MmALEB S HREER - 255

(b)

(c)

%B%%ﬂﬁ%%ﬁlﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂimﬂ' 0
BREEMWADE - Sk

B8 - BAABERRIRE - BIE
BELEESE  ROERARX

(BRFE HBERAES R
THEEREE
HAREER 2RD HE AEH
BERBEMRENSTILIEE
HEEELE AR EREUME
B - Mt mAR B AN
i EE R

AEBEZE LIS DR
50 8

Revenue from external customers

REHNEEF U E
2020 2019
—_ 7 — ﬂi _j-LEE
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FHET
3,645,067 2,600,936
403,973 432,222
373,210 418,592
625,863 446,153
5,048,113 3,897,903
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BE-_E-_ZEE+_A=1t—HILEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.
(c) Geographical information (continued)
Information about the Group’s specified

non-current assets by geographical market based
on location of assets:

T (A ati)

BOM (B i i)

b N (A a2 iii)

HAth 55 M 3 [& (A 2 iv)

The PRC (note i)

Europe (note i)

Northern America (note iii)
Other Asian regions (note iv)

Notes:

(i) Included in the PRC segment are revenue from
Hong Kong amounting to HK$2,706,391,000 (2019:
HK$1,864,122,000) and non-current assets from
Hong Kong amounting to HK$64,091,000 (2019:
HK$55,515,000).

(i) Included in Europe segment are revenue from the
Netherlands amounting to HK$392,509,000 (2019:
HK$391,250,000) and non-current assets from the
Netherlands amounting to HK$137,000,000 (2019:
HK$37,175,000).

(iii) Included in Northern America segment are
revenue from the United States of America (the
“USA") amounting to HK$357,757,000 (2019:
HK$370,110,000) and non-current assets from
the USA amounting to HK$3,160,000 (2019:
HK$4,093,000).

(iv) Other Asian regions comprised countries which
generated revenue or with non-current assets that
is individually immaterial to the Group's revenue or
assets.

(v) Specified non-current assets exclude interests in
associates, interests in joint ventures, deferred tax
assets and finance lease receivables.

[
A
|
A

7 B E R @
() HEEHE @

BRASEZEEMELE D
WEDZHNHEFRDEESE

2
2020 2019
—EEHF —E-NF
HK$000 HK$000
FETT FET
81,374 79,879
137,000 37,209
3,160 4,265
4,419 6,478
225,953 127,831

B -

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

TR BREEER)ZEREGRAT

EBGIATE S BN E A
2,706,391,000/ t(= & — A
£ :1,864,122,0005 7T) M &
& B IE Rt B & E /464,091,000
BT (ZF—NF 1 55,515,000/%8
JL) °

I GTABMND 3 kA
392,509,000 L (=T — L :
391,250,000 7T) + 1M 477 B A9 JF
B E E £137,000,00008 7T (=
T — L4 : 37,175,000 7T) °

EMEERBETERDGIAL
% 7 #) # W &= /357,757,000
T (Z & — /L F 370,110,000
BIL) MEBMERBEE
43,160,000 TT(ZZF — L F :
4,093,000 7T) °

3 A 25 M 310 B 0 45 8 4R 2%
REERDAENER - Ll
& B A B 2 A B 2 I
RRBELTEA -

BFEFRBDEETRENEZ
NREMEDZ NEELENE
moBEERBEERBMERE
JE YRR
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. OoHER @

(d) Information about major customers d) BEEFEEFMNER
Included in revenue arising from air freight, XE&L B TR AR B Uk
ocean freight and logistics services are revenue of &?Eﬁﬂiigﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ’iﬁﬁ
HK$595,458,000 (2019: from international express FEE’]HQ £595,458,0007 7T (—
and parcel services of HK$449,721,000) which E-NE - REEBEREREER
arose from sales to the Group’s largest customer. R #%5449,721,00058 7T) » I & &
No other single customers contributed over 10% MmE—FPR_ZE-—NFR_-Z
of the total revenue of the Group for both 2019 “EFERBAREE B K ED
and 2020. The percentage of revenue of the Group 10% ° ?KE)E}E1EZJ§$@W¥
attributable to the largest customer is 11.8% (2019: MEDLAE1.8% (ZE—NF:
11.5%). 11.5%) °

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HA
2020 2019
—ECoEHE —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Interest income on: THEFIEH N B WA

- bank deposits fETTXirA 928 1,505
- loan to an associate — BT RKBERARER - 13

— debt investment at - ?Eﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁiﬁu‘l‘iﬂ’\]
amortised cost BEFEE 108 174
- finance lease receivables — @bE A ERR 453 818

Rental income HalA 3,247 993

Maintenance fee income HEBWA 2,237 3,535

Management fee income EEBRA 4,856 4,486

IT service income BB R WA 698 450

Write down of long outstanding  #fl & &= Hi K 8 & FE 1 3R 7B

payables 1,861 987

Insurance compensation income R & &5 & Uk A - 1,934

Government grants (note) XA 8 Bh (7 22 ) 12,946 292

Sundry income MIEWA 2,816 539

30,150 15,726

160

Note:

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
successfully applied for funding support from the
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund
of HK$10,627,000, set by the HKSAR Government. The
purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to
enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise
be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant,the Group
is required not to make redundancies during the subsidy
period and to spend all the funding on paying wages
to the employees. Remaining portion of the government
grants related to non-Hong Kong government grants with
immaterial individual balances.

Wit - BE_Z-_FTF+_fA=+—HLHF
B AEEEKRNAESFINITHRE
BRZIOBEREESTHEEOMR
BT 85 55 5 810,627,000 7T ©
HHESLHENZEEBRMCEREHY
BXE BoHfZHEINGS - A
RBAUESWEHNEES - REEE
B AEBARHMBHATSHE -
YHFBEMEESANEINERETE -
BRBHBIOBTHYHBERBRTE
BERE BIAEEMEBIEE -
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BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

8. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES 8.

Gain on bargain purchase =EBEESH=

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARE%

Fair value changes of financial ZRFEGAE ﬁéﬁ’\]fﬁﬁﬂ
liabilities at FVTPL BEZATEE

Loss on disposal of property, HEME - J“-ﬁﬁ)%&
plant and equipment HEBE

(Loss) gain on early termination of 2 ATAR ILFAEA X (EE)

lease contracts Fm
Fair value changes of BRAFEFAERZZ
financial asset at FVTPL HMEECATEEY
Fair value changes of investment & & MEQNFEEZSH
properties
Net foreign exchange loss SN 85 48 % B8
Others Hib
9. FINANCE COSTS 9.
Interests on AR EFE
- bank borrowings — |RITER
- lease liabilities —HERRE
- borrowings from immediate — REBEEERRRAZ
holding company & &
—E_TFEW

2019
—_ 7 —_ ﬂi —_= _j-Lf'E
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
752 -
60 -
- (253)
(137) (355)
(346) 202
(70) 51
(297) (112)
(19,579) (2,401)
(115) 205
(19,732) (2,663)
& KA
2020 2019
—E-EF —NF
HK$’000 HK$000
FE T FE T
914 3,742
3,656 3,860
319 -
4,889 7,602
El@ERE(RE)ERAR AR 161
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BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FRIEHBAX
2020 2019
—E-ZF ZTE-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current tax: BV ER #5418 -
- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BENEM 8,154 1,523
— EIT in the PRC — REPEREH 8,935 232
— Netherlands Corporate — WERARIFER
Income Tax 1,362 1,227
- Vietnam Corporate Income Tax = — ﬁ;ﬁ AIFT1E R 1,352 1,430
— Thailand Corporate Income Tax — ZBI QA5 4,510 109
- Malaysia Corporate Income Tax — HRA LRGSR 2,745 2,025
- Canadian Corporate Income Tax — & K AR 310 793
— Other jurisdictions — Efth Rl A= 1,355 1,760
28,723 9,099
Under (over) provision in respect of BEFEEEE TR,
prior years (f@%ﬁgﬁéﬁ)
- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BENEH 182 (1,960)
- EIT in the PRC — REPEMREH - 251
- Other jurisdictions — HM A AR (334) (263)
(152) (1,972)
28,571 7127
Deferred taxation (note 37) IR IB (M 7£37) 1,650 (1,957)
30,221 5,170

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the B S PSR W (B B B = N R

162

estimated assessable profits during both financial years.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

&R 5 M #916.5% 5T & ©

BEMSHEMAH  AEKEEEE
H2EEBLa M i51%8.25% i 28
%’;Eﬁui;ﬁﬂﬁu&mS%?MPL A
BHEMAH T TAEREEETE 2%
%IJWJ%%EE%J it & 16.5%4%&0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R IR M EE

FOR
BE

10.

THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both
years.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law"”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group is taxed at 25% for both
financial years.

Netherlands corporate income tax rates are chargeable at
progressive tax rates. The corporate income tax charge
has been calculated at the tax rate between 16.5% to
25.0% for both financial years.

The corporate income tax in Vietnam is calculated at 20%
of the estimated assessable profit. Additionally, being a
small and medium enterprise, the Vietnamese subsidiary is
entitled to a 30% reduction in corporate income tax for
both financial years, in accordance with the Vietnamese
laws.

The corporate income tax in Thailand is calculated at 20%
of assessable profit for both financial years.

Malaysia corporate income tax is calculated at 24% of
the estimated assessable profit for both financial years.

Income tax expense in Canada comprises federal
corporate income tax and provincial corporate income tax
at 15% and 11.5% respectively for both financial years.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI”) and the Cayman Islands, the Group is
not subject to any income tax in the BVI and the Cayman
Islands.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 37.

“ETFR ARRE(BF)ERBERAR

10.
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20%5F 8 o b s RIBEEIARE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FrIB8 8B X
B BT 5 B B S B R R AT s R e B BR

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the

profit before taxation as follows: N
2020 2019
—E-8E —NF
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET
Profit before taxation B 15 A& A 286,094 33,783
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax  #216.5% &) & /& FI| 15 Bt &
rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) BHR(ZE—N%F:
16.5%) 47,206 5,574
Tax effect of expenses not TNAIMBRAIOE G E
deductible for tax purposes 12,717 10,414
Tax effect of income not taxable HEZEHRWANRET L
for tax purposes (34,418) (13,741)
Tax effect of share of results FE(REtE AR EEM
of associates ik (14) (114)
Tax effect of share of results EHEEPEEED
of joint ventures ?R?rk*’@ (209) (20
Effect on tax exemption granted ERKERCHFE (110) (213
Tax effect of tax losses not RERWMIBEIEN
recognised HiEw & 3,089 5,966
Utilisation of tax losses previously 1 F LA 7 7k #E 32 £
not recognised 7% & 18 (7,047) (2,274)
Over provision in respect of prior &7 & & A5 & &
years (152) (1,972)
Effect of different tax rates of RBEBLINRDERE R KL
group entities operating KB E BN ENF
in jurisdictions other than oA
Hong Kong 4,779 2,467
Withholding tax on undistributed 7K 2k & %Il 9 & 30 7%
earnings 5,016 (1,227)
Others E A (636) 490
Income tax expense for the year ~ F R FTE X 30,221 5,170

164 YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

BH=E

11.

—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived
at after charging (crediting):

Auditors’ remuneration

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Impairment loss on goodwill
Impairment loss on intangible
assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
(included in administrative
expenses)

Allowance for expected credit
losses on trade receivables
recognised

Less: Reversal of allowance for
expected credit losses on trade
receivables

Staff costs
Directors’ emoluments (note 12)
Other staff costs
Staff costs excluding retirement
benefit contributions
Retirement benefit contributions
Equity-settled share-based
payment

Total staff costs

Gain on bargain purchase
Gross rental income from
investment properties
Less: outgoings incurred which
generated rental income

11.

FRaEFE R (GEA)
NHBIE

% D B &
ME- -BERRENE

EREEEFE
R (E B 18
BRVEEREEBR

& VA B
(FFATTH R X)

ERRE SR T ED
HEHEEBRRA

B 5 W R TR Y TR
FEBREFRD

8 T A

BEEMe (HaE12)

Hith B T ak A&

T EIERIKEF HR A
BT pk A&
RAKAR ) 4 5k
LARRRE4E B 2 LARR (9
BEBA A

BT RAMERE

EEREWE
REMEHESWARE

B EEESKRAD
BEEAXH

F i A
2020 2019
—E=FF —ENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FET
6,562 7,114
10,905 9,187
46,938 36,972
— 19,309
— 787
4,164 5,422
9,390 6,417
(617) (559)
8,773 5,858
28,751 3,709
286,371 297,095
19,986 28,698
8,275 5,343
343,383 334,845
(752) -
286 333
(51) (69)
235 264
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BE-_E-_ZEE+_A=1t—HILEE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12. &  THEAZREEM S
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EERTHARZHNS
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section BAE B B QR &6 5£383(1) 1§ A &
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part (BEZSHNEERM A0 2HREN
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about EEWenT:
Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-Z-_ZF+-A=1+T—HLFE
Equity-
Basic Performance settled Retirement
Directors’ salaries and bonus share-based benefit
fees allowances (note 1) payment contributions Total
DL E
HEXHE BREL 2ZURHBA E KR A
Name of director EERZ Exzne ROEE (Het) BERHER e @t

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET FET TELT TER

Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Lam Chun Chin, MERKA

Spencer (“Mr. (L&D

Lam") (note i) (Hiiti) - 258 14,500 - 12 14,770
Mr. Huang Yifeng HRELE

(“Mr. Huang") (33

(note iif) (1 i) = 1,324 3,000 1,557 - 5,881
Non-executive FHTES

directors
Mr. Yu Huijiao WEREE = = = - - -
Mr. Pan Shuimiao BKEEE

(note i) (B i) = - - - - -
Mr. Li Xianjun TEERE

("Mr. Li") (E333)

(note i) (H&tiv) = - 7,500 - - 7,500
Mr. Lin Kai W L& = = = - - -
Independent BYEHT

non-executive E=x

directors
Mr. Li Donghui TRELE 200 = = - - 200
Mr. Xu Junmin HRERLE 200 = = - - 200
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo SEBIH L4

John 200 = = = - 200

600 1,582 25,000 1,557 12 28,751
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AR R IR M EE
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BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12.

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2019

BEE THHEZKREEMES@

EERTHRARN S (@

BE_2-NF+-A=1T—-RHLFE

Basic Retirement
Directors’  salaries and  Director's benefit
fees  allowances quarter  contributions Total
BEXES RRTE T
Name of director BEEf3 BEEHEE KoEE EFEREE 5% BE

HK$000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET

Executive directors HITES

Mr. Lam W& - 281 2,000 14 2,295

Mr. Li (note iv) FEREN ) - 114 700 - 814

Non-executive directors FHTES

Mr. Yu Huijiao mEREE - - - - -

Mr. Su Xiufeng BAEBRLAE - - - - -

Mr. Zhu Rui (note v) KEREM ) - - - - -

Mr. Lin Kai (note v) Wl ok (B aty) - - - - -

Independent non-executive BUFHTEES

directors

Mr. Li Donghui FRERAE 200 - - - 200

Mr. Xu Junmin BEREREE 200 - - _ 200

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John ERRLE 200 - - - 200
600 395 2,700 14 3,709

Note i: The amounts are discretionary bonus which are determined
based on individual performance.

Note ji:  The director was resigned on 1 December 2020.

Note Jjii: The director was appointed on 21 January 2020.

Note iv: The director was re-designated as a non-executive director
on 21 January 2020.

Note v: The director was resigned on 21 January 2020.

Mr. Lam is also the chief executive officer of the Company

for the period from 1 January 2020 to 30 November

2020 and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the chief executive officer.

Kreti: HWEBEARBAXRBREENREBLE

4
Wiiic ZEER-_F-TF+-F—BH#E
£
Wi REEFR-T-TFE-—A-+-AK
BT o
Miaiv: ZEER-E-TF-A-+-BH
Eﬁ%%ﬁ%%
Miv: REEFR-TE-EE-—A_+—A#
T
R-Z_ZF—A—HRE_T_FTF
+—A=tHHH M%Eﬁﬁ$ﬁi
MATHAE HEMe(BEERL3OB

V£ R 1 T B AR A R O -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
HE-T-2F+-A=+-HILFE

— = —=

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND

EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS (continued)

12.

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The emoluments
of the non-executive directors and independent non-
executive directors shown above were for their services
as directors of the Company.

Except Mr. Li agreed to waive remuneration of
HK$1,000,000 (2019: HK$923,000), there was no other
arrangement under which a director or the chief executive
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals included three directors
(2019: one director) whose emoluments were included in
the disclosure above. The emoluments of the remaining
two highest paid individuals (2019: four) for the year
ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Employees
— basic salaries and allowances
— performance bonus
— equity-settled share-based
payment
— retirement benefit
contributions

HEARH o KER

BRI AL

VAR #8 H 2 LA B D
AR

R ARAE I HER

168

BEE THHEZREEME @

EERTHARN S (@

EXRATESEME IR EFERA
NEIRAEEEHE RS ZRF M
S EXFIRFERITEERBIIF
WOTEEM I BRFRELARAE
ERERB M A

Br 2= 50 A R B BE # 811,000,0008 7T
—ZF— L 923,000/ J0) 4h 0 W E
EFERTREHRFARENRRZE W
E(EMFH MO EMmEL -

EEREEFAT
hEEeFALTRE=ZFEE (=2
—NF:—REZ) EeER LEX
B - HE_ZT-_ZTF+_-_HA=1+—H
HFEE S TIMBE(ZE—F:WH)
EERHATHMESWOT

2020 2019
—E-%% —E-hE
HK$'000 HK$000
FE 7 FH T
5,103 5,809

1,590 2,645

1,270 1,185

141 258

8,104 9,897
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AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

12.

13.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Five highest paid individuals (continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000

During the vyears ended 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the directors of the Company or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

DIVIDEND

Final dividend for the year ended HZ_T—NF
31 December 2019 of HK1.0 cent
(2018: HK3.8 cents) per share

(=%

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2020 of HK6.1 cents (2019: HK1.0 cent) per share,
in an aggregate amount of HK$25,422,000 (2019:
HK$4,168,000), has been proposed by the directors
of the Company and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

—E_TFHR EBE

12.

2,000,001/ 7T £2,500,0007% 7T
2,500,001 JT % 3,000,000 7T
4,000,001 7T £4,500,0007% 7T

13.

T-A=+—HLEHFE
H R A B S = R0 A1
— )\ : 3.8/ 1)

BEE THHEZKREEMES@

EERSEALTGE

BEOME

NP TEIGE

2020 2019

— 7 — E 7j-L£'E

No. of employees No. of employees
EEAH EEANH

- 2

REBE-_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HEZ
T— jli-i—fﬂ_-i— BIEFE K&
B ERAARAREETREZRSHA
IS FREMAIRIMAK

SRR SRR RERE -
iR &

2020 2019

— 7 — ﬂE 77‘135
HK$’000 HK$°000
FE T FET
4,168 15,742

RMERRE AR EEHRREZE
—E_EF+_A=+— ElJtiJ*z
RERE B ER61B (=T — N4

BAL) - %@%25225,422,000,%71:(_7
— L 1 4,168,000/8 7T) » HAFR R
EAP&‘FHxﬁﬂiﬁAMMﬁ&E e

E

HIE (BB ERERAF 169
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AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

BE_T-_TF+_A=+—"HLHFE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings

Earnings for the purposes of
basic and diluted earnings
per share (profit for the year
attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company)

Number of shares

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purpose
of basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary
shares on share award plan

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purpose

of diluted earnings per share

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic earnings per share has been adjusted

14. BRER
zozo 2019
—EC_EF —N&F
HK$’000 HK$°000
F#ET FET
ER
M ESREARR EE
BFAEENZ AT
(AR HE B REAG
im/ﬁn*lj)
252,231
B & H
M ESRELRAET B
B8z &R i I &
414,560,000 412,895,452
‘;’THMM%EV@\J
BEETERBETE 2,468,762
M EEREETAEN A
B/ 2 iR hn A S &
417,028,762 412,895,452
FrE SR EARZF B L@ 0 FS

HECSHRER D ERFEBENR

for the shares purchased under share award plan as set MYELTE - M sT46PT L -
out in note 46.

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REME
The Group leases out various offices premises under REBRKEHEELHEZER DY
operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases MeBEREAXN ZEHEREVL
typically run for an initial period of 1 year to 2 years. HEBA—FEMF -
The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as REE W EABE LY EEINER
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are REAZMEHEHNUNEERERESEN
denominated in the respective functional currencies of e EEEETE -  ZSHEGHLTE
group entity. The lease contracts do not contain residual FRSBEEEREEAEAREBPER
value guarantee and lessee’s option to purchase the Wr 00 ) 2 08 B -
property at the end of lease term.
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AR R IR M EE

FOR
BE

15.

THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

At the beginning of the year R F 1)

Fair value changes recognised RIE = AR
in profit or loss NEFEEE

Exchange realignment b 5, 3 B

At the end of the year RER

The Group's investment properties are all situated
outside of Hong Kong as at 31 December 2020 and
31 December 2019. The fair value of these investment
properties have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on the respective dates by RHL
Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group. The directors
of RHL Appraisal Limited are members of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors, and they have appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of
properties in the relevant locations. The fair values of
the investment properties were determined by using the
direct comparison approach with reference to the recent
transaction prices for similar properties as available,
adjusted for differences in the nature, location and
conditions of the subject properties. There has been no
change to the valuation technique during the year.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the highest and best use of the investment properties is
their current use. Key unobservable inputs used in valuing
the investment properties were premium or discount
which the valuer applied to those transaction prices to
take into account some key characteristics of the asset
which is being valued being better or worse than the
asset that was actually sold recently. An increase in the
property age would result in a decrease in the fair value
measurement of the investment properties, and vice
versa. An increase in adjusted transaction prices subject to
property size and property floor level would result in an
increase in the fair value measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

The fair value hierarchy of these investment properties is
categorised into level 3 and there were no transfers into
or out of Level 3 during the year.

15. REWE )

2020 2019
—E-%F —ETNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
6,471 6,742
(297)
419
6,593 6,471

RZE-_TEF+_A=+—HEK_-Z
—hWFE+-_A=1+—8 KEEHKRE
VEHMNRBEBRII - ZZREWHE
MAFEDBREHERNEEBREBRED
BYABERBEMEMKRITHER
MAERARRESBESHAMETHNGEEM
EW o XFTHEEMERARMNE
EEERBNEMEggs AR EE
BR MR BEARETMEMGE
MR - EMEATFTEDELZRET
ESHEUMENOHRSERNERE
LhEET WIRENMEENES -
HWEIRMARR ERMZRAE - FAR - H
BT EED) -

REAREDMENRTER  REY
ENEMRZREEs RRERE
REEMFEEETFERANOERIETL
WARERGEXE - MEES
ERGEXMBARZXELSERINA
ZEERAEEENE THREHZ
BENIECNIHERIENEE -
BERIBEMAEBIREME QN FENE
WM RZINA - BT Y EME LY
EBEMENKRABERIZEN LS
ERRENENRNTHEHFAELT R
LR °

ZEREVENRFERBRRBERSE
=& FAMERE=-FEAZEL -

—EoTFR ABRERE BB EBRERRAA 1M
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AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BE-_E-_ZEE+_A=1t—HILEE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ BMERSZHE
Leasehold Furniture
land and  Computer and Leasehold Motor
buildings equipment equipment improvements  vehicles Total
HELH

kgy BhkRk  REE  AREE gt @it
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
AT FEAT  TET TET  TET  TET

COST OR VALUATION KA fiE

At 1 January 2019 R-E-N5-A-H 20,443 37623 21433 20,205 4,494 104,198
Additions RE - 2763 7,675 2154 649 13,241
Revaluation B 90 - - - - 90
Disposals el - (1,633) (794) (1,395) (1,153) (4,975)
Exchange realignment R AE (484) (339) (324) (118) (34) (1,298)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-A=1-8 20,049 38,415 27.990 20,846 3,956 111,256
Additions AE - 2,580 11,407 2,825 777 17,589
Revaluation Eff (166) - - - - (166)
Acquisition of subsidiaries Y EEFB A E) - 230 101 1,061 1619 301
Disposals e - (4,185) (8,061) (5,758) (205 (18,209)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAF - (44) (32) - - (76)
Exchange realignment EHAE 1,297 731 1,882 429 134 3,615
At 31 December 2020 RZE-_SF+-A=+-H 21,180 371727 33,287 18,545 6,281 117,020
Comprising; B
31 December 2020 “E-ZE+-A=1-H
At cost TG - 31727 33,287 18,545 6,281 95,840
At valuation &HER 21,180 - - - - 21,180
21,180 37727 33,287 18,545 6,281 117,020
Comprising: 2EE
31 December 2019 “E-NE+ZA=1-H
At cost TR ARG - 38415 27,990 20,846 3,956 91,207
At valuation BB 20,049 - - - - 20,049
20,049 38,415 27,990 20,846 3,956 111,256
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—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

BH=E

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2019
Charge for the year
Elimination on revaluation
Eliminated on disposals
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2019
Charge for the year
Elimination on revaluation
Eliminated on disposals
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Disposal of subsidiaries
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2020

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2020

At 31 December 2019

16. V¥ BERXE@®

Leasehold Furniture
land and  Computer and Leasehold Motor
buildings equipment equipment improvements vehicles Total
BELH
kEF: EKRE REE REEE RE @it
HK$000  HKS000 — HKS000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
FE
RZE-h&E—-F-H - 27690 16,389 15,705 3,616 63,400
FREH 524 3714 2,336 2227 386 9,187
EffEHHE (515) - - - - (515)
HE R 3 - (1,410) (644) (1,085) (1,154) (4,293)
ERAR 9) (236) (205) (76) (29) (555)
RZE-AE+-R=1-H - 29,758 17876 16,771 2,819 67,224
FREH 657 3,659 3,341 2,568 680 10,905
BiEEHE (693) - - - - (693)
HEREHE - (4,095) (794) (5,700) (205) (17.942)
WENBLR - 162 86 759 1,42 2,249
HEMBAR - (38) (32) - - (70
A% 36 525 419 (505) 93 568
R-E-EF+-F=1-H - 29971 13,748 13,893 4629 62,241
RAME
R-E-EF+-F=1-H 21,180 7756 19,539 4,652 1,652 54779
RZE-NF+ZA=1-H 20,049 8,657 10,114 4,075 1137 44,032
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16.

174

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line method after taking
into account of their estimated residual values at the
following rates per annum:

Over the term of the lease

20%-33':%

20%-33'5%

5 years or over the term
of the lease if shorter

20%

Leasehold land and buildings
Computer equipment
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles

Fair value measurement of the Group’s
leasehold land and buildings

The Group's leasehold land and buildings were valued
on 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 by RHL
Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group. The directors
of RHL Appraisal Limited are members of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors, and they have appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of
properties in the relevant locations. The fair values of
the leasehold land and buildings were determined by
using the direct comparison approach with reference
to the recent transaction prices for similar properties as
available adjusted for differences in the nature, location
and conditions of the subject properties. There has been
no change to the valuation technigue during the year.

All leasehold land and buildings are situated in the PRC.
In estimating the fair value of the leasehold land and

buildings, the highest and best use of the leasehold land
and buildings is their current use.

16.

ME- BERRXE@®

L mERREEEEHER
i 5 ) 84 1AL 18 DA B 280 BROA T 4 )
AT

fﬂiaiﬁﬁ&@? REHAE

P& “f% 20% 2 33'5%
Wﬂ N g 20% £ 33':%
ﬂ%%@ 54F sk 1% 78 27

(ARmEAE%E)
RE 20%

AEEAETHREEHAFEH
=

AEEHEEL M EREFHEERER
SEHMEEENB IS EREEMNE
Bk FITHEBRBABERATIR_ZEZ
EF+-_A=+—HBAk=ZZFE—NF+=
A=+—B#17 - XF17:¥EEMEB
RARIMES=RATSIZ2MEees
B AEE ER KT BN E R =
THEGMENER HELHWEEF
NFEENE2ENESBUMENE
BRXS5ENEBLEEZET  TIREZ
HEEMED WMEEHKRRIEFOER
FE - FRN - HERMTTEZES) -

FIEHEL M MBFHMRFE -

REFEHEL W REFTHRFER
MELHEREFHNEMBERERS
R&ERE -
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AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s
leasehold land and buildings (continued)

Key unobservable inputs used in valuing the leasehold
land and buildings were premium or discount which
the valuer applied to those transaction prices to take
into account some key characteristics of the asset which
is being valued being better or worse than the asset
that was actually sold recently. An increase in adjusted
transaction prices subject to property size and property
floor level would result in an increase in the fair value
measurement of the investment properties, and vice
versa.

The fair value hierarchy of these leasehold land and
buildings is categorised into level 3 and there were no
transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

If leasehold land and buildings of the Group had not been
revalued, they would have been included on a historical
cost basis at the following amounts:

Cost B
Accumulated depreciation 2 E
Carrying value REE

16.

ME- BERRXE@®

FEEEELHREBFHOFES
B

RIS 3 M2 F & B+ E B
TT&W%A%F%ﬁ@%QM%X
ZERERNER LRI EEENS
TEIZRHEARTENIER LY ERR
HEMEEMNGEXMRSE - /T
MEBRELRMEZBEMENLHER
FEN LB EHREVENRTFE

AELET RZIMA -

ZEMETHREBFORATFERBAR
BRE=H ilﬂqﬁ%ﬁﬁ%:iﬁi)\
DA

WAEBEMNHE L RIEFWMER -
BIE S RBAKRAEEATI 2 EA
B -

2020 2019
—ECEE —NE
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
12,131 12,131
(3,843) (3,497)
8,288 8,634
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

BH=E

17.

176

—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. ERAEEE
Land and Computer Furniture Motor
buildings  equipment & fixture vehicles Total
THRET ElEE GAREE RE hy
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2019 R=B-n%-A-H
Carrying amount BEE 62,309 - 293 677 63,279
As at 1 January 2020 R-Z2-Z2%5-f-8H
Carrying amount REE 46,686 909 213 3,448 51,256
As at 31 December 2020 R=Z-E£+-A=1+-H
Carrying amount BEE 137,708 947 150 2,083 140,888
For the year ended BE-E-NE+tZA=1-H
31 December 2019 LEE
Depreciation charge NEER 34,797 364 80 1,731 36,972
For the year ended B2-2-%%
31 December 2020 TZR=t+-BLFE
Depreciation charge NEER 44,764 310 63 1,801 46,938
2020 2019
—EBC-RF —ET-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Expense relating to short-term HEMHEAENAX
leases 12,060 17,746
Expense relating to leases of BEEEEEME
low-value assets, excluding (TBREREEEERH
short-term leases of ME)BEBENRX
low value assets 364 230
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLBE 57,858 68,862
Additions to right-of-use assets ANNEFREEE 137,087 28,060
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R IR M EE
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BE

17.

THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

For both years, the Group leases various land and
buildings, computer equipment, furniture & fixture and
motor vehicles for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 1 to 10 years, 1 to 4 years,
1 to 5 years and 1 to 5 years respectively (2019: 1 to
10 years, 1 to 4 years, 1 to 5 years and 1 to 5 years
respectively). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
land and buildings, computer equipment, furniture &
fixture and motor vehicles and leases of low-value assets
for computer equipment and furniture & fixture. As at
31 December 2020 and 2019, the portfolio of short-term
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise
a termination option, upon the occurrence of either a
significant event or a significant change in circumstances
that is within the control of the lessee. During the year
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, there is no such
triggering event.

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$165,437,000 (2019:
HK$70,799,000) are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of HK$140,888,000 as at 31 December 2020
(2019: HK$51,256,000). The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

The Group derecognised right-of-use assets of
HK$7,681,000 (2019: HK$2,424,000) and lease liabilities
of HK$7,472,000 (2019: HK$2,497,000) because of early
termination of lease contracts.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities
are set out in notes 34 and 42(b)(iii).

“ETFR ARRE(BF)ERBERAR

17.

FEREEE®@

REAEFERN  AEBRETEENR
EZHEIHEEBT  BREERBE - KM
NEBEAKRAE -HEGHDANIZ—
Z2+FE - —ZMFE —EFRER—F
FFE(ZE-NF:PRKR—ZE+F -
TEBAPR BT 7 78 & 16 3R Ty 3% M Bl A& %
1ih 0 B 4% 6 B 02 89 I (A 16 AR B A&
% o TE 7 M0 B S /T 1 1 BT HEE BA A
RER XEBERBEGHNNEETE
EAARREMITHERE -

EAREERERENEMF A E A
FHREHUAREERE) NFHER
% o

ES

AEET BT RET  BIEE -
BRREERAS TENEE ¥
B4 58 0 20185 LA TR R R B AT S IR
EAEME - N-F-_TER_F—A
F+-A=+—0 EHEGMAE
EXEBNENRER TN EHRE
aaml -

AN BB A B RSB ATE AL
BEANNBREEERNE/LE A&
EeEHIdhEtARmETE Tl
REBESTTERIRERE REZE
—ECEFER_E-NF+_A=F—
BILFE  MEEBHEEEG -

N RZE-EF+-_A=+—8 "
R E 8 E165,437,0008 T (=
— L :70,799,0005% JT) B2 48 B8 {F B
B 140,888,000/ T (ZE— N4 :
51,256,000/ 70) -  E W@ LA~ H
HAABEBENHEEETNERERE
i;qfﬂﬂ%@é‘% cHEBETSHIEEER
PR

AEBEERRAKRIEEAESH™RIE
e R E R R K 7,681,000 T (Z &
— 2,424,000 L) NTHE B &
7,472,0007%8 70 (ZZ — L4 : 2,497,000
BIT) ©

HEEENWHERNHLIMHFBIHRN
Bt 5 34 K2 42(b)(ii) °
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BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

17.

18.

178

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 17. EREEEm@
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group RBE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIE
received rent concessions in the form of a discount on FE - KE B LA B3R 89 2 X pt B BR AR
fixed payments due to severe social distancing and travel BT 0B B S R 17 R 1 75 5 A 38
restriction measures introduced to contain the spread of COVID-194& B 4 &Y IIEH KUCER T
COVID-19. HEeER -
As disclosed in note 2, the Group has early adopted B 2RI R AEBEERFE RN
the Amendment to HKFRS 16, Leases, Covid-19- BEMBEREERB165 (BT AR)H
Related Rent Concessions, and has applied the practical B - Covid-1916## £ &)d - WE H AR
expedient introduced by the Amendment to all eligible SEFAKMOAEEERHEEER
rent concessions received by the Group during the year. JE}EHEZL?—EU Fﬁ %U\EI’J—H‘_I%EE}?i
The amount of rent concessions related to COVID-19 is REBE-ZZE-_TF+_A=+—H1
HK$2,044,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. FE - COVD- 19 EREEA
2,044,000/ 7T
GOODWILL 18. &
Acquisition of  Acquisition of
OTX Logistics Best Loader  Acquisition of
Holland Group Shanghai  Best Loader HK Total
B B OTX Logistics e B8 3 ]
Holland & @ EE LS Best Loader HK @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
note (i) note (i) note (i)
M0 B & i) B & (i)
cosT AR
At 1 January 2019 R-_Z—-AF—F—H 15,251 19,628 145 35,024
Exchange realignment A (@23) (464) - (887)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+_A=+—H 14,828 19,164 145 34,137
Exchange realignment RS 1,360 - - 1,360
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-FF+-A=+—H 16,188 19,164 145 35,497
IMPAIRMENT AE
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-NE—R—H - - - -
Impairment loss in prior year ~ BEFERESE - 19,164 145 19,309
At 31 December 2019 and ZT-NE+ZRA=+-BK
31 December 2020 —;—7¢+ A=1+-—H - 19,164 145 19,309
CARRYING VALUES EREE
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-ZE+-A=+—H 16,188 - - 16,188
At 31 December 2019 -AE+-A=+—8 14,828 - - 14,828
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

18. GOODWILL (continued)

(i)

(ii)

At 31 December 2020, goodwill arose from the
acquisitions of OTX Logistics Holland Group
during the year ended 31 December 2011 which
is engaged in the provision of freight forwarding
services in The Netherlands.

The carrying value of goodwill has been allocated
to the cash generating units (“CGUs”) of OTX
Logistics Holland Group, at the amount of Euro
("EUR") 1,670,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$16,188,000) (2019: EUR1,700,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$14,828,000)), for impairment
testing purpose.

The recoverable amount of the group of CGUs
of OTX Logistics Holland Group have been
determined on the basis of value in use calculation
by management working together with the Valuer.
The value in use calculation uses future cash flows
prepared by management of the Group which are
based on financial budgets covering a 5-year period
(2019: 5-year period) and a pre-tax discount rate
of 13.97% (2019: 15.40%). Cash flows beyond
the 5-year period have been extrapolated using
2% (2019: 3%) growth rate. The key assumptions
are budgeted gross margin based on the past
performance and the Group's expectation for the
market development. Management of the Group
believes that any reasonably possible change in the
key assumptions on which the recoverable amount
is based would not cause the carrying amount
of the group of CGUs to exceed its recoverable
amount.

Best Loader HK and Best Loader Shanghai ceased
their businesses since early 2020. The recoverable
amount of the goodwill of Best Loader HK and
Best Loader Shanghai amounted to Nil and Nil
respectively as at 31 December 2019. As a result,
management of the Group has written down
all goodwill related to Best Loader HK and Best
Loader Shanghai amounted to HK$145,000 and
HK$19,164,000 respectively at 31 December 2019.

18. BEmwm)

(i)

(ii)

RZZE-_ZEF+-_A=+—8"
ﬁﬁﬁﬁiéﬁ’\@iffffﬁ
TZA=+t—HLEFEKEOTX
Logistics Holland % & + E 5 {7 B
NERHEBERERE -

FIEIREEE 9 BT OTX Logistics
Holland & B MY 3R & E A B 1 ([R
TELEM]) - S21,670,0008

(T T )) (B & 72 416,188,000
B)(ZZ — L 1,700,000 8

T (PR & 7 4914,828,0005 7T))
LAVE (B B & A i o

OTX Logistics Holland5E B #)3R &
EEBMARRWE S EE R
EREEHEGEMAEEZRERE
BEEEAEETF - TREEHE
RAREEEEEMGEERNK
ERFHCCE-NLF AFH)
BT EE B R B AT AL IR E13.97%
“ZE— L 1 15.40%) B K kIR
i;/mi °© tﬁﬂiﬁﬁmfﬁibwi
E?;zZ"/ (ZE—NF:3%)EE

Y  TERVAERBAR
iﬁﬁ’ﬁ’ﬁig%ﬂrﬁﬁﬁlﬂm%
BERMNIEE - ASBEEEEMEE
ETZEURODSBENFEFERRK
ZIEMEEAESEETTER
HWeELXEMARNERE®RB
Ero &% -

Best Loader HK X EE 88 —
E_TFYRBEUEEER - K=
T—NHF+-_HA=+—8 " Best
Loader HK X EE /MR E AL
B&BORAENRE - Bt - ®
“E-NFF+-A=1+—8 A&
B 12 2 B MR 3t B2 Best Loader
HKEREE ESHEBENMERE
5 7l /145,000 7T 519,164,000
BRI IR B o
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19.

180

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

COsT

At 1 January 2019
Addition

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2019
Addition
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2020

AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2019
Charge for the year

Impairment loss recognised

for the year
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2019
Charge for the year
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2020

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2020

At 31 December 2019

YTO Express (International] Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

R-E-AE+t-A=1—H
NE
B 5T

RZE-ZF+-A=+—H
BHE LA
R-Z-AF—-F—H
FRTH
AEEERNRESE
R
R-E-AE+=-A=1+-A
ERXH

5
R-Z-ZE+-A=+-H

REE
RZF-FHE+-A=1-H

~AEtZA=t-A

19. BELEE

Computer  Customer
system lists  Trademarks Total
ElZSE EFEE [ @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET THET FHET
2,433 28,698 9,350 40,481
1,435 - - 1,435
(69) (759) - (828)
3,799 27,939 9,350 41,088
- - 19 19
348 2,147 - 2,495
4,147 30,086 9,369 43,602
487 19,474 4,247 24,208
712 3,775 935 5,422
- 787 - 787
(18) (555) - (573)
1,181 23,481 5,182 29,844
966 2,263 935 4,164
181 1,908 - 2,089
2,328 27,652 6,117 36,097
1,819 2,434 3,252 7,505
2,618 4,458 4,168 11,244
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BH=E

19.

20.

—E-EF+_A=t+—"HIEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 19. B EE @)
Intangible assets with finite useful lives represent the AEAFHBRNOELEERWEOTX
carrying amounts of the customer lists arising on the Logistics Holland%[# - Best Loader HK
acquisition of OTX Logistics Holland Group, Best Loader MEB FBMEANEPAEMNERR
HK and Best Loader Shanghai, trademarks purchased from B BMEEBENHELRERAR -
Mr. Lam and computer system.
The above intangible assets are amortised using the FEEEENERERERATE
straight-line method at the following rates per annum: ) 2= 488 45
Computer system 20% EXEES 20%
Customer lists 10%-33"5% BEF&E 10%-33":3%
Trademarks 10% R 10%
Estimated useful lives of the customer lists and EEZENEENGEAFERAEEHE
trademarks have been determined by management of the BAAGERERE MW ITE
Company according to the industrial experiences over the IRES T AR R E R ITEENBET o
revenue expectation and also by reference to the relevant
industrial norm.
Because of the gradual cessation of business operations HAREZ |5 KBest Loader HKIR—ZF
of Best Loader Shanghai and Best Loader HK in 2020, TEEMERECBERLSER  AEFETE
management of the Group assessed that their recoverable BEFGEANESERNETE -
amounts were less than the carrying amounts. Intangible H F9Best Loader HK X E&E G2
assets of HK$787,000 in relation to Best Loader HK and B ET787,00008 LB K E R A
Best Loader Shanghai has been fully impaired.
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. REE NTIHRER
2020 2019
—E-FF —E-hnF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT T T
Cost of investments, unlisted WERKRA - FELT 15,229 14,979
Share of post-acquisition profits — J& {5 U B8 14 3% F1| &
and other comprehensive His 2 E WA
income, net of dividends received (kB Wk &) 285 1,514
Impairment loss recognised BRI EERE (448) (448)
15,066 16,045
—E_TFER BAEREBEB)ERERAA 181
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20.

182

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Particulars of associates at 31 December 2020 and 31

December 2019 are as follows:

Name of entity

ERER

Fashion Care Logistics B.V.

On Time Worldwide Logistics Limited

On Time Worldwide Logistics L.L.C.

On Time Worldwide International Cargo

Services L.L.C.

Yuan Jun International Trading (Hong Kong)

Limited ("Yuan Jun HK")

EHERES (BH)ERL
(TEI#5% 78] (previously known as
VGL Hong Kong Limited) (&1 A

BBNRERAR)

REEREERRARAA

("VGL China")

PERREEREARAA

(TF el

On Time Worldwide Logistics (Private)

Limited

il

On Time Worldwide Logistics Ltd.

ESTREAREE

YTO Global Pty. Ltd.

REERAH

Place/country of
incorporation/
operation
ERRL/
Benk /AR

The Netherlands
wE
Bangladesh
RMAE

The United Arab
Emirates

MauRsaBRE

The United Arab
Emirates

Ml e b RE

Hong Kong

The PRC
RE

Sri Lanka
HEHR

Korea

8

The PRC
i

Australia
R

Class of issued
capital shares
BT

BAE R

Ordinary
LRk
Ordinary
£k

Ordinary
EER

Ordinary
28k

Ordinary

Registered
B

Ordinary
EER

Ordinary
28k

Registered
B

Ordinary
EER

REEE RNTI N R @
RZTE-_ZEF+ A= +*E|&:§

*leJr_ﬂer B

0T

Proportion of
nominal value of
interest held
by the Company
RARGHERN
AE LA

2020 2019
—7—7# :%i_jl¢

33.3% 33.3%
49% 49%
49% 49%
49% 49%

100% 50%

(note a) (note b)
(Hfita) (Hib)
100% 50%
(note a) (note ¢)
(Hita) (Hiic)
40% 40%
48% 48%
= 22.3%
(note d)
(Hfitd)
25% -
(note e)
(K ite)

YTO Express (International] Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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Principal activities

Inactive

LEXH

Provision of freight
forwarding services

RESERERE

Provision of freight
forwarding services

RESERERS

Provision of freight
forward services

RHESEAERS

[nactive

LEXE

Inactive

LEXH

Provision of freight
forwarding services

RESERERS

Provision of freight
forwarding services

RHESEAERS

[nactive

LEXE

Provision of freight
forwarding services

RESERERS
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20.

?

— = —=

gé

F+-_A=1+—HILtFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

(a

On 20 October 2020, 50% of the equity interest of Yuan Jun
HK was acquired by the Group. Following the acquisition,
Yuan Jun HK and VGL China (being the wholly-owned
subsidiary of Yuan Jun HK) become the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group.

The board composition of the associate comprised of 3
directors, in which 1 of the directors was appointed by the
Group and the remaining 2 directors were appointed by the
other independent third party, as such, the Group exercised
significant influence in deciding the associate’s financial and
operating policy, the resolution of which required approval by
simple majority of the board and accordingly accounted for
its interest in Yuan Jun HK as an associate at 31 December
2019.

VGL China is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yuan Jun HK.

1
™ B E

EEMAEER
January 2020.

ERIPH PR AR was disposed of on 20

YTO Global Pty. Ltd. was incorporated on 3 March 2020.
YTO Express Worldwide Limited, a subsidiary of the Group,
owns 25% of entire issued share capital of YTO Global Pty.
Ltd.

A

A

REt&

Wit -

(a

FR BB

NEHRE =)

RZZF_ZFTA-TH AEEKE
B EEBHS0%ME - RUEER - EH
BENBETE(AEBEEN2EH
BREDKBAEENZEMBEAF -

ZHERTMEETENEMIBESA
K ERBESHARELRET Mt
MEEEME - BIUE=TZE EH
It ARG BT R B R R) ) B S R A
ERRITETEERTEN  HRE
RAKSFEEHESHIAE LR
T-NFT_A=T-HHEEHLEER
ElaEENERARINBHERTA -

HPSA

BETEAENEENEENE LA

EEMAEEEEEREERAFTRN
—_E_EHE-F_THEHE -

YTO Global Pty. LA RZTZFF =
R=H#aMK  REEBHKHEB LA
YTO Express Worldwide Limited# &
YTO Global Pty. Ltd. 2 #8217 IR A K
25% ©

AN
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. REFERTNER &
Aggregate financial information of associates ERFEEABERATNNMBERLR
that are not individually material: EC

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$000
FET TET

The Group's share of results of REEERGBEARES

associates 82 694
The Group's share of REBELEMEEE S

other comprehensive income 226 (224)
The Group's share of AEEEEEZEKABE

total comprehensive income 308 470
Aggregate carrying amount of REBREE AR =N

the Group's interests FHEAE

in associates 15,066 16,045
Unrecognised share of losses of associates REREBEBERNTBE

2020 2019

S 2L e i
HK$’000 HK$000
FE 7T FET

The unrecognised share of losses of 4F A 7k 7% 32 & 1
associates for the year RNV 466 507

Reversal of unrecognised share of 1 [El:8 fF F /E & & 2
losses in previous years K FE{h B 18 (26) (270)

Cumulative unrecognised share of FRKRER R+t EL
losses of associates for the year &N A EE 1,744 1,378
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21.

Cost of investments, unlisted
Share of post-acquisition
profits and other comprehensive
income, net of dividends received

Particulars of the joint ventures at 31 December 2020
and 31 December 2019 are as follows:

Place/country of
incorporation/

Name of entity operation
MR,
EREB LeEn% BR

OTX Logistics The Netherlands

I

Rotterdam B.V. I &
On Time Compliance Hong Kong
Services Limited EE

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

ERCENE

Proportion of
nominal value of
interest held
by the Company

Class of issued
capital shares

ANRBEERN
BRITREER T {5 Lk 6
2020 2019
Ordinary 50% 50%
TR
Ordinary 50% 50%
TR

E (BB ZRERA

21. REELENRESR

zozo 2019

Hksvoo HK$000

F# T FHET

WEKA JEE™ 2,831 2,831
JE 1l Uk B8 18 5% B I

H b 2w A

(PR E WA B) 6,955 4,889

9,786 7,720

RZZE-_ZTF+-_A=+—HE=-Z

—h¢+ B=Z+—HWAE X

Principal activities

TEXEHR

Provision of freight
forwarding services

RUETERERS

Inactive

TEXY
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21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 2. REELENERZ@®
Aggregate financial information of the joint ventures that EREFEREEDRERNPBERBEE
are not individually material:
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
The Group's share of results of AEERLEEREER
joint ventures 1,268 1,250
The Group's share of AEEEGEMEE WS
other comprehensive income 798 (190)
The Group's share of REBELEEZEAKABE
total comprehensive income 2,066 1,060
Aggregate carrying amount of AEEREGELERER
the Group’s interests in 7 BR E 42 (A
joint ventures 9,786 7,720
22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 22. BMEHERERINKE
The Group entered into finance lease arrangements as a REBEATLHAAR T RIEFETL
lessor for land and buildings. The average terms of finance %ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%?ﬂ# c FTEI M MR E M E
leases entered into usually range from 4 to 5 years (2019: HERBENTFEHERAF(ZE—AN
from 4 to 5 years). Al interest rates inherent in the leases FUERF) HEMSHAEHNE
are fixed at the contract date over the lease terms. HWBEHET EHBAATE o
The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as ZIK'EIIHITH 5 %2 BE T T FR SN
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are CTHERAERENNEEETES
denominated in the respective functional currencies of E MMEEEEAE HEGHOTESE
group entities. The lease contracts do not contain residual FlerBEER
value guarantee.
186  YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the finance
lease receivables decreased due to the repayment from

lessees.

Finance lease receivables comprise:

Within one year
In more than one year but
not more than two years

Less: unearned finance income

Present value of minimum
lease payment receivables

Analysed as:
Current
Non-current

22.

A E EWERE@®
RBE-_Z-_BFI-A=t+—ALLF
B BAE R KR A A R
o«

Present value

Present value

Interest rates implicit in the above finance leases is 3%

(2019: 3%).

Details of impairment assessment of finance

Minimum of minimum Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments
REAERFK REEENR
BEAEMNH WRE RERENHK MEE
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2020 2019 2019
+—H_+ = +—H_+ M t-A=+-8 +=-A=1+-AH
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
RERERKFERSE:
—FR 8,483 8,388 12,799 12,345
BA—FRTEBAMT
= = 8,521 8,427
8,483 8,388 21,320 20,772
R REE B WA (95) N/A REA (548) N/A 7 i
BEEEMNRELKE
ophie 8,388 8,388 20,772 20,772
iE:
IR 8,388 12,345
E3ep: = 8,427
8,388 20,772
MEEHRENENER3I% (ZE—N
is%)
lease A& W R IER R E TGS

receivables are set out in note 42(b)(ii).

—E_TFHR EBE

AP 5E42(b) i) °
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Trade receivables
Less: allowance for expected credit
losses

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 days to
its trade customers. The following is an ageing analysis of
trade receivables net of allowance for credit losses, based
on the invoice date, which approximates the respective
revenue recognition dates, at the end of each reporting

B 5 WK

o TRERE ﬁ

period:

0-30 days 0ZE 30K
31-60 days £260K
61-90 days 61E90K
91-180 days 91£E180k
Over 180 days B 180K

As at 31 December 2020, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate amount of

CENET) TTE -
RN HE
2019
—B-FF —nF
HK$’000 HK$000
FE T TET
788,936 571,489
(16,124) (10,206)
772,812 561,283
AEBREESEFREHFH30RW

ERM - REREMER  RERE

H (82 % Uy 25 FE 3R

BEMEENESE

WHRBEHNREEBERRBREINZ

AT ¢
2020 2019
—EZEHF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$000
F#E T FET
516,850 321,962
182,501 152,119
54,174 49,488
13,382 31,501
5,905 6,213
772,812 561,283

RZE-_FTF+_A=+—H B=&
%8 /255,962,0008 T (= & — hi
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HK$255,962,000 (2019: HK$239,321,000) which are past
due. Out of the past due balances, HK$11,301,000 (2019:
HK$12,619,000) has been past due 90 days or more and
is not considered as default based on payment history
and long business relationship with those customers. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are
set out in note 42(b)(ii).

239,321,000/% 7o) /9 %1 Bf BR ZE 5T A
AEENESREWHRIEZ G - A4
R - 11,301,000,%7c<f§—j1¢:
12,619,000/ jT) B #1 HI90 K sk LA + -
HIRBENREHEEEZERPHIKA
E¥BHRTTRACEN - AEER
ZEEBUARFTAEERNERD -

B 5 UK IR )R E RT (4 & 15 E R
FT42(b)(ii) °
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AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

23.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, other receivables,
deposits and prepayments are as follows:

Other deposits HEthiz e
Other receivables H fth /B W 5K TB
Contract costs A KK A
Other tax receivables H fth e 7 18
Prepayments SN @
Rental deposits Heke

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables and
rental deposits are set out in note 42(b)(ii).

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2020 relate
to the prepaid freight costs to freight carriers. Contract
costs are recognised as part of “cost of sales” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period
in which revenue from the freight forwarding service is
recognised. There were no capitalised costs recognised
in profit or loss for both 2020 and 2019. There were no
impairments in relation to the costs capitalised for 2020.

The amount of capitalised contract costs is expected to
be recovered within one year.

Transfers of financial assets

The followings are the Group’s trade receivables that were
transferred to banks by factoring those trade receivables
on a full recourse basis. As the Group has not transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of the ownership of
these trade receivables, it recognised the full carrying
amount of the receivables and has recognised the cash
received on the transfer as secured factoring loans (see
note 35).

These trade receivables were carried at amortised cost in
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2019. There is no such amount as at 31
December 2020.

55 B4 R WOR - 2% 0L
REMNRE @
R ERR - BEfh@ERFHE Za2k
AR RIBAT
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FETT
21,359 19,413
3,606 3,619
29,120 -
5,575 4,926
12,723 15,603
9,306 9,636
81,689 53,197

HEfhERZERESIES R ET G
=15 B BT FE42(b)(i) ©

R-TF-_FF+-_A=1—BEERL
E’Ué\%@ﬁiﬁéﬁiﬁﬁLATﬁﬁE’J@%
B - AHRAREERIERS WS
FER HHF'EJEZ EHEERNERRHE
KA —#y - R_F_FTFR_F
—NEREFE  TERNBERZAER
BREKRE -R_Z_TF UEE
B8 B AL R AR B RE

FBHER —FAREMERCELIBA

NTAREEZRTHEREEFBIR
EEEZ%%’%FEH& KT E T ERITHY
ESREWHIE - BRAEE I mEd e
ZEEHRBKAMGENBARE S
[2 B K Bl ¥ - #RH R HE R e U
/T?\IEE'EE@ Iaﬁguu uﬁal&ﬂyiﬁ
SEREERRREER(RME3IS) -

\—E—hF+-A=+—B  %ER
TNt T RS ST P
MBMRR RN « R-E-TH+—
A=+-B tEEEeE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 23.
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)
Carrying amount of transferred assets FrEE & EKREE
Carrying amount of associated liabilities B85 & & Bk Al &
Net position pd=E]
24. CONTRACT ASSETS 24,
Contract assets ERHEE
Arising from performance under EXEEEREXEY
freight forwarding business BETHWEME
Receivables from contracts with FHE MK HREER
customers within the scope of FISHREER E’J%F
HKFRS 15, which are included in & #E U IE
“Trade and other receivables” “I'AFE%&EM
(note 21) FE W FRE |
(K7a£21)

Freight forwarding business

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's
right to consideration for services performed and
not billed because the rights are conditional on the
Group's future performance. The contract assets
are transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional.

There are no contract assets that is expected to be
recovered after one year for both 2020 and 2019.

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are
set out in note 42(b)(ii).

190

EZR _Eh fEWFRIE - ZRE M
2019
—NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
= 50
- (42)
= 8
BHNEE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FE T
46,046 44,863
772,812 561,283
- EHEREEK

BHEEXTZRENAKED
B B R A BR A BR 75 R (B 2
R - Thm A R AR TR
SENARKKRRME - EHME
MR BERER  AHNEERSE
BMEEZRWHIA -

R_Z_ZFR_F-NFMEFE -
MESHEEBRPS/N —FrREMD -

EHREEREFGHHFBEINME
42(b)(ii) °
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AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

B

25.

26.

27.

E-E-_TE+_A=t+-—HIEE

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL

Financed asset at FVTPL represents the investment in a
guoted investment fund which is denominated in United
States dollar (“US$”). The fair value of the investment
fund is determined based on the adjusted quoted
market bid price provided by the counterparty financial
institution.

DEBT INVESTMENT AT AMORTISED COST

As at 31 December 2020, the Group held two unsecured
bonds (2019: one secured bond) with carrying amount of
HK$7,463,000 (2019: HK$7,580,000) denominated in US$
with nominal value of US$963,000 (2019: US$950,000).
The unsecured bonds bear fixed interest rates at 1.36%
and 1.29% (2019: 2.44%) per annum respectively and
matured on 20 January 2021 and 6 February 2021
respectively (2019: 24 January 2020).

Details of impairment assessment of debt investment at
amortised cost are set out in note 42(b)(ii).

AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM (TO) IMMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY/FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES/
LOAN FROM IMMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, the amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries comprise of (i) trade payables balance of
HK$35,744,000 (2019: HK$128,000); and (ii) non-trade
payables balance of HK$110,000 (2019: HK$Nil) which
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2019, the amount due from
immediate holding company and amount due from a
fellow subsidiary were non-trade related, unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2019, the loan from immediate
holding company was non-trade related, unsecured,
interest-bearing at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") plus 1% and repayable on demand.

—ETFR BEEERE(

25.

26.

27.

BAVEFABEZENEREE

BOFEFABGNEBEERAE
TUETEDAENREREREES
MIRE - IWREESNAFESER
BFTUBHRBRANERAENSE
AREEE °

RBFERAGTTENEERE

R-ZE-_ZTF+-_A=+—H A&£H
BB BEEEA7463,00008 T (ZE—H1
F 17,580,000 JT) ) MR 1E £ 1K 7 =
T EEEH(ZE—h&F: —EEKF
&%) HEA963,000ET(ZFE—H
F 1 950,000% JT) - EIKIFEH D F
1#1.36%%1.29% (ZE— N4 : 2.44%)
MEEFERRASE W DRIR T ——
F—A-+HEZZE-—F-AH(Z
E-NF:ZE-FF—A=-+WMH)E
Hﬁo

KA ENERIRENRERT
H BB R B 5E42(b) (i) ©

Eé_g_viJr BE=+—8" J?Eﬁ
AEWBATZEBENE S EMNZ
I8 #% %35,744,000;‘%7%(:%ij$ :
128,000;‘%ﬁ)&(ii)ét%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ
£:110,0008 T (—ZE—NF: TBL)
BRAFEAEERR  RE R jzz;c/\
BE o

n= h¢+ A=+—8" FM&ZE
&TIH“" FERERRZRME R
HIERIEE %*ﬁf‘ﬂ R %Q&
’EBZZZ;J:LEJ\:

R-F-NF+-_A=+—H XAE
%ﬂ*ﬂ“”?ﬂ’]% XS IEE 5 HE - &
B REBRTEARERLS(EE
RITERERE D IM%AAE RARE
K8 &

= ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

27. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM (TO) IMMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY/FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES/
IMMEDIATE HOLDING

LOAN FROM
COMPANY (continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade balances due
to fellow subsidiaries, based on the invoice date at the

end of the reporting period:

0-30 days 0230K

31-60 days 31260
61-90 days 61290k
91-180 days 91£180K
Over 180 days B @180k

28. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM (TO) ASSOCIATES/

LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE

As at 31 December 2020,

related, unsecured,

demand.

The Group allows average credit period of 30 days to its
trade balances due from associates and the balances are
unsecured and interest-free. The following is an ageing
analysis of trade balances due from associates, based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

0-30 days 0E30K

31-60 days 31E60K
61-90 days 61Z290K
91-180 days 91E180k
Over 180 days B i#180K

other than set out
below, amounts due from associates amounting to
HK$8,636,000 (2019: HK$9,804,000) are non-trade
interest-free and repayable on

27.

28.

BRI EEZERATEZRHKH
BATRE REEZEZERAT
HNE @

ATRRBERRRBEZAHOE

SEELE POEEY Y I
2020 2019
= L —Z—nEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE 7 FET
1,915 17

8,731 -
2,634 53
22,362 58

102 -

35,744 128

XBEQATER
RNZZTE-_EE+_A=+—8" K
TX%@?IJ%QI\ JE U B & R R) R

=1
9
[I]}
S
el
Mg 2
j
=
Al

AEEE L E RIS N R B 5 R IR
# ﬂzi’BO?iE’M*EH N
RBB UTARBEMRRIRESR

I B i i 2 ) 5 4 0 R
i -
2020 2019
—e-%F —T-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE 7T FHT
134 90
147 26
279 13
855 93
2,497 1,704
3,912 1,926

192  YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

BE_T-_TF+_A=+—"HLHFE

28. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM (TO) ASSOCIATES/
LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, amounts due to associates
comprise of (i) trade payables balance of HK$1,543,000

(2019: HK$2,030,000), and (ii)

non-trade receivables

balance of HK$371,000 (2019: payables of HK$733,000)
which are non-trade related, interest-free and repayable

on demand.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade balances due
to associates, based on the invoice date at the end of

the reporting period:

0-30 days

31-60 days
61-90 days
91-180 days

As at 31

0&30K

31£260K

61£90K
£180K

December 2019, the loan to an associate,

Yuan Jun HK, amounted to HK$200,000 was unsecured,
repayable on demand and carried interest at 5% per

annum.

29. AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

As at 31

December 2020, amounts due from joint

ventures comprise of (i) trade receivables balance of
HK$3,114,000 (2019: HK$6,876,000), and (ii) non-trade
receivables balance of HK$988,000 (2019: HK$357,000)

which are unsecured,
demand.

interest fee and repayable on

—E_TFHR EBE

28.

29.

W) B NRRIE AT —
BENTER@

:$:$¢+ A=+—8  ENE
ENFIRIEBRENE S ENE IE%%@%
1,543, ooo/amfe\—ni 2030 000
Bt ) IEB 5 E W K IE & &
371,000,%71(_§ ﬂi.ﬁgﬁmlﬁ
733,00087T) - HAEEBSEHE - 28
//\TQK;J:{E}&

ATRRBERRRBEEZZAHOE
NEE RA BB ESRIRE DT

2020 2019

—EC_EF —N&F

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FET

1,050 1,970

479 -

- 60

14 -

1,543 2,030
RZE—NF+-A=+—8" £¥F—
K& N A [E$9E B R E N A200,000

B BREIER AREREER
5% F R K58 -
Bhe8ERRE

7564747¢+ A=+—H Eks&

ELERERBENE S ERFIAL B
3114000;%7%(:? —NF 6876,000
Bor) RG)IEB S E W & IE & &
988,000/.171@2 hEF: 357000;%
o) EAEER 2B RAKRENRE
}go
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BE-_E-_ZEE+_A=1t—HILEE

29. AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES 29. BN &% 1 %¥ FIE @)
(continued)
The Group allows average credit period of 30 days AEERAERUMEEPEEDERE
to its trade balances due from joint ventures and the HEHB0RNEER  EREHRAE
balances are unsecured and interest-free. The following EHEEEE - L TARBRESHARRBIE
is an ageing analysis of trade balances due from joint BEAMEZRERABEEE) D
ventures based on the invoice date which approximates EWEECEBEFERIRER DN
the respective revenue recognition date, at the end of
the reporting period:
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEr
0-30 days 0E30K 2,131 3,199
31-60 days 31E60K 448 906
61-90 days 61E90K 222 1,312
91-180 days 91 180K 313 1,459
Over 180 days B #180K = -
3,114 6,876
30. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS 30. EERRITER
Pledged bank deposits of HK$7,633,000 (2019: 7,633,000 TR E B R ITTF R (=
HK$20,720,000) are pledged as securities in favour of T — A, £ : 20,720,0005 7T) 2 1E A R
banks facilities. The average effective interest rate of TRENERNER RZZT_TF
pledged bank deposits was 0.78% (2019: 1.76%) per TZRA=+—R BEERRITERNF
annum as at 31 December 2020. BHEBRFMNEE078% (ZE—NF:
1.76%) °
31. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 31. VITHEBRRRE
Bank balances as at 31 December 2020 carry interests at RZZEZEF+ A=+ —HA8RT
market rates which range from 0% to 3.5% (2019: 0% HERDAIEN F0%E35% (ZF—h
to 3.5%) per annum. F 0% E35% M MIGFEFNEFTE
Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank BT RITE R R R1T 4 AR R(E T
deposits and bank balances are set out in note 42(b)ii). 1 5 15 B R BT 5 42(b) (i) ©
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BE-_E-_ZEE+_A=1t—HILEE

32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 32. ESRHEMEMNRE
2020 2019
—BOREF —E-hnF
HK$000 HK$000
FET FHET
Trade payables B 5N RIR 365,654 269,772
Other payables and EH b & 5K IE &
other taxes payable E b JE AT B 18 18,716 19,768
Accrued freight expense EETEERX 86,450 65,132
Accrued staff costs BErE T KA 66,846 31,557
Other accrued charges Hib Bz & A 12,256 9,602
Retirement benefits obligation RIKEFE 4,216 4,507
Deposit received and others Bl e Kk EAMm 5,630 5,827
Advance from employees EEBR 360 595
560,128 406,760
Analysed as: PaR i
~ current — e 556,239 402,905
- non-current — B 3,889 3,855
560,128 406,760
The average credit period granted by suppliers is 30 HERKRTHTAEERR30K - F
days. Included in non-current other payables is mainly the MEBEMENRBEEIERRAKENE
retirement benefits obligations. All the trade and other £ - BB S K E M BN FRIE T8 8
payables are expected to be settled within one year. R—FRE&EN -
The following is an ageing analysis, based on invoice date, NTARRBEHARBEREZAHNE
of trade payables at the end of the reporting period: SIENFHIBRRE DT
2020 2019
—E-EF —F-hNF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 60 days 60K A 325,199 256,099
61-180 days 612180k 36,428 10,790
181-365 days 181E 365K 2,116 1,321
More than 1 year 1 1,911 1,562
365,654 269,772
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BE_T-_TF+_A=+—"HLHFE

33. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities

Freight forwarding business

— Billings in advance of performance

- Freight forwarding business

When the Group bills customers before the
completion of service to customers for export
shipment, this will give rise to contract liabilities,
until the full amount of revenue recognised.

The amount of revenue recognised for the year that was
included in the contract liability balance at the beginning
of the period is HK$6,464,000 (2019: HK$Nil).

There are no billings in advance of performance expected
to be recognised as income after more than one year is

for both 2020 and 2019.

34. LEASE LIABILITIES

Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year
In more than one year but
not more than two years
In more than two years but
not more than five years
More than five years

Less: Amounts due for settlement 3§ : —F A4 QE?E’\JJEH
AVTEIN=L ETZE/T\)

within one year (shown
under current liabilities)

Amounts due for settlement
after one year (shown under
non-current liabilities)

The ranges of interest rates are from 1.06% to 9.00%

(2019: 3.00% to 8.00%).

ENEERE:

BeEmEaD

33.

34.

BHNEE

2020 2019
S =L —2—AF
HK$’000 HK$000
FE 7 FET

36,043 6,464

- EEREER
HEOEMNE  BXAEENT
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ?ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ# 1
ﬁi HNEE BEEERDEW
iv\]ﬁﬁ REYIEFAEH B EHK

é%ﬁi,%6,464,000/%75(_2?\ NEF
ZTHEIL) °

RIE_BFR_E—NFMEFE
BMERBYNZEMNFEERERBGE—

FRERBWA -
HEAE
2019
—NFE
HK$000
FET
44,066 47,242
33,723 21,154
37,438 2,403
50,210 -
165,437 70,799
(44,066) (47,242)
121,371 23,557

F = & B N F1.06% £9.00% (= &

— L5 :3.00% £8.00%) °
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BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

35. BANK BORROWINGS 35. RITER
2020 2019
—EC_EF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FE T

Secured: B3 3

- bank overdrafts — RITEX 1,067 -
- bank loans — BITER - 30,523
- factoring loans — REEX - 4?2

1,067 30,565

The borrowings are repayable:

2019
—h4F
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
Bank borrowings: RATHER:
Repayable within one year from BIEHFAEIRENRER
the end of reporting period G ERA R R E
based on original repayment KN EWmE ARG
schedule that contain —FAEER
a repayment on demand
clause = 30,523
Repayable on demand REREE 1,067 42
1,067 30,565
The Group’s bank borrowings carry interest variable to REBRRITERKEBRITHERZE
HIBOR and London Interbank Offered Rate. As at 31 FERMBBITRAEFSIZHE -
December 2020, the effective interest rate is 9.00% RZZEZEF+—A=+— 8- BERF
(2019: effective interest rates range from 1.33% to MEEI00% (ZE—NF: EEMX
5.25%) per annum which expose the Group to cash flow N F1.33%%E5.25%) * ABUREEH# T
interest rate risk. WeRENERR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BE-_E-_ZEE+_A=1t—HILEE

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 36. RIS ZEIffELX EEMNYE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRARNEEREEHAELSABNE
arising from financing activities, including both cash G PRAESAIFRSEY - @
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing BEFELEBEDARERELR
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future KBeREREAEEEERESRER
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated AL EABRETHRESRTENEE -
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
Early COovID-19
At New termination related rent At
1 January leases of lease  Exchange  Dividend Interest  Disposal of  concessions  Financing 31 December
2020 entered  contracts realignment  declared  expense  subsidiaries received  cash flows
L
RZF=8% RERL EE  coviD-19 g
-A-B HIUfE AERN ENRE BERKE ASEx  KWEAR ABREALEE HéRE
HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000  HKS'000 HKS'000
TAr TAr FET FET FET FET BT A A 223
Bank overdrafts (note 35) ST (Ha33) = = = 1 = = = = 1,056 1,067
Bank loans (note 35) T 30,523 = o o o o = o (30,523) =
= New bank loans obtained - - - - - - - - 70,529 -
- Repayment of bank loans = = o o o o = - (101,052 =
Factoring loans (note 35) 82 = = = = = = = (42) =
Loan from immediate
holding company
(note 27) 30,000 o o o o o = o (30,000) =
Amounts due to associates
(note 28) (H#28) 33 - - - - - - - (733) =
Amount due from a felow ~ ER-ZEZ
subsidiary LEPGES = = = = = = - - 10 110
Lease liabilities (note 34) HEEEMWH) 70,799 135,762 (7.472) 8,222 - 3,656 (112) (2,044) (43,374) 165,437
Interest payable TS S = = = = 1233 = = (1,233) =
Dividend paid to equity BREARER
shareholders of the hERS
Company = = = = 4168 = = = (4,168) =
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BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 36. RIS ZEIFIELA EENYHE @
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued)

Early
At New termination At
1 January leases  of lease  Exchange  Dividend Interest ~ Financing 31 December
2019 entered  contracts realignment  declared  expense cash flows 2019
R-ZF—h& RELIE BE RZT-nE
—A—8 FMIUBE HEAY ERAE tskks MEHX HeRE TZA=t-H
(restated)
(=350
HK$'000  HK$'000 — HK$'000  HK$'000 — HK$'000  HK$'000 — HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
Bank overdrafts (note 35)  $R17E X (H1i35) 1,829 - - - - - (1,829) -
Bank loans (note 35) RITER(M 35 111,694 - - - - - 817 30,523
- New bank loans obtained - BTG HRTER - N - - - - 196,533 -
- Repayment of bank loans - EEHRTER - - - - - - (277,704) -
Factoring loans (note 35)  REEF (/37335) 75,518 - - - - - (75476) £
Loan from immediate REEZER
holding company RANER
(note 27) (W27 - - - - - - 30,000 30,000
Amounts due to joint ventures & & & (> ¥ 3118
(note 29) (Hrit29) 175 - - - - - (175) -
Amounts due to associates  [E{TE & 1A 5] 8
(note 28) (Htt28) - - - - - - 733 733
Amount due to a related  ER—K & Hﬁﬁ
company NGF 31 - - - - - (31) -
Lease liabilities (note 34) ~ MEAE (WE%) 93,074 28,060 (2,497) (812) - 3,860 (50,886) 70,799
Interest payable e 8 - - - - - 3,742 (3,742) -
Dividend paid to equity BENARAER
shareholders of the TN
Company - - - - 15,742 - (15,742) -
Dividend paid to [BANE(223) 3
non-controlling interests EaRs - - - - 1,457 - (1,457) -
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37. DEFERRED TAXATION 37. EEERHE
The followings are the major deferred tax assets REAFERBAFERN BEEAEE
(liabilities) recognised and movements thereon during the REMEBEEE(BE)RHEEFHWM T :

current and prior years:

Withholding
Accelerated tax on
tax Intangible Revaluation undistributed
depreciation assets of properties earnings Others Total
mEHE AR
nE EREE EffY¥ BRENS Hity st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2019 R-Z-h&E-A-R (119) (1,753) (2,759) (6,312) 304 (10,639)
Credit to profit or loss T AEH 76 571 28 1,221 61 1957
Charge to other REM2ERENR
comprehensive income - - (54) - - (54)
Exchange realignment Rk 3) 45 65 85 3 195
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+ZA=1+—H (46) (1,137) (2,720 (5,006) 368 (8,541)
Credit (charge) to FABRGRERNR)
profit or loss 126 577 404 (5,016) 2,259 (1,650)
Credit to other HAEM2EYWE
comprehensive income - - 14 - - 14
Exchange realignment i 5 3% 2 (61) (172) (529) (6) (766)
At 31 December 2020 RZEZZF+-A=1+—H 82 (621) (2,474) (10,551) 2,621 (10,943)
For the presentation purposes on the consolidated HREARBRLELNmE 2F
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets EEFBEEEEE)DE - 0B
(liabilities) have been offset. The following is the analysis HMETMS  BREBIELELSHSFNOT
of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting
purposes:
2020 2019
—B-E®HF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Deferred tax assets B IAE E 2,706 392
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIABE (13,649) (8,933)
(10,943) (8,541)
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37. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 37. iE ZE B E @)
At 31 December 2020, the Group had unused tax losses RZE-ZEF+-_A=+—H &AEE

of HK$75,584,000 (2019: HK$62,979,000), available to /) oK B) B 7% 18 /&5 18 /575,584,000 7T

offset against future profits. Deferred tax asset has been —E-hEF: 62,979,000‘75 7o) - Al
recognised if it is probable to utilize the tax losses in ARG F - WRATEEN KRR EA

the future. The unrecognised tax losses will expire in the MIAKE  AEERECHBEE -

following years:

AERBHEBESRNUATFEEE W

2020 2019
—E-ZF E—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
2024 _7_m¢ = 11,564
2026 —E-REF 1,962 26
2034 —E=ZNF - 285
2035 —E=-HF 2,775 8,924
2036 —EZRF 1,529 1,536
Indefinite R A 69,318 40,644
75,584 62,979
As at 31 December 2020, deferred tax liabilities RZE-_FTEF+-A= Jr —B#
have been recognised in respect of the aggregate W BRAAIRD KB B EDHE

amount of undistributed earnings of subsidiaries of
HK$103,836,000 (2019: HK$47,942,000). As at 31
December 2020, the aggregate amount of undistributed
earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised was HK$14,222,000 (2019:
HK$12,253,000). No liability has been recognised in
respect of these temporary differences because the Group
is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that such
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

—E_TFHR EBE

#2103,836,000/%8 T(= & — 1 F:

47942000;’%%)23ELT%1EE1 °o A
TECEFA+ A=+ —H HEAER
FL%RIEELEE’JW% AR /JEEJﬂ
WAL EE 514,222,000 T (ZE— A,
& 12,253,000/%73) AR EE A EE
ﬁ#%ll%@%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁaﬂ’qﬁ%ﬁaﬁ’Eéi%
EZBAETE R BRERER -
TERZSEEHEZERRAAE -
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38. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES IR A R & 14
(@) Share capital (a) B
Number of Share
ordinary shares capital
EBERHEA &
HK$'000
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BRAEEI0B TR Y
Authorised: EE:
At 1 January 2019, RZE-hF—A—H
31 December 2019, 1 January 2020 —E-NF+ZA=+—H
and 31 December 2020 —EZEF¥—-H—H
RZZ-FTE+-_A=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTESBEHEXM:
At 1 January 2019 RZE—NE—HA—H 414,270,000 41,427
Issue of shares upon exercise of equity- RITEABRELE 2 AR MDA
settled share-based payment (note) ERMSRERTRG H7) 2,490,000 249
At 31 December 2019, 1 January 2020 R=FT—hLF+=ZA=+—0"
and 31 December 2020 —E-TF—A—
—ETFEAC 416,760,000 41,676

202

(b)

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
issued 2,490,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each upon
exercise of equity-settled share-based payment. The shares
issued rank pari passu with other shares in issue in all
aspects.

Special reserves

Special reserve comprises (i) the difference
between the nominal amount of 500,000 shares
of the Company amounting to HK$50,000 as
consideration in exchange for the paid up capital
of On Time Worldwide Logistics Limited (“OT BVI")
amounting to HK$389,000 after elimination of
share premium amounting to HK$241,000 as part
of the corporate reorganisation in year ended 31
December 2013; and (i) the difference between
the aggregate net assets value of Citynet Logistics
Worldwide Limited (“Citynet”), On Time Worldwide
Logistics Limited (“OT WW HK"), On Time Shipping
Line Limited ("OT SL HK"”), On Union Management
Limited (“On Union HK”) and On Time Express
Limited (“OT HK"”) amounting to HK$316,029,000
and the aggregate share capital of Citynet, OT WW
HK, OT SL HK, On Union HK and OT HK amounting
to HK$20,520,000 as at 31 March 2014 on which
the Company acquired the entire equity interest in
Citynet, OT WW HK, OT SL HK, On Union HK and
OT HK by issue of 400,000 shares at HK$0.1 each
upon corporate reorganisation.

(b)

YTO Express (International] Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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7% B A R 86172,490,000 0% & AR
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;ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁiﬂﬁa%ﬁﬁﬁ@?ﬁﬁ%
S o

BHEE

HARBHEROVERBE_Z
_EWL_H_Jr HIEFER
AIEAN— o - REHERDE

{E241,0008 L EARBIHEARE
#7500,000 8% % 17 M {B50,0007%
TCE AT ENAYONn Time Worldwide
Logistics Limited ([ %% 3 % @ JE &
BB )% 2 K A389,0008 T &Y
ZR G R RIREKB R AR
(MBEm ) » RERBRYTERA
RI([RERREE] - LiEME
BRAR(EAEMERTE] &
GHEBRERAR(ZBEE]D R
SEBREEARAF(LESR
1) & E ¥ E 4 %316,029,000
BT - LIERIRE S L
EMEBERE THEBRLE
BEER-_E—WNF=ZA=+—H
KNABIBEBEN AelEHIEET
400,000 % = & E{E0.15 T A9 %
UL BB - SLEIRKREE
CEMEBERS TBHEAERL
ERENEZ DB ERRAARE
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38. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(9]

Statutory reserves

Statutory reserve represents general and
development fund reserve required in accordance
with the laws and regulations in the relevant
jurisdictions, including the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC"), the Netherlands and Thailand.

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@

On 30 March 2020, YTO Express Worldwide
Limited (“YTO BVI”), a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with YTO Global Holdings
Limited, pursuant to which YTO Global Holdings
Limited has agreed to sell, and YTO BVI has
agreed to purchase, 45,010,000 ordinary shares
in YTO Courier (Hong Kong) Company Limited
("YTO courier (HK)"), representing the entire issued
shares in YTO Courier (HK), at a consideration
of HK$6,940,000. YTO Courier (HK) is principally
engaged in the provision of international express
and parcel services.

The acquisition of YTO Courier (HK) was accounted
for using acquisition accounting. The excess of the
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired during the acquisition over the total
consideration which was satisfied through cash
consideration was recognised directly in profit or
loss. The fair value of the net identifiable assets
was HK$7,613,000, which was determined by
the directors of the Company with reference to
a valuation performed by an independent valuer,
Asset Appraisal Limited.

38.

39.

B A & 5 8 (@)

(9]

EEE

AERMBEABAAER(BH
MEARAMBE(HED  &H
K B2 B) £ & R SRR E B — MR

RERESHE -

W A B B 2 E

(@

RZZE-_ZTF=ZA=+H AR

RIE#EE2EMBARYTO Express
Worldwide Limited ([YTO BVI]) £
EBERIERERARGIVEE
Bhem o B BIBABIBRIERER
NalBRE m%'ﬁvmswaﬂ

EREEBREGEBARA

(r.i_k, (Ev%lD45moooo
B B @ AR (BD B B & E(F
Be2HXBBTRD REA
6,940,000/8 7T ° ELLL(E‘ )

TENERHERRENRBRR
7% o
Y B Bl A R R (F8) T 2 A W B

SEAAR c TR #RIE
EXRAERKREBHENATER
Wﬁfﬁﬁ@%é(éﬁzﬁiﬁiﬁfﬁizm
REBD B EEFER o A& Al
BEEFENA 3?157%7,613,000,%
T TYHARRERKL2EB Y
HEMPHELEETEBREER
NAFTETHEEETE
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39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

204

(a

YTO Express (International] Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

(continued)

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
recognised at the date of acquisition are as follows:

39.

g 4NN IE )

(a

(&)

RBEEHEINAEBEER
BEAFEMT:

HK$000
FET
Property, plant and equipment Y- BENREZE 761
Intangible assets EmAE 19
Trade receivables B 5 WA 5,559
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HAth UK KT8 ~ #2& K FAf 3108 732
Bank balances and cash RTT %Eﬁ?&ﬁ% 21,509
Trade and other payables 5 N H A ERFRIE (20,967)
Total #Et 7,613
Satisfied by: UT5HRZM:
Cash consideration ReERE (6,940)
Gain on bargain purchase (Note 171) HEBBEW=E ) 673
Cash acquired Fir i B8 3R & 21,509
Cash consideration paid ENBEeRE (6,940)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in BRAWNEBMNBARNE SR
respect of the acquisition of the subsidiary REZEEMHR A FE 14,569

On 20 October 2020, VGL SP. Z.0.0. has agreed
to sell, and On Time Worldwide Logistics Limited
("OT BVI"), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has agreed to purchase 234,000 ordinary
shares in Yuan Jun HK, representing the 50% of the
issued shares in Yuan Jun HK with no consideration.
Yuan Jun HK is inactive as at 31 December 2020.
Following the acquisition, Yuan Jun HK and VGL
China (being the wholly-owned subsidiary of Yuan
Jun HK) ceased to be associates of the Group
and become the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Group.

The acquisition of Yuan Jun HK was accounted
for using acquisition accounting. The excess of the
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired during the acquisition over the fair value of
previously held interest in associate was recognised
directly in profit or loss. The fair value of the net
identifiable assets was HK$158,000.

(b)

m:2:7¢+ﬂ:+a " VGL
SP Z00.BE [ &

jZET;%éSBﬁE/\jOH
T|me Worldwide Logistics Limited
(foT BVIDEREBEEHZEE
234,000 & @A (HHE R EHE
B EEITRME50%) RER
Zo-EHBEBR-_Z_TF+=
RAR=+—HEFEX -REBFE
% BEHEFBELRBEBESEENE
HNEBZZ2EMBRARDTER
ZK;‘%ZH&%%’AT MR RASE
EzzEMBR

WEEEBIS BB ERREBEEE
AR o U BE = I8 PTUCEE AT 3 R
EEREBENDR $1ﬁtﬁj§‘ﬁﬁﬁ#
éﬁéﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁé SHERBEEER
Ta SRIER - AIHRBIEEFED
Wﬁi%ws,ooo,%n °
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39.

40.

THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
ZECEF+ A=t —HILFE
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39. WWEE M B 2 =) ()
Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities recognised at R BB BRI E R A& E
the date of acquisition are as follows: REBEMAFENT:
HK$°000
FET
Trade receivables 2 5 W IR 15
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LB 437
Trade and other payables B 5 & H M EARIE (294)
Total Bt 158
Previously held interest in associate ERIRNEE AR ER (79)
Gain on bargain purchase (Note 11) EEBEWE A1) 79
Cash acquired Fr i B8 3R & 437
Cash consideration paid BERNBEeRE -
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in ERAWENBRARINIRE R
respect of the acquisition of the subsidiary REEEYMHRAFE 437
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 40. HEHMWEB LT

On 1 June 2020, OTX Logistics Canada Limited ("OTX
Canada”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, and Harbour Zone Limited as the selling
shareholder, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a share redemption agreement
(“SRA"), pursuant to which Harbour Zone Limited has
agreed to sell, and, OTX Canada has agreed to redeem,
the 51 common shares in OTX Canada owned by
Harbour Zone Limited, representing 51% of the entire
issued shares in OTX Canada, at the consideration of
CAD513,846 (equivalent to HK$2,918,000), subject to
and in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the SRA. Upon completion, OTX Canada ceased to be
a subsidiary of the Company and a gain on disposal of
HK$375,000 is recorded.

EEEBEEERE(LB ARAAR, an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, was
deregistered on 31 December 2020. A loss on disposal
of HK$315,000 is recorded.

“ETFR ARRE(BF)ERBERAR

R-_E-_FFNA—HB ARFBEE
3E2 B KB A5 OTX Logistics Canada
Limited (OTX Canadal) B2 &K 7 &
% & B A FIHarbour Zone Limited ({E
BERR AR E)ET A I B O 1 (TR
mERHZE] B SRRIRIE
& 157 BE (0] 17 5k A0 I8 3k B A& 14+ Harbour
Zone Limited B B & H & i OTX
Canada 2 [Al & & X {B513,846 50 7t (8
& 52,918,0007% 7T ) EE [B1 Harbour Zone
Limited # & R) OTX Canadafy510% % i@
f% (BROTX Canada® 22 3 17 A% 10 HY
51%) > A5 » OTX Canada T~ B A
ARBIZHBAREEESEHE 2l
375,000 JT

ARalzEEFEEZENBRARREER
REBERE(LEH)BRATNNRZZZ
ZFE+-_A=+—HECH=EM - B E
Z B 18 5315,0008 7T ©
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EXERER

AEEERHLEAURRAEMET
RREEHRBREE ABEBELE
BREAZBRRBRFREAER -

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41.
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

AEEEAEBRRBRERFEBER
B FE353 B MY RT3 (IR R & &
ReEBEYWRARREE ARG EDS
(BREEA - FHERRERN) -

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which includes the bank borrowings disclosed in note 35,
net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising share capital,

206

reserves and retained profits.

The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31

December 2020 and 2019 was as follows:

AEER-_Z_TFER_T-NF+_

A=4+— Emﬁﬁ%ﬁ%@ﬁﬁéﬁ
BRI

2020 2019
BB —N&F
Note HK$'000 HK$000
0Nz FAETT FET
Current liabilities: aHaE:
Trade and other payables %%&Eﬁﬁfﬁm 32 556,239 402,905
Contract liabilities BRNAaE 33 36,043 6,464
Loan from immediate holding XEE&? /N o
company BR 27 — 30,000
Amounts due to associates R RNCIE S 28 1,172 2,763
Amounts due to fellow FE 1 [R) & B B A
subsidiaries KIE 27 35,854 128
Tax liabilities HIEBE 10,957 3,629
Lease liabilities HEARE 34 44,066 47,242
Bank borrowings HRITE X 35 1,067 30,565
685,398 523,696
Non-current liabilities: ERBEE:
Other payables H th fE < 5/ 1B 32 3,889 3,855
Lease liabilities HEBE 34 121,371 23,557
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEEE 37 13,649 8,933
Total debt B85 824,307 560,041
Add: Proposed dividends ho o #KR A B 13 25,422 4,168
Less: Bank balances and cash & : 174 MBS 31 (491,932) (269,008)
Adjusted net debt RARBHFH 357,797 295,201
Total equity MR 865,137 597,113
Less: Proposed dividends R B B 13 (25,422) (4,168)
Adjusted capital RABER 839,715 592,945
Adjusted net debt-to- RABRBEHKFHE
capital ratio = 43% 50%
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41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 41.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a continuous basis taking into account the cost of
capital and the risk associated with the capital. The
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new shares issue and share buy-
back as well as the issue of new debts or redemption of
existing debt.

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 42.

(@) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets ERMEE
Financial asset at FVTPL BEAFEFABED
ERMEE
Financial assets at REHEN ARG ERN
amortised cost EREE

Finance lease receivables

BEME EK A

Financial liabilities ot =K

Financial liabilities at REHE AT 2N
amortised cost SEAaE

Lease liabilities HEas

—E_TFHR EBE

EXERE

ZAN/N T%%if%ﬁéK EE 0 EE
i§$}i$&§$$ﬁﬁﬁﬂ o NEHE
i3 38 SR 247 5 R B B B IR 15
LA&?*?T%M??%‘JZE;@Eﬁﬁﬁi‘%$1@]
HEBEANGE -

ETMITH

() £RMIAEH

2020 2019
= —NF
HKS'000 HK$'000
FET T

896 952
1,338,524 892,296
8,388 20,772
419,998 350,764
165,437 70,799

IR (BB ) 12
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

208

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial asset at FVTPL, debt investment at
amortised cost, finance lease receivables, trade
receivables, other receivables, contract assets,
rental deposits, amount(s) due from/(to) immediate
holding company, fellow subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, bank
borrowings and lease liabilities. These risks include
market risk (including interest rate risk, currency
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
risks associated with these financial instruments and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. Management of the Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(i) Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to finance lease
receivables and lease liabilities. The Group
is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on variable-rate pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and bank
borrowings which carry interest at prevailing
market interest rates.

The Group currently does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. However, management has
closely monitored the interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

42. £@ T B m)

(b)
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

For the purpose of sensitivity analysis, the
variable-rate pledged bank deposits and bank
balances are excluded as the directors of the
Company considered that the interest rate
risk of variable-rate pledged bank deposits
and bank balances are insignificant as the
fluctuation in interest rate is limited. The
sensitivity analysis below has been prepared
based on the exposure to interest rates for
variable-rate bank borrowings and loan from
immediate holding company at the end
of the reporting period and the stipulated
change taking place at the beginning of the
financial years and held constant throughout
the reporting period. A 50 basis point (2019:
50 basis point) increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rate.

If interest rate had been of 50 basis
points higher/lower and all other variables
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit
would decrease/increase by HK$4,000
(2019: HK$253,000) for the year ended 31
December 2020.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the interest rate
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect
the exposure during the year.

Currency risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions
denominated in foreign currencies, hence
exposures to exchange rate fluctuation arise.
Management manages its foreign currency
risk by closely reviewing the movement of
the foreign currency rate and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

£ T Em
(b) £REREEEERBEK@E

()

™ 5 B B (4)
T % 7 2 ()

BREED WT&%E%EE
HWIRITTFE R R IRITA & -
WIER AR EER B
&uﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂfm&ﬁ

4R R R R B E A R
&@E@ﬁFTEK TX
BREESWIBBEREH R
@_ﬁﬁ%ﬁ&X§E§
%“ATWE /) F) 2 &,
&J%W%ﬁifﬁ%
HT%EHE BEHREHA
""""" BEHNEHREE - MEE
EEFAEW%Eﬁmﬂ
REBEBSOEEL (=
— L4 SOfE A 2h) By FH i@
SREKIE AT B YA
%ESET%ZEWﬁW
AT o

ﬂTi%/TﬁwI%
%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ@T ''''''' AR &
BrE  AEEHZ2-ZF—
§¢+:HE+ HItEE
B R B 1% B SR 1
514,000 T (ZE— 45 ¢
253,000/ 7T) °

EEERLS  HREDMN
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 42,
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
(i) Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated financial assets and
financial liabilities (including trade and other
receivables, rental deposits, financial asset at
FVTPL, debt investment at amortised cost,
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, amounts
due from/to associates, amounts due from
joint ventures, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables,
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, lease
liabilities and bank borrowings) other than
the respective group entities’ functional
currencies at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:
Assets EE
us$ ETT
RMB AR
EUR B 7T
Indonesian Rupiah (“IDR")  ENEE([ENEJE D)
Canadian dollar (“CAD") hmgXxdmxl)
Taiwan New Dollar (“TWD") & ([# &%)
Liabilities =R
us$ ETT
RMB AR
EUR B 7T
IDR e &
CAD ot
British pound Sterling g
Malaysian Ringgit BRAELH
TWD ek

210

£ T Em
(b) £REREEEERBEK@E

()

™ % & B2 (80
E¥E R (&)

z ﬁﬁiéﬁ%xﬁ\\ﬂ’]ﬁl\
Eﬂﬁﬁ’]imﬂé?&irﬂi
& E(’?%‘é’%&ﬁf@ﬁéw
WIE - HERE HAT
Bt AB Eﬁ%mﬁé?
?;zfiﬁiﬁ&$.ﬁr§9’]ﬁ%&&
B AR R B R R
H WA ’é%*é’“
R - A ERER

B RTER fEﬂ
BERE %%&E@E‘%H
FROR - RS [R Z M8 A AR
B HERERRITER

4\

REEEEWNT
zozo 2019
—EEF —ET—NF
HK$’000 HK$000
F# T FET
699,584 378,896
37,264 6,223
1,082 1,750
3,917 10,665
- 764
1,796 2,120
166,092 21,032
62,722 16,716
3,735 5,374
3,821 3,074
- 890
935 1,110
- 3,861
- 54,467
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

()

Market risk (continued)
Currency risk (continued)
The carrying amounts of foreign currency
denominated intra-group balances which have
been eliminated in the consolidated financial

statements are as follows:

Amounts due to group entities

Us$ ETT
RMB AR
EUR E

Currency risk sensitivity analysis

The group entities are mainly exposed to the
effect of fluctuation in US$, RMB, EUR and
TWD. The following table details the Group's
sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease
in the functional currency of relevant group
entities against US$, RMB, EUR and TWD.
10% (2019: 10%) is the sensitivity rate used
as it represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates.

The Group’s entities with functional
currency of HK$ do not have significant
foreign currency exposure in relation to net
financial liabilities of HK$463,153,000 (2019:
HK$228,835,000) that are denominated in
the USD as the HK$ is pegged to the USD.

£RTEHm
(b) £REMREEHZERBEKM®m

()

_?_

HK$'000
FE T

™ 5 & B (80
E®m 5 ()

B R &R & B %5 ¥R % A
BIASNEFFENEBAR
A AARREESRIIWT

P 5 B & 8 50 R

2020 2019

43 TN
HK$°000
FET

497 (22,169)
(98,074) (34,566)
(12,642) (3,614)

EXEBEYREEST

EEERBITEATET
AE% BT K F A R
BEEmER - TXRFT
AEBESEHAEEREREA
e EEBHET - AR -
BTk aBEAEREE
10% KR E - EEET
HA AR [E R B RTAT
AHSRRELEAE10% (=
T—NF10%) °

REBEBNEEEAETH
gm%M%EJEMiﬂ
B &% %8463,153,0007 7T
(ZZ— L% :228,835,000
7 TT) I B K SNSRI
BRAB TEETEN -
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

212

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

()

Market risk (continued)
Currency risk (continued)

Currency risk sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation
at the end of each reporting period for a
10% change in foreign currency rates. A
positive (negative) number below indicates
an increase (a decrease) in profit where
the functional currency of relevant group
entities weakens against the US$, RMB, EUR
and TWD. For a 10% strengthening of the
functional currency of relevant group entities,
there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the profit.

Increase (decrease) in the profit

US$ impact EPg-2
RMB impact AREZE
EUR impact BT 2
TWD impact Me¥EE

£ T Em
(b) £REREEHZERBEKM®m

(

_7_

™ 5 & B (80
E®mE 5 (&)
B o EE D ()

BREDITERRERATE
MSNESHERE®RIAER - I
Eﬁ’\ 4 1) K $210%
PEREEH B E T IAHE -

LATE(%)%@‘%TE*HF%E
EmERNEREBRET
ARE BIhk#Hak=
B2 B 1B 0 S B 34 I 2 A0
OBl ) - SHERAEEEREN

e E® T E10% - RIS
SHEHENELESEERD

B/ 4R

H

=
5 F 18 ()
2020 2019
EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FET
6,335 9,051
(11,048) (3,816)
(1,368) (613)
161 (4,434)
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

()

(i)

Market risk (continued)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its
financial assets at FVTPL which are measured
at fair value at the end of the reporting
period.

If the market price of the financial assets
at FVTPL had been 7% higher/lower while
all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s profit for the year ended 31
December 2020 would increase/decrease by
HK$52,000 (2019: HK$56,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at the end of the reporting period,
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which would cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk,
management of the Group has delegated
a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Before
accepting any new customer, the Group
uses an internal credit scoring system to
assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits
and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade
balances individually or based on provision
matrix. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

£ T Em
(b) £REREEHZERBEKM®m

(

(i)

™ 5 & B (80
1B 15 7 5

A58 8 R R 2 F (B3 A
1836 0 % B A 2 TR OB B
BER - RBEHRED
FEE -

Wiz A FEFABENE
BMEEMNTE LA TE
7% MATEEMA #REX
RELE . AXEFEHZE
—E2-FF+=-A=+—H
1EFE A A8 o0,
52,000 L (=& — L5
56,000/ JT) °

FERRRREF G

RIEMR - FHFITREE
Eﬁﬁﬁcﬁﬁﬁﬁlzﬁ‘il%
*Hﬂkféﬂﬁﬁ’] mIEEE
(2 = 2R 8 &7 Eﬁﬁ&ﬂkﬁﬁé
ﬁﬁﬁlJﬁEﬁEﬁE%Z%Eﬂﬁ
EMREE -

AEEERRRERIE
AEBEEEEZR—A
ANE BEEETFEERS
EHMZEE R ESTM
FRFR  AEBERAAD
FEFREGIHEBER
FZEEEERAERFRZ
FEEBRE UYEBFEHER
FEEBENMTHEMNX -
AEENE fEHAh BE 1R
Jr AERFEIRIEETH
Wl B E 7S o b b 0 K
SEREFRHEEEEIR
AR E 5 & E R kiR IR
BiEEEETRERNG -
T ARBEERAERN
SN EERBRE XARE
1K -
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

214

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Other than concentration of credit risk
on liquid funds which are deposited with
several banks with sound credit ratings, debt
investment at amortised cost, finance lease
receivables and amounts due from/loan to
related parties, the Group does not have any
other significant concentration of credit risk.
Trade receivables consist of a large number of
customers spread over different geographical
areas.

Trade receivables, contract assets, finance
lease receivables and trade balances due from
associates and joint ventures

The Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL for these items.
The Group determines the ECL on trade
receivables with significant balances or credit-
impaired individually and the remaining
balance of trade receivables using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance is not further
distinguished between the Group's different
customer bases. For finance lease receivables
and trade balances due from associates and
joint ventures, the Group assessed for the ECL
of these balances individually.

The contract assets have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same type of contracts.
The Group has therefore concluded that
the loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates for
contract assets. The Group assessed the ECL
for contract assets was insignificant and no
loss allowance was recognised.

£ T Em
(b) £REREEHZERBEKM®m

(i)
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Other receivables and rental deposits

The directors of the Company make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables and rental deposits
based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The
directors of the Company believe that there
are no significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition and
the Group provided impairment based on
12m ECL. For the year ended 31 December
2020 and 2019, the Group assessed the ECL
for other receivables and rental deposits were
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was
recognised.

Debt investment at amortised cost

The directors of the Company estimate the
estimated loss rates of debt investment at
amortised cost based on historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking information.
Based on assessment by the directors of the
Company, the loss given default is low and
the directors of the Company considers the
ECL for debt investment is insignificant.

£ T Em
(b) £REREEHZERBEKM®m

(i)

= & & b &% R (B &7k (8)

HtERA BRI 2K E

ARREEREBELE
i BELR - ULE
AEBEEREMNATEMESE
BHEtREHEERGHY
EmERZREBELRESES
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

216

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Non-trade related balances due from
immediate holding company, a fellow
subsidiary, associates and joint ventures and
loan to an associate

The Group regularly monitors the business
performance of the immediate holding
company, the fellow subsidiary, associates
and joint ventures. The Group’s credit risks
in these balances are mitigated through the
value of the assets held by these entities and
the power to participate or jointly control
the relevant activities of these entities. The
directors of the Company believe that there
are no significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition and
the Group provided impairment based on
12m ECL. For the year ended 31 December
2020 and 2019, the Group assessed the ECL
for non-trade related balances due from and
loan to related parties were insignificant and
thus no loss allowance was recognised.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances

The credit risk on pledged bank deposits
and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with
sound credit rating assigned by international
credit-rating agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for pledged bank deposits and bank
balances by reference to information relating
to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies.
Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL
on pledged bank deposits and bank balances
is considered to be insignificant.

42. £@ T B m)
(b) £REREEHZERBEKM®m

(i)
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Internal finance lease receivables/
credit trade balances due from
rating Description associates and joint ventures
ERBUAE AHNEE/
mEHERRRE/
ABEE BUBEARR
BE # B CELENERER
Low risk  The counterparty does not have significant Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
outstanding balances
KRR SHFIUEARERENER 2 HEBEEESR
-~ U REERE
Watch list  The counterparty has significant outstanding  Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
balances
BELE UFHEEEANKREHENER FHEBREEER
U REERE
Doubtful  There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or external
resources
Al &t AT BEIARBENENBREE 2HEHEEESR
2 B B ) 1 B 3R R K i 3 -TAREERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-  Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
impaired
e FEBRPEECEEMNE PHBRBEEER
-EEERE
Write-off ~ There is evidence indicating that the debtor is Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
i 8H BERARPEBARRBREVHRNE A SHELE

KB WD SRR R BT RO

A

A

42. £@ T B m)

(b) £REREEHZERBEKM®m

(i)

Trade receivables/

contract assets/

Fik BEEEBEBZERERAT

= & & b &% R (B &7k (8)

Other
financial
assets

Htt&MEE
12m ECL

1218 A 1 4
EEBR

12m ECL

1218 A 1
EEER

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-
impaired

FHEMEEER
- EREERE

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

FHEMEEER
- REERE

Amount is
written off

BEME SR
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

218

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on
provision matrix and scores and ratings in
the credit reports issued by credit reporting
agencies as at 31 December 2020 within
lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). As at 31
December 2020, debtors credit-impaired of
HK$10,056,000 (2019: HK$5,859,000) were
assessed individually.

Gross carrying amount

Internal credit
rating

AEBEEFR

—&CERER
F_RBREE

Grade 1: Low risk
Grade 2: Watch list

For Grade 1 trade receivables, the estimated
loss rates in the provision matrix take into
account the ageing of trade receivable
balances, the repayment history of the
Group’s customers, current market conditions,
and forward-looking information.

For Grade 2 trade receivables, estimated
loss rates are estimated based on the scores
and ratings in the credit reports issued by
credit reporting agencies, which are adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

FHER
b 3 %
HK$°000

FET

0.1%
1.7%

£ T Em
(b) £REREEHZERBEKM®m

(i)

2020

—ECEF
Average
loss rate

Trade
receivables

BaEY

449,094
329,786

778,880
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2019
—h&F
Average Trade
loss rate receivables

T EE 25N

tE = A
HK$000

FHET

0.1% 254,665
1.3% 310,965
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Gross carrying amount (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Group provided HK$1,721,000 (2019:
HK$2,586,000) impairment allowance for
trade receivables based on the provision
matrix.

The following table shows the movement
in lifetime ECL that has been recognised
for trade receivables under the simplified
approach.

£ T Em
(b) £REREEHZERBEKM®m

As at 1 January 2019 RZZE—-NF
—HA—H
Impairment losses recognised B # 525 (B & 18
Reversal of impairment losses % 3l g, (& /&5 18
(note) (K1 &t)
Amount written off BiiiEe®E
Exchange realignment BE 55 B
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NF
+=A=+—~
Impairment losses recognised & 2 B 1 &5 18
Reversal of impairment losses % [l 38 B /&5 18
(note) (B zt)
Amount written off e R
Exchange realignment B 5, 3 B
As at 31 December 2020 N-E-TfF
+ZRA=+—H

Note:

Impairment losses of HK$617,000 (2019:

HK$559,000) was reversed during the year due
to settlements made by trade debtors.

(i) 1= BB &R E & (E)
A4 AR H 18 (45)
BHE-_ZT-_ZTF+_-A
=+—H JLEF REEIR
BREEERESERK
TE 5T 121,721 oooﬁ%fc(:g
— A% : 2,586,000/ 7T) #
EREE -
TERETESEWHKER
95 A {F, 5 % BB 2 HI TR
HEEBEEZE -
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HEH 2HIEH
EEES  FEEA
(EREERE) (BEERE) @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
1,761 4,805 6,566
2,586 3,831 6,417
- (559) (559)
- (2,144) (2,144)
- (74) (74)
4,347 5,859 10,206
1,721 7,669 9,390
- (617) (617)
- (3,164) (3,164)
- 309 309
6,068 10,056 16,124
it 617,000 T(ZZ— A
4F : 559,000 7T) K
BEBEECRERERD -
THRE S ERERE
wH -

E(BEBR)IZERERA 219



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

£ T Em
(b) £REREEHZERBEKM®m

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

220

policies (continued)

(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) EERRKXRETMGE
(continued)
Gross carrying amount (continued) A8 AR [E] 1B (48)
The Group writes off a trade receivable when EBEH ?@ﬁfﬁﬂ‘%/\f&ﬁé
there is information indicating that the debtor /8% 25 B 7% IR EE B Y[ 50
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no E’JHIJ =W (ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁ“/\ﬁ
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the WEEREDEARERF
debtor has been placed under liquidation or Fr) - 7N 5 B 5E 2 5 B X
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. FRIE ©

(i) Liquidity risk (i) RBELAR
The Group’s liquidity position is monitored FEEEERERIERR
closely by management of the Group. In EERBHESMRR - RE
the management of the liquidity risk, the EnpEsRRAIE K
Group monitors and maintains a level of SEERREFRe IR

cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. Management
monitors the utilisation of bank loans and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings and
advance from related companies as significant

TEBYRERERRE
BEHKE - UEAREET
EERM éﬁ%&ﬁzi‘“fﬁi
//\LE/&@JE}]E;;EB ° E@
%%Eﬁiéfkﬁ’]ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁl%iﬁ*
WiERETEREZLD -

i

STHIEA KB K
E IR 1T 8 BRA K R E

il
%%%*

sources of liquidity during the reporting RAIBRFRIEARBDE ©
period. The Group has available unutilised MBERR - R_ZT_F
borrowing facilities of HK$349,988,000 F+-A=+—H ' K&
(2019: HK$431,575,000) as at 31 December = R KE) RS RE
2020. & /%349,988,000/% (=
= — L £ : 431,575,0007%
TT) ©
The following table details the Group's TRAFVAEEHENTES
remaining contractual maturity for its non- BABENFBENIEHE
derivative financial liabilities. The table has T oo SRR B AN B A A8
been drawn up based on the undiscounted ANFHEFEANEHE
cash flows of financial liabilities and the BERUBBEASRERE -
earliest date on which the Group can be HEMs B8 AKEX
required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings EEBREITER T
with a repayment on demand clause are A FHRHEEE - mTHmiR
included in the earliest time band regardless TREAREREBITHE LR
of the probability of the banks choosing to Ao HMETESRARE
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for WEIH R TR IR B E e E
other non-derivative financial liabilities are HAOHGER  ZEXAEZ
based on the agreed repayment dates. The NFERASBEERE °
table includes both interest and principal cash BEFEREARAFE AR
flows. To the extent that interest flows are BIRSBRNEMERR
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is B3 R R o

derived from the applicable interest rate at
the end of each reporting period.
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AR R IR M EE
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BE_Z_ZTF+_A=+—HILFE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 42. €@ T B um)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) REREEEZRBEK @
policies (continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk (continued) (iii) REBE SR (H)
2020
ZECEf
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BRRBERRS R
- Morethan
Within 1 year but Carrying
1 year or less than ~ more than amount at
on demand 2 years 2 years Total 31 December
R+=AH
—FRy® BB-FE =+-Af
REXR PRWE BBWF At REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Trade and other payables B R E MM HIE 545,671 = 3,889 549,560 549,560
Amounts due to associates  JE{J B & A F] FA 1,172 - - 1,172 1,172
Amounts due to fellow ERRZHBARNE
subsidiaries 35,854 = = 35,854 35,854
Bank borrowings RITER 1,067 = = 1,067 1,067
Lease liabilities HERE 45,579 32,665 95,304 173,548 165,437
629,343 32,665 99,193 761,201 753,090
2019
—ZhEF
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BRARERRE SR
More than
Within 1 year but Carrying
1 year or less than more than amount at
on demand 2 years 2 years Total 31 December
R+=A
—FA%k BA-FA =+—Hf
BREX PRME HBBmME At REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Trade and other payables B5 R EM M HIE 283,453 - 3,855 287,308 287,308
Loan from immediate REHEEERAAN
holding company -E 30,000 - - 30,000 30,000
Amounts due to associates BB & AR B 2,763 - - 2,763 2,763
Amounts due to fellow MEE AR
subsidiaries 128 - - 128 128
Bank borrowings BITEK 30,565 - - 30,565 30,565
Lease liabilities HEAR 48,591 22,029 2,673 73,293 70,799
395,500 22,029 6,528 424,057 421,563
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BH=E

ToEEt-A=t-BILEE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

222

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(iii) Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above as at 31
December 2019 for bank borrowings
comprised term loans from banks with a
repayment on demand clause. The maturity
analysis of the term loans based on agreed
scheduled repayments set out in the loan
agreements is summarised below. The
amounts include interest payments computed
using contractual rates.

Maturity Analysis — Term loans subject to
a repayment on demand clause based on
scheduled repayments

42. £@ T B m)
(b) £REREEHZERBEKM®m

(i) REBESE @R (@

R-E-NF+_A=1—
B AEMERTERS
BMEENHZERERK
HHWITERHER - AR
B R 19 % BT 1 E AT 81IE
RO EHERNIHA S
AR T ZEELH
BREAHONXFTENF
B e

FIHAR — W ES
EER AT R (it ]

EAET)

undiscounted
cash flows
ABEHRE
MEEE
HK$’000
FE T

Carrying
amount

SR &
HK$’000
TET

Less than
6 months
L i6ME A
HK$’000
As at 31 December 2020 WRZ-ZE-ZT 4
+=—A=+—H -
As at 31 December 2019 R _-ZT— N F
+=A=+-A

The amounts included above for variable
interest rate instruments for non-derivative
financial liabilities are subject to change if
changes in variable interest rates differ to
those effective interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.

30,970 30,970 30,523

R LEY TEVE T
KBRS AT -
Al ARSI SR
SENIDHELALE
HEHE -
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BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

(i)  Fair value measurements of the Group’s
financial assets that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are
measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The following table provides
an analysis of financial instruments that are
measured subsequent to initial recognition
at fair value, grouped into Levels 2 and 3
based on the degree to which the fair value
is observable.

Fair value hierarchy as at 31/12/2020

€I HEm
(0 €EMIEAFEE

48 3 1 O DD P (5
BHAEENEBAED
AT ENE

R|ERR - AEELY 2
MEERAFEFE-T
REH N FHERER AT
Bt ENETBR T AN
RUBERRAFEREESR
F_RRE=A o

7

/7‘/‘_7_?¢7L A=+—
H &y 2 FlE Bk

Level 2

ER

HK$'000
TET

Financial asset at FVTPL R A FEFAEBZNERMEE

Total
4ot
HK$000
FET

Quoted investment fund EREREES 896 896

Fair value hierarchy as at 31/12/2019 RZBE-NFfZH=+—
HE) R FEER

Level 2 Total

E, Bt

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAE T FAE T

Financial asset at FVTPL R A F B ABEZNEHEE

Quoted investment fund EREREES 952 952

—EFTER E(BEB)ZERERA 223
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (continued)

Fair value measurements of the Group’s
financial assets that are measured at fair value

on a recurring basis (continued)

The following table gives

information about

how the fair values of these financial assets are
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques

and inputs used).

Financial assets/

financial liability Fair value
LREE/SRAR ATE
2020 2019
ZZoEF ey
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Investment fund classified as FVTPL 896 952
PERERTEAANERHREES

Note:

Fair value Valuation technique(s)

hierarchy  and key input(s)

AYEER TR AHE

Level 2

B/

An increase in the probability-adjusted net asset value

in isolation would result in an increase in the fair value
and vice versa. An increase in discount rate in isolation
would result in a decrease in the fair value and vice

versa.

For the financial assets and financial

basis,

liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring

the directors of the Company consider

that the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their

fair values.

There was no transfer into or out of level 2 and 3

during the year.

224

£ T Em
(0 €EMIAEAFETE@E

<1

REMEEDRQS
%E’Jﬁvaﬂﬁéﬁ’ﬂ

il

\/

%ﬁi
I>>

m ik
=1 g
I =

—~

m

TREHREENAEEZFER
BEXFENEN(RERHA
B i (B £ 17 B A BUR) o

Significant
unobservable input(s)

R R

EATABERALE

Adjusted quoted market  N/A

bid price
BBETHARHEE  TEA
Ha: EBRAOMEREREEEF
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BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

43.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme"”) for all its qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% or
HK$1,500 per month in maximum of relevant payroll costs
to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by
employees.

OT China and eTotal Solution Co. Ltd. (“eTotal China")
are member of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the government of the PRC. The
retirement scheme contributions, which are based on a
certain percentage of the salaries of employees of OT
China and eTotal China, are charged to the profit or
loss in the period to which they relate and represent the
amount of contributions payable by OT China and eTotal
China to the scheme.

The Group also participates in defined contribution
retirement schemes organised by the relevant local
government authorities in other jurisdictions where the
Group operates. Certain employees of the Group eligible
for participating in the retirement schemes are entitled
to retirement benefits from the schemes. The Group is
required to make contributions to the retirement schemes
up to time of retirement of the eligible employees,
excluding those employees who resigned before their
retirements, at a percentage that is specified by the local
governments.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the total
cost charged to profit or loss of HK$19,998,000 (2019:
HK$28,712,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group. As at 31 December 2020 and
31 December 2019, contributions of HK$4,216,000 and
HK$4,507,000 respectively due in respect of the reporting
period had not been paid over to the schemes.

43.

R K R E

AEBRERBEENMAGERERR
MRFIERE RS ([REEFE]) -
BESHEEERAKREEE DMK
B UYERRIFTAZRGNESS -
AEEREEIEXNANS %R HZZ T
A1,5008 TR A2 At Bl R - B
HREREMIELZEMCE -

4 % B [ eTotal Solution Co. Ltd.
(leTotal Chinal) &/ Bl B /i 8 & &9 &
REBBIREFGTEKE o RIKTE
M TR F E P KeTotal Chinalg &
#ﬁiﬂ’]%?ﬁﬂkbﬁ'%’jﬁ/ﬁﬁ’\ﬁfﬁ
HEMEZAMNE IE%LEPI&
eTotal Chinalf& [ 7% 51 &) /E A9 (L 3K -

AEBE T2 EAREELEMEEMA]
AEENAREMBRFEERINTE
BMEXERKASE - AEEAER2H
BARFENETREAEZTE LS
%mﬁWEW°K%IMJA§VE
B(MBRERERETHER RE
Mo BT P51 B 8 mﬂﬁ%ﬁ%¢ﬁ
HREEHRNK -

REBERZ ST EEDNHETER
BE_Z-_ZTF+_-_A=+—HLHFE
518 25 NFNBR A K AN 42 %619,998,0007%8
TT(=ZZF — N5 28,712,000/ 7T) ° i
ZEEFFA=F+—HEZZE—N
F+-A=+—H" »51H4,216,000
78 7T 4,507,000 7T FE 5L ¥R & H fE 4
R R A B BB AT o
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44. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 44, EEEF
The following assets were pledged to secure certain LTEEEHELZR USRI EH
banking facilities and bank borrowings granted to the AAEBEEROE TRTRE RIRTT
Group at the end of the reporting period: CE
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET
Trade receivables 2 5 W IE = 50
Financial asset at FVTPL BRATFEFAEZN SR
BE 896 952
Debt investment at amortised cost 7 # 5 AK ANFF EME KR E 7,463 7,580
Pledged bank deposits EHEFRITHER 7,633 20,720
15,992 29,302
45, LEASES 45. HE
The Group as a lessor AEEEREBEA
The Group leases office and warehouse under operating AEBEREBELEHNERERRERE
leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically E-#BeARM-%EM f% ﬂx?ﬂ =)
run for an initial period of 1 year. None of the leases E - EASEREEHENK -
include variable lease payments.
All of the properties held for rental purposes have FIBEREMERENYERRKIFEH
committed lessees for the next 1 year. BEDAEBEERBEA -
Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as EHAMENREEWHEENRTNOT
follows:
2020 2019
—E-ZF —h4F
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FHET
Within one year —FR 290 154
In the second year B 77 -
367 154
226  YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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46. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS
Share Award Plan

A share award plan was adopted on 17 August 2018
(the “Share Award Plan”). The Share Award Plan is
to recognise and reward the contribution of eligible
participants to the growth and development of the
Group, to give incentives to eligible participants in
order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

The awarded shares will be subscribed for and/or
purchased by an independent trustee (the “Trustee”) from
the open market by utilising the funds to be allocated
by the directors of the Company out of the Company’s
resources. The maximum number of awarded shares to
be subscribed for and/or purchased by the Trustee for the
purpose of the Share Award Plan shall not exceed 5% of
the total number of issued shares as at the beginning of
such financial year.

The Share Award Plan shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing from 17 August 2018 but
may be terminated earlier as determined by the board.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019, the Trustee has not purchased ordinary
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange.

The Company granted 10,400,000 shares to 42 selected
participants on 31 August 2018, which will be vested
30%, 30% and 40% on every anniversary date of the
grant date. 3 selected participants did not accept the
award shares granted pursuant to the award. As such an
aggregate of 9,400,000 award shares were granted and
accepted by the selected participants.

The Share Award Plan shall be vested as follows:

(i) Group level performance target:
The Group achieves an audited consolidated profit
after tax (excluding extraordinary items) in an

amount as prescribed by the board for each of the
years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020.

46. LREGHEZURODRERDN

B
I 17 52 B =T &

P tn B2 By AT & ([RX 0 BB Bhat 8l D ER
—E-N\ENATEBRERA - BN
RBtEScBNRRARERDSAE
ERENEREHEM CABERSH
E RAERZ2BERLTRB UE
BRESAEEFELELERMEL
BRL WRSIGEAAINE - AE#E
AEBE-FTER -

BEBROBEEBLITATIZTEAD
BBERARREZTAARRERT
PEMESRRAFET ST RER, &
BE - XX ARBOERIERER
/i%“ﬂ’]ﬁ@]ﬂxfﬁ?ﬁ%&ﬁTTt
BEBEVHRFERBRDHETRMN A
BE5% e

ety REEtESE — T\ FNA+L
BB+ FHEARR R LR H
AJHEEERERTRL -

@I—7—7¢+ ﬂ + El&—?
—hE+ZA=+— Eiif‘ XFEA
WERBIMBEAR A -

ARARRZZFE—NFNA=Z+—HMH
42F% R *%Eﬁi%ﬁ’tﬂm,maooo%ﬂﬁ
7 ﬁﬂ &ﬁaﬁﬂ@ﬁflﬂia
B30% ~ 30% N40% ° 37E %Eﬁi%
T~ %%*E?Ei%ﬁﬂ%ﬁmﬁﬁbﬁxﬁ °
Itk - & 39,400, ooo&ﬁﬁbﬁﬁfﬁaﬁ%
BRT2EETVEFSES -

B RBEKEBNOT

() SEEEXRRERF:
AEE 2 EEZEEBRBIRET
(TEEFRER)ZEEEFESH
BHE_ZT-)\F —ZT-NFK

—E-EFF_A=F—HILE
FEMMREZEE -
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46.

228

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share Award Plan (continued)

(ii) Personal level performance target

The Selected Participant shall obtain an overall
score of 60 or above for his/her personal level
performance target(s) in respect of the relevant
vesting year in the appraisal conducted by the
chairman of the Company before each of the date
of the publication of the annual results of the
Group for the financial year ended 2018, 2019
and 2020. Personal level performance target is
assessed based on one or more of the indicators
as prescribed by the board.

Details of the share awards granted under the Share
Award Plan are as follows:

46. LREGHEZURODRERDN

NEEE1C )

B% 17 3¢ & 5t &8 (@)

(i) BABEXRBEEE
RABEREBRHEZ_Z—N\F -
- Hi&f7f im%ﬁ
ifzif%ﬁzﬂmaﬁwv

ELMEBNARNTERBNA
Eﬁ %ifﬁZ“/\ﬁﬁfﬁﬁTﬁ
}Eﬁ'LTTZn:F1$¢IHX BREaS
D E 1./\@%@%5%
*Mﬁ%%%ﬁﬁfz—ﬁﬁ%@ﬁﬁ
P 77 B <

BB BT8R A SR B =¥

Number of
share awards
Date of grant granted
ERE
A RAEBEA
Batch 1 — Tranche 1 31 August 2018 570,000
E—#- T—\F
NB=+—H
Batch 1 = Tranche 2 31 August 2018 570,000
—H-F=%5 —T-N\F
NA=+—H
Batch 1 - Tranche 3 31 August 2018 760,000
—-F=%5 z—\F
NBE=+—H
Batch 2 — Tranche 1 31 August 2018 2,250,000
E-_H-F—%n —T-N\F
NA=+—H
Batch 2 — Tranche 2 31 August 2018 2,250,000
F-Ht— —T-N\F
NBE=+—H
Batch 2 — Tranche 3 31 August 2018 3,000,000
T -FE=FHD T-N\F
NA=+—H

YTO Express (International] Holdings

EWT

Fair value

per share

Exercise period award

BERRORE

THES WAYE

HK$

BT

31 August 2019 to 31 August 2028 2.49
-NENAZ+—HZE
ZZ-N\FNA=+—H

31 August 2020 to 31 August 2028 2.57
:g_gi}\ﬂ*ﬂ— Hz
—Z-N\FNAZ=+—R

31 August 2021 to 31 August 2028 2.62
:2:—¢AH_+ Az
ZZ-N\FNA=+—H

31 August 2019 to 31 August 2028 2.43
—E-AFENA=+—-RE
“Z-N\FNA=t—H

31 August 2020 to 31 August 2028 2.52
:g_gi/\ﬂ_ﬂ‘ Hz
ZZ-N\FNA=+—H

31 August 2021 to 31 August 2028 2.58

“E-fN\A=t—-HZE
“Z-N\FNA=t—H
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46. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 46.

UREGEEZURODBERDN

TRANSACTIONS (continued) NE S TC §
Share Award Plan (continued) R 17 3% &b =1 &l ()
The fair value was calculated using the Binomial model. ANFEDERAZBERAELNGTE - KA

The inputs into the model were as follows: B A BB

Weighted average share price HK$3.34 g IR E 3.34% T
Exercise price HK$1 TEME 178 7T
Expected volatility 59.69% SRR 59.69%
Expected life 10 years T8 Hi 5 HA 104
Risk-free rate 2.144% = R b = 2.144%
Expected dividend yield 0.69% TEHA B B 0.69%

TEHR IR Ty 2 AR A B R B E 1
FZBEKBMEE - ZRIUE A
FRHFHERBEEEEMIAIEZE
TERBIRTASZEERENTEFD
M B A ET M T AR E -

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous
4 years. The expected life used in the model has been
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

The following table discloses movements of the
Company’s share awards held by selected participants

during the year:

iﬁﬁ—rﬁ$@

Outstanding Exercised Forfeited Outstanding

at 1/1/2020 during year during year at 31/12/2020

R-E_ZF R-E_2F

—A—BH +=A=+-—H

Option type Bhoggn HARTE RFERATHE REARE e R AT 6
Batch 1 — Tranche 1 F—H-F—HFn = - - -

Batch 1 — Tranche 2 E—H-F_Hn 390,000 = 150,000 240,000
Batch 1 - Tranche 3 E—H-F=HD 520,000 = 200,000 320,000
Batch 2 — Tranche 1 FH-F—n = = = -
Batch 2 — Tranche 2 E_M-F_IH 1,890,000 - 240,000 1,650,000
Batch 2 — Tranche 3 —#-F=%n 2,520,000 = 320,000 2,200,000
5,320,000 = 910,000 4,410,000
Exercisable at the end ~ RERAITHE
of the year 1,890,000
Weighted average MEFATERE
exercisable price HK$1 &t N/ATER HK$1 & T HK$1 B T
—EREW EEEB)ERERA 229
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46. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 46. UREZFEZUROAEERDN

230

TRANSACTIONS (continued) TR 5 @
Share Award Plan (continued) B% 17 3¢ & 5t &8 (@)
Outstanding Exercised Forfeited Outstanding
at 1/1/2019 during year during year  at 31/12/2019
R-ZZE—NF RZZE—NF
—H—H +-A=+—H
Option type [t g el HMATE RERTE REAKRE H AR AT
Batch 1 — Tranche 1 E—H-F 8D 570,000 570,000 - -
Batch 1 — Tranche 2 E—H-F-Hn 570,000 - 180,000 390,000
Batch 1 — Tranche 3 E-—#H-F=n 760,000 - 240,000 520,000
Batch 2 - Tranche 1 EM-F—%H 2,250,000 1,920,000 330,000 -
Batch 2 — Tranche 2 E-H-F-_Hn 2,250,000 - 360,000 1,890,000
Batch 2 — Tranche 3 EHM-FE=Fn 3,000,000 - 480,000 2,520,000
9,400,000 2,490,000 1,590,000 5,320,000
Exercisable at the end ~ RFERATITE
of the year -
Weighted average MHEFHITEE
exercisable price HK$1 7B T HK$1 7B T HK$1 & T HK$1 7 7T

In respect of the share awards exercised during the year
ended 31 December 2019, the weighted average share
price at the dates of exercise was HK$1.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$9,832,000
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
HK$5,343,000) in relation to share awards granted by the
Company based on the number of share awards granted
expected to vest. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of share awards
that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
the profit and loss over the remaining vesting period, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share awards reserve.

RREBE_T-NAF+_A=t—AL
FEATENRMDERNS - RITE
HEIZ g FHBRERIETT °

BHE-_Z-_ZF+-_A=+—HL1F
E REBHEEBENER RGNS
BEE  AEBERARFRLHKMD
4% 8 1% 529,832,000/ ST 42 5 = (=
T — AL 1 5,343,000/8 7T) - Rk EH
KO AEEEBITESEHEREERN
RSB EL R - BETRAE
FErMEE(NB)Za T HEBHNE
SR WHBRHEEFEEELIEE
%g °

n

OH]
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47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 47.

During the year, the Group has entered into the following
related party transactions:

Fellow subsidiaries ERKERR
— Freight income received

- International express and parcel — BB R RIE &
income received BREREA

- Freight charge paid - BEfEE

— International express and parcel — BEfEERRIER
expenses paid BREMX

— Charter and related fees and cargo
terminal expenses paid R EEMHAX

- Rental expenses paid - BENESAX

— Interest expenses paid — BENFAMERX

- Trademark and domain fee paid — ZNEEREZER
Associates RN

- Freight income received — BlEEBRA

- Freight charge paid - BftE®

- Management fee income received — DUWEEEIRA

— Loan interest income received — BERF B R A
Joint venture BELHE

— Freight income received - BREBRA

- Freight charge paid - BNE#E

— Recharge income received — BWEE
Related company controlled by  H#EEE4IH

Mr. Lam 22 N

- Expense related to short-term - BEHEEHEEDN

leases (note 1) M (B at1)

Related company controlled by i Hartmut Ludwig

Mr. Hartmut Ludwig Haenisch Haenisch 5t £ = F 19
(note 2) BB AR (A7 i+2)
- Freight income received - BHEBKA

Note 1. During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019, the Group entered into several new lease
agreements for the use of office premises with the related
company for 1 year with monthly rent of HK$145,000. Mr.

Lam, a prior director, has resigned in December 2020.

Note 2: A company in which Mr. Hartmut Ludwig Haenisch, a prior
key management personnel of the Company and resigned

in 2020, has a controlling interest.

- ENERRARER

BEARS
G AEETAELTHRETZS
2020 2019
—E-%F —T-hF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FETT FETT
3,260 5,515
8,072 221
34,624 39 863
15,659 1,807
26,862 _
1,124 _
319 _
2 _
3,827 2,568
39,860 37,088
2,633 2,419
- 13
26,620 25,339
7,677 3,051
1,392 _
1,560 1,740
- 393

Bt et -

etz -

REBEZZT-TF+-A=+—AK
—ET-NF+—A=+—RHLFE"
REBEERNAYE LB QA
FNEOHAERE B —F -
TS AME H145,0008 T » AIE BEM
EEBR_ZE-_ZTF+-HEHIT -

REER-ZZE_ZFHEHEAF
Al & 2% 1 E B B Hartmut  Ludwig
HaenischE = A1 R Em 0 2D
7 o
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47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 47. EBEf 5 X 5 ()

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other FRN ARAREERASEEHIEIEER
members of key management of the Group during the EBEMAEFIMAT :

year is as follows:

2020 2019
—ECEE —T—hF
HK$'000 HK$000
FE T FET

Staff costs excluding equity-settled 8 T Ak A (1~ 8238 LA B

share-based payment and BEE AR
retirement benefit contributions EWHONHER 17F
& A 4 50 8,486 15,141
Equity-settled share-based payment AR E 4 & 2 5D A
E R 1,270 1,185
Retirement benefit contributions R RE A 5K 157 303
9,913 16,629
The remuneration of key management is determined FTEEREFM L2 EEAARER
having regard to the performance of individuals and 582 f?tfzm °

market trends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BEZT-TFFTA=+T—HLEFE

48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 48. &R MR F
THE COMPANY

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment WM BELRHZE 1,106 1,755
Right-of-use assets EREEE 724 1,964
Interest in a subsidiary (note i) R—KMERFH =
(Bt &t i) 683 683
Amounts due from subsidiaries il NS B S 492,327 497,427
494,840 501,829
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables and prepayments £ ] f& U 5% 18 &
NG/ 1,173 1,419
Amount due from immediate fu&ﬁ&% [ /NG
holding company RIE = 1,245
Bank balances and cash ﬁEﬁ EHERE 3,488 2,981
4,661 5,645
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables H b & {4 5K 18 19,747 6,379
Amount due to an associate FE RN — B A ) EOE 13 13
Lease liabilities MEAE
- due within one year - —F KRNI H 806 1,327
Loan from immediate holding REEEERARN
company B = 30,000
20,566 37,719
Net current liabilities RBEEFE (15,905) (32,074)
Total assets less current liabilities EEZERABEE 478,935 469,755
Non-current liability RBEE
Lease liabilities — due after one year & &E - —F & 25 = 807
478,935 468,948
Capital and reserves (note i) BEARRGEE (N 7il)
Share capital N 41,676 41,676
Reserves & 437,259 427,272
478,935 468,948
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 48.
THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes:

()

(ii)

TET-A=T—AILFE

HE_ZT %

The investment represents unlisted investment cost on 100%
equity interest in OT BVI and YTO Express Worldwide Limited

("YTO BVI").

Movement of the Company'’s reserves

At 1 January 2019

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment
(note 46)

Issue of shares upon exercise
of equity-settled share-based
payment

Dividend paid to shareholders
(note 13)

At 31 December 2019

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment
(note 46)

Dividend paid to shareholders
(note 13)

At 31 December 2020

F R A K 2 E
LN =L

BRUREZE 2
AR A ERER
3R (T it 46)
RITEURELEE
AR B EREN
RSB ITRR (D
ENRERE
(Hfat13)

RZZ—NF
+t=A=+—8
FREFR2E
WA e

o 4

HE TR LA B

=l

z

VAR 7 7% 22 B 1Y
3R (KT i246)
BT BR S
(Hf&t13)

-

[
11 4y

A

¢
+—8

QT B AR R & @)

(i) ZREEREERBELZHEERYTO
Express Worldwide Limited (['YTO BVIJ)
B100% R K IE ETT IR G R A -

i) ARG

Share

Share  Treasury awards Retained
premium stock reserve profits Total

R 13 BEF g RE
e R RBEREE i A #at
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TFET FET TET TFET
420,916 (6,563) 738 6,942 422,033
- - - 13,397 13,397
- - 5,343 - 5,343
8,322 - (6,081) - 2,241
- - - (15,742) (15,742)
429,238 (6,563) - 4,597 427,272
- - - 4,323 4,323
- - 9,832 - 9,832
- - - (4,168) (4,168)
429,238 (6,563) 9,832 4,752 437,259
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BE-_E-_ZEE+_A=1t—HILEE

49.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

49. MIBARFHE

Particulars of subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 and
31 December 2019 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

MEAFAE

Gold Forum International Limited

Harbour Zone Limited

Jumbo Channel Limited

OT BVI

+

KERBREIHES

i

YTO BVI

On Time Worldwide Logistics
Cambodia Co., Ltd.

OTX Logistics Canada Limited

Citynet

B

YTO International eTotal Solution
Limited
(previously known as eTotal
Solution Limited) (note i)
(% A1 78 BeTotal Solution
Limited) (4 #ii)

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

FMEL/ ERTRAR

Ryt ERAH BA/ERER

The BVI US$50,000
3 May 2011

ERARES 50,0005 ¢
“T-—%RA=H

The BVI US$50,000
4 January 2011

ERARES 50,0005 7T
“Z-—F—-AMmA

The BVI US$50,000
4 May 2011

ABRRES 50,000 7T
“E-—£RANmA

The BVI US$50,000
3 March 2011

AERRES 50,0005 1o
—E-—-4=f=H

The BVI US$50,000
19 March 2018

KBRS 50,0005 ¢
“Z-\§=At+NH

Cambodia KHR4,000,000
4 November 2010

RER 4,000,000
“Z-ZF+-AWmA REERA

Canada CAD10
15 April 2011

nex 10M7T
“Z2-—-FMWA+EA

Hong Kong HK$2
17 September 1999

B 2B
“AANENATER

Hong Kong HK$3,000,000
9 June 2015

) 3,000,000/ 7
ZE-RFERANA

RNZE-EE+_A=+—RAKR=Z
“AFFTZA=StT—R - WBATFE

mT

Equity interest attributable
to the Group

AEEELRE

2020 2019
-t 2l —T-NF
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
= 51%

(note i)

(B &)
100% 100%
100% 100%
T TR BB

Place of
operation

ey

Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong

BE

Hong Kong

Bk

Hong Kong

BB

Hong Kong

o

Cambodia

REFE

Canada

JIEDN

Hong Kong

Bk

Hong Kong

BE

SR (B BR) 2 BB R A A

Principal activities

IREH

Inactive

TEXH

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Provision of freight forwarding
services

RETERERE

Provision of freight forwarding
services

REEERERE

General sales agency

HEBKE

Provision of international
express and parcel services
and investment holding

REABRER
BERRBUR
REER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BE-_E-_ZEE+_A=1t—HILEE

49. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 49. [iE QT 1B @

Place and date

Issued and fully

of incorporation/ paid share capital/ Equity interest attributable  Place of
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital to the Group operation Principal activities
HRAL/ BRARAR
WEARER BRIt RAH BA/ZHER REEESRE BEwH TEEH
2020 2019
sl T \F
On Time Aviation Services Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Hong Kong Contract logistics and
Limited 11 April 2011 investment holding
FERMBHEERAA B 10,0003 7T B BRPRRRELER
I
OT HK Hong Kong HK$20,000,000 100% 100%  Hong Kong Provision of freight forwarding
18 July 1995 services and investment
holding
TERR B 20,000,000 7T £ REGERERSB
—“AAEELATNE REEER
On Line Service Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Hong Kong Investment holding
17 December 2009
BiE 10,0007% 70 BiE RARRK
ZETAESZATLA
OT SL HK Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Hong Kong Issuing of bills of lading
15 September 2004
EEMEEE ¥ 10,0007 7 ¥ HERE
ZZZEEAATEA
On Time Worldwide Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 75% 75%  Hong Kong Provision of freight forwarding
12 July 2011 services
¥ 10,0007 7 ¥ RESERERE
“E-—ftA+CH
OT WW HK Hong Kong HK$500,000 100% 100%  Hong Kong Provision of warehousing
30 April 2004 services and international
express and parcel services
TERREE B 500,000/ 7T 3G REEHBBEARABRRE
—ZTNEMA=TH RBERY
On Union HK Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  The PRC Properties holding
8 December 2003
THER &b 10,000/ 7 HE ESSE]
ZET=F+ZANAH
On Time International Logistics ~ India INR33,146,690 100% 100% India Provision of freight forwarding
Private Limited 12 January 2010 services
HE 33,146,690 HE RESERERE
“Z-ZF-B+ZH HEE

YTO Express (International] Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BHE—_Z-_FTF+-_A=+—HL=FE
49. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 49. [iE QT 1B @

Place and date Issued and fully

of incorporation/ paid share capital/ Equity interest attributable  Place of
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital to the Group operation Principal activities
gL/ BEIRAR
WEARER RItERAH BA/GERER AEBEARE BELH TEEH
2020 2019
sl T \F
PT. On Time Express Indonesia US$200,000 95% 95%  Indonesia Provision of freight
22 February 2000 forwarding services
HE 200,000% 7T HE RUGERERE
ZETTE-AZTZH
On Time Worldwide Logistics Ltd. ~ Japan JPY20,000,000 100% 100%  Japan Provision of freight
28 November 2011 forwarding brokerage
services
BA 20,000,000A & BA REEERBELRYE
“E-—%+-A-tN\R
City Net Global Cargo Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia RM100 100% 100%  Malaysia Inactive
2 April 2012
BRAS 1005 % FRAS TEXHK
“E-ZENMAZA
On Time International Malaysia RM230,000 60% 60%  Malaysia Inactive
Logistics Sdn. Bhd. 4 December 2002 (note iii) (note iif)
("OT Int'l Malaysia") BRAED 230,0005 % (H Eiii) (Fritin) BXRAD EEER
“2E-F+-AWA
On Time Worldwide Logistics Malaysia RM1,500,000 100% 100%  Malaysia Provision of freight
Sdn. Bhd. 25 November 2004 forwarding services
FRAS 1,500,00055 # BRAS RUGERERB
—ZEMEF
+-A=+%H
FEAREE(LB)ERRF®  The PRC RMB12,000,000 100% 100%  The PRC Provision of freight
OT China* 10 October 2004 forwarding services and
investment holding
HE ARE HE RUEERERBR
“ZZME+TATA 12,000,0007C REZR
FIRESEERETAR The PRC - 100% 100%  The PRC Provision of international
BERARe® 26 July 2016 express and parcel
eTotal China* services
HE HE REBERRER
ZE-RE AERB
tA=txE
On Time Worldwide Logistics Singapore SGD110,000 100% 100%  Singapore Provision of freight
Pte. Ltd. 22 June 2006 forwarding services
H % 110,000%7 M 7T # % RUGERERB
ZREIRE
~AAZTZA
—E_TFH AEBRREEB)ERBER AR 237



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BE-_E-_ZEE+_A=1t—HILEE

49. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

MERREE

OTX Logistics Korlatolt
Felelosségii Tarsasag

Total Chain Limited

Best Loader HK

RERREERE(LE)
BRARe
Best Loader Shanghai*

On-Time Worldwide
Logistics Limited
("OT Thailand")
(Ix#RE])

OTX Logistics Holland

OTX Solutions Holland

Westpoort Recon B.V.

OTX Logistics Inc.

238

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

FAMAEL/ ERTREBRE

B 3L 4 B & A & B/ FMEXR

Hungary HUF3,000,000
15 February 2017

EERl 3,000,000
“F-+t45ZA+tHA 7 F &

Hong Kong HK$10,000
17 March 2017

) 10,000/ 7T
ZE-tFZAttH

Hong Kong HK$1,000,000
29 July 2014

2 1,000,000 7T
ZE-mELAZFNE

The PRC RMB5,000,000
19 May 2016

HE AR #5,000,0007T
“E-R"FRAtTNA

Thailand THB10,000,000
4 January 2006

gl 10,000,000 £k
ZZS R F-AlA

The Netherlands EUR86,300
28 May 1998

wH 86,3008 7T
“-AMNERAZTNE

The Netherlands EUR18,000
19 April 2006

Wl 18,0008 7
“EE FNMA+AA

The Netherlands EUR18,151
17 December 1993

Wl 18,1518 7T
“AWAZF+ZAT+tR

USA US$2,000,000
1 October 2011

E3E 2,000,000 7
“E-—%+A-H

49. B AT FH B um

Equity interest attributable
to the Group

AEEEERE
2020 2019
Al — T NF
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
N/A 100%
(note iv)
TEA
(# &Eiv)
82.5% 82.5%
(note v) (note v)
(B &2v) (W)
100% 100%
80% 80%
100% 100%
100% 100%
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Place of
operation

Reny

Hungary

5 #

Hong Kong

Bk

Hong Kong

Bk

The PRC

FE

Thailand

E3E

The Netherlands

i
-
i

It

The Netherlands

"

oL

i

The Netherlands

Principal activities

TEER

Provision of freight
forwarding services
REEBERERE

Provision of international
express and parcel
services

REEBRER
BERBK

Inactive

EEEH

Inactive

EEXH

Agent for provision of
freight forwarding
services

REEEREREN
REA

Provision of freight
forwarding services and
investment holding

REEERERER
RARRK

Provision of freight
forwarding services

RUEERERE

Provision of freight
forwarding services
RERERERE

Provision of freight
forwarding services
RERERERE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
BE-_E-_ZEE+_A=1t—HILEE

49. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

49. B AT F B um

Equity interest attributable

to the Group

MR/ BERTRBR
WEARER RiUtHRAH B/ ERER AEBELRE
2020 2019
SECTE ek
On Time Worldwide Logistics ~ The United Arab Emirates AED300,000 100% 100%
DWC-LLC 25 April 2012
MuAHAERE 300,000 1 4
—E-Z#NMA-T+ARA
On Time Worldwide Logistics ~ Vietnam US$80,000 100% 100%
(Vietnam) Co., Ltd. 22 December 2005 (note vi) (note vi)
("OT Vietnam")
(I&&wml) Filf) 80,000% 7t (Htitvi) (Htitvi)
ZERERET-AZTCH
YTO Express International Singapore 5GD100,000 100% 100%
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. 29 July 2019 (note vii)
g 100,000%7 M3 7T (H #vii)
“E-AFtAZtAA
YTO Express International Vietnam VND5,000,000,000 100% -
(Vietnam) Limited 2 January 2020 (note viii)
i 5,000,000,000 (A zviii)
“Z-F5-A=H HEE
YTO Courier (HK) Hong Kong HK$45,010,000 100% -
20 November 2015 (note ix)
BERE(ER) B3 45,010,000 7T (K &Eix) -
e T s =
Global Parcel Alliance Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% -
Management Company 15 May 2017 (note ix)
Limited
PRERBBERERARN B 1,000,000/ 7T (K &Eix) -
“E-tFHATEA
YTO Express Worldwide Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% -
(Hong Kong) Limited 24 November 2020 (note x)
Bk 10,0007 7T (Hitx) -
ZE-ZET-AZTHEA
Yuan Jun International Trading ~ Hong Kong HK$468,000 100% 50%
(Hong Kong) Limited 11 October 2006 (note xi)
(previously known as VGL
Hong Kong Limited)
BHOERES(FE)ERAA BB 46800087 (MfiExi) 50%
(AERRBNRERAA) ZFEAFTAT-H
RBEEEEREERART  The PRC - 100% 50%
("VGL China") 26 May 2015 (note xi)
(TEEHEl) HE - (H &t xi) 50%
ZZ-RFRAZTAR
* The English name is translated for identification purpose only.
@ The company is a wholly-owned foreign enterprise @

established in the

PRC.

[
A

|
AN

Place of
operation

REHE

Dubai

g3

Vietnam

it

Singapore

# MR

Vietnam

B

Hong Kong

3

Hong Kong

3

Hong Kong

Bk

Hong Kong

3

The PRC

PE

B -

Fik BEEEBEBZERERAT

Principal activities

TERH

Inactive

EEXH

Provision of freight
forwarding services

Rt RE
RERH

Inactive

EEEH

Provision of international
express and parcel
services

REERRERERRE

Provision of international
express and parcel
services and investment

holding
REERRERDERS
URRARR
Inactive
EEEH

Investment holding

RARR

Inactive

EEXH

Inactive

EEEH

ZARR/—FEFEKRININEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R IR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

BH=E

49.

240

— = —

—EEFF+_A=1T—HILFE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

Vi

vii.

viii.

Xi.

Xii.

On 1 June 2020, 51% equity interest in OTX Canada was
disposed by the Group at the consideration of CAD513,846
(equivalent to HK$2,918,000). Upon completion, OTX Canada
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group.

eTotal Solution Limited has changed its name to YTO
International eTotal Solution Limited on 27 December 2019.

OT Int’l Malaysia has submitted an application for strike off.
As of the date these consolidated financial statements were
authorised for issuance, the strike off application has not
been completed.

EEFEKREENE(LE) AR AR was deregistered on 31
December 2020.

33.5% of the equity interest in OT Thailand is held by a third
party on behalf of the Group through loan assignment, share
pledge agreement, letter of undertaking and proxy entered
by the third party and the Group.

49% of the equity interest in OT Vietnam is held by a third
party on behalf of the Group through loan agreement,
charter capital mortgage agreement, letter of undertaking
and proxy entered by the third party and the Group.

YTO Express International (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. was
incorporated in Singapore as a private limited company on
29 July 2019.

YTO Express International (Vietnam) Limited was incorporated
in Vietnam as a limited company on 2 January 2020.

On 30 March 2020, 100% of the equity interest of
YTO Courier (HK) was acquired at a consideration of
HK$6,940,000. YTO Courier (HK) and Global Parcel Alliance
Management Company Limited (wholly-owned subsidiary of
YTO Courier (HK)) became subsidiaries of the Group.

YTO Express Worldwide (Hong Kong) Limited was
incorporated in Hong Kong as a limited company on 24
November 2020.

On 20 October 2020, 50% of the equity interest of Yuan Jun
HK was acquired by the Group. Following the acquisition,
Yuan Jun HK and VGL China changed from associates to
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year, or at any time during the year.

Ko NGRS EC )

X

Vi

vii.

viii.

Xi.

Xii.
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MR-T-—FEXNA—B AEBEZR
E513,84600 7T (48 & 742,918,000 JtT)
HEOTX Canada®y51% % #E o R 5E K
% » OTX Canada T 5 & AN &£ B 10K B

27 -

eTotal Solution Limited % =& — AL &
TZAZTHEEBEEBERAYTO

International eTotal Solution Limited °

OT Int'l MalaysiaB IR X s sE MR -
HEZSGAMBREERENZE
B BHEMEBEERNEL -

REEREERB(LS)ARAARN
T F+-A=+—HFEH-

FERBNIBS%BEHE=TEBE
“TBEAEETUNERLE  BRO
ERBE RARARERTEARAE
EESECIY

FEBEMNAO%EEHE=TTEBE
ZHEAREETINERBE W
EARERBE AHERRERERR
AEERE -

YTO Express International (Singapore)
Pte. LA RZZE—NEFE+AZTNAHE
MM AMK L BILAGRAR -

YTO Express International (Vietnam)
Limited R =TT F—A BT BT
Mz BERRDR -

R-ZBE-_EF=A=+H EBERERE
(BB)WI100% RERKE REAR
6,940,000 7T - BB RE(BB)RE
HEREEEREERAR (BBRE(F
BN EWMB QR K ANEEDHH
BRA -

YTO Express Worldwide (Hong Kong)
Limted R =T =T F+—A=+WAMK
ERAMKLABRRAT -

RZZEZTF+AZ+H XEBEKE
El$9 & B 50% B - RIREHRIRE -
Bl 595 78 F Bk 18 p Bl 7S % [ O e 2
RABEREEMBRAR -

158 458 BT I8 2 ) R 4R R ol F 19 1 1) B i
BITERNBEBES -



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LFEHMBRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited financial statements.

BERFMBFEZXERAKBEEE - &
BERFERER ZHME - DEEEETIEN
REZVBREK -

RESULTS E4
Year ended 31 December
BET-A=+—-HLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
-k 2 — T —NF —F—-)\F —T—+F T F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Revenue I #5 5,048,113 3,897,903 4,462,803 3,670,514 2,867,339
Profit before taxation B % B Vg A 286,094 33,783 128,583 123,510 16,036
Income tax expense FTs BB & 30,221 5,170 22,880 22,525 9,733
Profit attributable to owners ZR72A B A
of the Company JEAE 4 A 252,231 26,101 104,163 97,501 4,967
Profit attributable to JETE R 25 PR G
non-controlling interests gl 3,642 2,512 1,540 3,484 1,336
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING ¥ E - E@RFERER
INTERESTS
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+-—H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
- Sk R T —NF T\ —E—F TR F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FExT FET FET FET
Non-current assets EREBEE 253,511 160,415 121,857 136,960 109,233
Current assets TEEE 1,435,933 996,739 1,145,410 1,100,387 830,996
Total assets EERE 1,689,444 1,157,154 1,267,267 1,237,347 940,229
Current liabilities mEAE 685,398 523,696 668,975 665,840 461,344
Total assets less current BEBERRD
liabilities BfE 1,004,046 633,458 598,292 571,507 478,885
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 138,909 36,345 15,985 17,768 16,245
Net assets EESE 865,137 597,113 582,307 553,739 462,640
Equity 5
Share capital N 41,676 41,676 41,427 41,427 41,280
Reserves & 815,727 548,929 534,694 485,571 393,659
Net assets attributable to KABIEBA
owners of the Company [EIEEEFE 857,403 590,605 576,121 526,998 434,939
Non-controlling interests JETRAR HE 7,734 6,508 6,186 26,741 27,701
Total equity ey R 865,137 597,113 582,307 553,739 462,640
“TECTER BREREEBIERBERAR 241



GLOSSARY

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the ~RARFEIRA - BrIEXZER BT » AT

following expressions shall have the following meanings:

“"AGM”
RRBFRE]

“Articles”
[ 48 A1l

“Audit Committee”

[(E%EZEe]

“Board”

[E=g

"BVI"
[(RBEZES]

"CG Code”
[ &8 A

“China” or “PRC"

[ B

“Companies Ordinance”

IPNGIEE SN
“"Company”
[ARRAaE]

"Company Secretary”
[REIME]

“Corporate Governance
Committee”
(bR ERZER]

“Director(s)”

[E =]

“Executive Committee”

[MiTERES]

"FY2019"
[ZE-NFHRFE]

AEAEFLTEE:

annual general meeting of the Company
ARRIREBFREG

the amended and restated articles of association of the Company
ARG EBERMBE(EETRED)

the audit committee of the Company
ARRIBEREZES®

the board of Directors

E=g

British Virgin Islands
RERLES

the “Corporate Governance Code” as contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules
AR A S M E B e <RI

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this annual
report and for geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong,
Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan
FEARANE  ERAFHRERMHEZ2EMS  TREEE - FE
BFFRITHRR &G E

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEREDFC22ERAUEH - BAREET - R AHAM T BN
YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited (formerly known as “On
Time Logistics Holdings Limited”)

BliEE R (BB IERERAR (AIBIEERREYRERERAR ]

the secretary of the Company
KREIME

the corporate governance committee of the Company
RARRGEELEEE

the director(s) of the Company
PIN/NEETE =1

the executive committee of the Company

RRFMITERES

the year ended 31 December 2019
BE_Z-NF+_A=+—BILFE
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“FY2020"
[T _FFPRFE]

"Group”
[N &E

HHK$H
[l

“Listing Date”
[ £ A A
“Listing Rules”
[ 7 #% A

"MD&A”
[ 7 & 51 am S 2 AT

“Model Code”

“Nomination Committee”
[IRBZEZ]

"Prospectus”

[ ERE]

“Remuneration Committee”

[(FHEER]

“SFO"

(58 7= M HA B A5k ]

“Share(s)”
[ % 17 ]

“Share Award Plan”

[ B {7 22 B =t 31

“Share Option Scheme”

[ 78 Bt 5t 8

the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-_T-_TF+-_A=+—HLFE

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

EINSHEE TP VS

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
AL BREEEEHN

11 July 2014, on which the Shares are listed and from which dealings
therein are permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange

“E-OFEAT B ROLTREERBIMEE ZHH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(as amended from time to time)
Bt 22 B 38 75 T AR A (B N EREET)

the Management Discussion and Analysis
EIEE R RO

the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers” set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

EHRAMBE A LT ETAETETERRXZNERETA

the nomination committee of the Company
RABRHEESR

the prospectus of the Company dated 30 June 2014
ARAIEHAZE—NEAA=ZTHNHEKRER

the remuneration committee of the Company
ARARFMEES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time

EREVENEZLFLBAEGH - KTRIERT - WARIAEMBT
AR

ordinary share(s) of par value HK$0.1 each in the issued share capital
of the Company

RABEETRATEREECEITH E B K

the share award plan adopted by the Company on 17 August 2018
ARRRZE-N\FN\A+LBRAR A R Bt 2

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 21 June 2014
RARBIRZT—MFENAZ+ —BERMNERET S

—ECTFR ARERE BB EBRERAGF 243
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“Shareholder(s)”
[ % =

“Stock Exchange”
[Hgt 22 PfT

"USA”
KB

“YTO Cargo”

[[E3 5 E )

“YTO Express”

[[E] 38 2 4 |

“YTO Express Group”
[EREEEE]

“YTO Express Members”

NEBERES 409 FNCIN

“Yuan Jun”

(B3]

“Yuantong Jiaolong”

NERGEAE
nopn
[% ]

holder(s) of Shares
BHHEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EREBMERZMERAT

United States of America

XNBERE

YTO Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd.* HIMEBEEMEHBMR AT, a company
established in the PRC and a Wholly owned subsidiary of YTO Express
mMNEREEMERRAR - —HRAPE KT 226 & [E R RE
2EWBRAFA

ElERIER D ER AR (YTO Express Group Co., Ltd.*), a joint stock
limited liability company incorporated in the PRC, the shares of which
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600233), and
a controlling Shareholder

BEmFERMERAR  —HARFRFMKZLZBRHERA

i 8RR FR S Em (IR AR5 - 600233) I A Hxﬂxﬁ

YTO Express and its subsidiaries

(B 38 IR o E 8 AR

YTO Express Group and associated companies excluding the Group

BEFEEEMBBRAR(TEREAZE)

FBEHRBRESER QA (Shanghai Yuan Jun International Trading
Company Limited*), a company established in the PRC and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of YTO Express, and a controlling Shareholder

L EEHEBEESZBERAR  —ERPREKIL AR REBRE
ZEWBRR W AE HXHX?

FEEBREREERE(£B)BRE 22T (Shanghai Yuantong Jiaolong
Investment Development (Group) Co., Ltd.*), a company established in
the PRC and the controlling shareholder of YTO Express which directly
held approximately 34.26% of the equity interest in the share capital
of YTO Express, and a controlling Shareholder

J:Jl%éﬂﬁ?ﬁ%&ﬁ?ﬂﬁ(ﬁl)ﬁﬁﬁ A —HERHPBKL A
BREZERBRE  HRER H§$¢Erﬂ~rﬁﬁ’73426%ﬂx

re I 7 R AR R

per cent

Bkt

244 YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020



Y74

international




	COVER
	CONTENTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
	DIRECTORS’ REPORT
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	GLOSSARY
	BACK COVER

